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The Group's consolidated net profit for the year was HK$303.0
million (2017: HK$418.2 million). The consolidated net assets of the
Group increased from HK$3,465.8 million as at 31 March 2017 to
HK$5,011.4 million as at 31 March 2018. The consolidated net profit
was mainly attributable to (i) net realised gain of investments at fair
value through profit or loss of HK$58.5 million; (ii) net unrealised
gain of investments at fair value through profit or loss of HK$25.4
million; (iii) share of profits of an associate of HK$156.7 million; (iv)
gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments of HK$267.2
million; and (v) finance costs of HK$207.1 million.

As at 31 March 2017, the Company has 1,376,551,640 First
Warrants and 688,275,820 Second Warrants outstanding. As a result
of the issue of the Convertible Notes in March 2016, the First
Subscription Price of the First Warrants was adjusted from HK$0.43
per Share to HK$0.382 per Share and the Second Subscription Price
of the Second Warrants was adjusted from HK$0.55 per Share to
HK$0.489 per Share.

In June 2017, all First Warrants were exercised by the warrant
holders and 1,376,551,640 Shares were issued. The net proceeds
from the issue of Shares upon exercise of First Warrants of
approximately HK$510 million have been utilised as intended for
additional funding to Freeman Securities Limited (“FSL”, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company principally engaged in
securities brokerage, placing, underwriting, margin financing,
investment holding and trading of securities) for business expansion,
securities trading and money lending businesses.

In July 2017, all Second Warrants expired and lapsed.

Details in relation to placing of unlisted warrants under specific
mandates and the placing of convertible notes under specific
mandate and the capitalised terms in the above paragraphs were set
out in the Company’s circulars dated 9 June 2015 and 24 February
2016, respectively.
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In December 2016, the Group entered into the Share Purchase
Agreement with the Seller Parties, pursuant to which the Group
conditionally agreed to purchase and the Sellers conditionally agreed
to sell, 67.1% equity interest in Wins Finance Holdings Inc. (“Wins
Finance"”) at a consideration of the lower of (i) US$260,000,000; or
(ii) the adjusted purchase price (the “Acquisition of Wins Finance")
aiming to extend its financial services business in China. Wins
Finance is an integrated financing solution provider with operations
located primarily in China. Wins Finance is listed on NASDAQ. The
principal business operations of Wins Finance include (i) facilitating
the financing opportunities of enterprises by acting as a guarantor to
secure credit facilities from lending banks and other financial
institutions; (ii) providing direct equipment leasing or purchase-lease
back services to enterprises, to satisfy their working capital needs;
and (iii) providing financial advisory services. The Acquisition of Wins
Finance was completed in August 2017. Goodwill of approximately
HK$659.2 million was arising from the Acquisition of Wins Finance.

In April 2017, Wins Finance and certain of its executive officers were
named as defendants in two civil securities lawsuits recently filed in
two U.S. District Courts (the “First Lawsuit” and the “Second
Lawsuit”, collectively referred to as the “Lawsuits”). Both Lawsuits
were putative class action lawsuits where plaintiffs’ counsels were
seeking to represent the entire class of shareholders who acquired
Wins Finance's securities between 29 October 2015 and 29 March
2017. Both Lawsuits asserted the same statutory violations under the
U.S. Securities Exchange Act, alleging, in sum and substance, that
the defendants made false and misleading statements, or failed to
disclose material facts, in Wins Finance's prospectuses, press
releases, and filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission in connection with its growth, business prospects and
the adequacy of its internal controls. The Lawsuits further alleged
that Wins Finance’s stock price fell when the alleged misstatements
or omissions became known to investors. The plaintiffs were seeking
unspecified monetary damages, including interest, costs and
attorneys’ fees and other relief as the court deemed just.

In July 2017, the plaintiff in the First Lawsuit filed a notice of
voluntary discontinuance and the court subsequently terminated the
First Lawsuit. In June 2017, the court issued an order appointing
lead plaintiffs and lead counsel for the Second Lawsuit.

In August 2017, lead plaintiffs in the Second Lawsuit filed an
amended class action complaint. The amended complaint alleged
claims against Wins Finance for securities fraud purportedly arising
from alleged misrepresentations concerning its principal executive
offices (which alleged misrepresentations resulted in Wins Finance
being added to, and then removed from, the Russell 2000 index).
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In October 2017, Wins Finance moved to dismiss the amended
complaint for failure to state a claim as against it. In March 2018,
the court issued an order to deny Wins Finance’s motion to dismiss.
Thus, the Second Lawsuit will proceed to the fact gathering stage. In
June 2018, counsel for the parties appeared before the court for an
initial scheduling conference and the court will enter an appropriate
schedule for discovery and additional motions. As at the date of this
annual report, there was no material progress on the Lawsuits and
the Group believes that the Lawsuits are without merit and Wins
Finance is vigorously defending these Lawsuits. In light of the
preliminary procedure posture of the action, the possible outcome of
the Second Lawsuit was uncertain.

Details in relation to the Acquisition of Wins Finance and the
capitalised terms in the above paragraphs were set out and defined
in the circular dated 26 June 2017.

In December 2017, the Company repurchased an aggregate of
55,640,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each in the share capital of
the Company (the “Repurchased Share(s)”) under the share
repurchase mandate granted by the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”) on 5 September 2017 at a price range from
HK$0.435 to HK$0.500 per Repurchased Share (the “Share
Repurchase”). The Repurchased Shares represented approximately
0.35% of the then total issued shares of the Company (the
“Share(s)”) of 15,700,688,940 Shares before the Share Repurchase.
Subsequently in January 2018, all Repurchased Shares were
cancelled and the total issued shares of the Company were
15,645,048,940 Shares.

In June 2017, the Company entered into a subscription agreement
with a subsidiary of China Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd. (the
“First Subscriber”, whose shares are listed on the main board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), stock
code: 2799) in relation to the subscription of the convertible bonds
of the Company under general mandate for 1,835,294,118
conversion shares at conversion price of HK$0.425 per conversion
share (the “First Subscription”). The gross proceeds from the First
Subscription amounted to approximately HK$780 million. The
convertible bonds in the principal amount of US$100 million, carried
interest at 4% per annum and secured by 30% equity interest in
Wins Finance held by the Group were issued by the Company to the
First Subscriber in June 2017 (the “First Convertible Bonds”).
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In August 2017, the Company entered into another subscription
agreement with a wholly-owned subsidiary of Huarong Investment
Stock Corporation Limited (the “Second Subscriber”, whose shares
are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
2277) in relation to the subscription of the convertible bonds of the
Company under general mandate for 1,028,235,294 conversion
shares at conversion price of HK$0.425 per conversion share (the
“Second Subscription”). The gross proceeds from the Second
Subscription amounted to HK$437 million. The convertible bonds in
the principal amount of HK$437 million, carried interest at 4% per
annum and secured by 15% equity interest in the Securities
Company (as defined below) were issued by the Company to the
Second Subscriber in September 2017 (the “Second Convertible
Bonds”). The net proceeds of the First Subscription and the Second
Subscription of approximately HK$779 million and HK$436 million
respectively have been utilised as intended for additional funding to
FSL for business expansion, money lending business and other
general working capital of the Group.

In March 2018, US$1 million conversion rights attaching to the First
Convertible Bonds were exercised and 18,352,941 Shares were
issued. As at 31 March 2018, the Company’s total issued shares
were 15,663,401,881 Shares.

In May 2018, HK$7.8 million conversion rights attaching to the
Second Convertible Bonds were exercised and 18,360,000 Shares
were issued. As at the date of this annual report, the Company’s
total issued shares were 15,681,761,881 Shares.

Details in relation to the issue of the First Convertible Bonds and the
Second Convertible Bonds in the above paragraphs were set out in
the announcements of the Company dated 6 June 2017, 15 June
2017, 24 August 2017 and 12 September 2017.
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In June 2017 (before the Distribution (as defined below)), the Group
subscribed certain issued shares of Entity A at a consideration of
HK$123.5 million, representing approximately 1.57% equity interest
in Entity A. Further in September 2017, Freewill Holdings Limited
(“Freewill”, a company incorporated in the Republic of the Marshall
Islands with limited liability, is principally engaged in investment
holding and is a then-associate of the Group) declared distribution in
specie of all its shares of Entity A (representing approximately
25.45% equity interest in Entity A) as dividend to its existing
shareholders on a pro-rata basis (the “Distribution”). One existing
shareholder of Freewill decided not to participate in the Distribution.
The Group (one of the existing shareholders of Freewill) was entitled
to receive shares of Entity A representing approximately 9.00%
equity interest in Entity A. This 9.00% equity interest in Entity A was
reclassified from investment in an associate to available-for-sale
investments. Upon completion of the Distribution, the Group held an
aggregate of approximately 10.57% equity interest in Entity A and it
was recorded as available-for-sale investments.

In February 2018, the Group, being the beneficial owner of
128,191,089 ordinary shares of no par value issued by Entity A (the
“Sale Shares”), entered into a conditional agreement with a
purchaser, pursuant to which the purchaser has conditionally agreed
to acquire and the Group has conditionally agreed to sell the Sale
Shares, representing an aggregate of approximately 10.57% of
issued share capital of Entity A, at HK$750 million ("Entity A
Disposal”). The gain from Entity A Disposal amounted to
approximately HK$265.5 million and was accounted for in the profit
or loss of the Group during the year.

Entity A and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in integrated
financial services, securities brokerage services, money lending,
securities and other direct investments.

Details in relation to Entity A Disposal and the capitalised terms in
the above paragraphs were set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 7 February 2018 and 9 February 2018.

In February 2018, the Group, being the beneficial owner of
approximately 35.37% of the issued share capital of Freewill
(“Freewill Sale Shares”), entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with a purchaser, pursuant to which the Group has conditionally
agreed to sell and the purchaser has conditionally agreed to
purchase, or procure its nominee to purchase, Freewill Sale Shares at
HK$200 million (“Freewill Disposal”). Subsequent to the completion
of Freewill Disposal, Freewill ceased to be an associate of the Group.
The gain from Freewill Disposal amounted to approximately
HK$115.0 million and was accounted for in the profit or loss for the
Group during the year.
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In February 2018, the Company entered into the Letter of Intent
with Meson. Pursuant to the Letter of Intent, Meson is considering
the Possible Investment in the Cayman Company. The Possible
Investment may be carried out by way of acquisition of the Cayman
Company’'s shares indirectly held by the Company and/or
subscription of new shares to be issued by the Cayman Company
through capital injection. Upon completion of the Possible
Investment, Meson will own a majority stake in the Cayman
Company.

Pursuant to the Letter of Intent, Meson estimates that the valuation
of the Cayman Company is HK$3 billion and the final consideration
to be payable by Meson for the Possible Investment, if materialised,
will be further negotiated and determined with reference to the
valuation report to be issued by an independent valuer.

Meson is a company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC") with limited liability, the shares of which are listed on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002647.SZ). Meson is
principally engaged in the provision of information services such as
information system integration, information technology consulting,
data processing, information storage, and other services. Meson also
operates industrial investments, asset management and other
businesses.

As at the date of the Letter of Intent, Mr. Zhang Yongdong (“Mr.
Zhang”), a substantial shareholder of the Company who held
approximately 24.36% of the issued share capital of the Company,
also held approximately 20.50% of the issued share capital of
Meson.

In May 2018, the Company entered into the Termination Agreement
with Meson. Pursuant to the Termination Agreement, the Letter of
Intent ceased to have any effect and none of the parties to the
Letter of Intent will have any claim against the other for costs,
damages, compensation or otherwise.

Details in relation to the Letter of Intent, the termination of the
Letter of Intent and the capitalised terms in the above paragraphs
were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 22
February 2018 and 18 May 2018.
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As at 31 March 2018, the Group recorded non-current available-for-
sale investments of approximately HK$667.4 million (31 March 2017:
HK$663.5 million), representing (i) an unlisted equity investment
with 15% equity interest in Shengang Securities Company Limited
(the "Securities Company”), a full-licensed securities company in
China (Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade Zone of the Closer Economic
Partnership Arrangement between Mainland China and Hong Kong
of approximately HK$631.7 million (31 March 2017: HK$631.7
million); and (ii) listed securities of The Philippine Stock Exchange,
Inc. ("PSE”, whose shares are listed on The Philippine Stock
Exchange, Inc., symbol: PSE) with a carrying amount of HK$35.8
million, representing 1.2% of PSE's total issued shares.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group also recorded unlisted but quoted
investment fund in Hong Kong of approximately HK$31.8 million (31
March 2018: Nil). During the year, the Group realised this investment
with a carrying value of HK$33.3 million for aggregate gross
proceeds of HK$35.0 million, resulting in a gain on disposal of
available-for-sale investments of HK$1.7 million for the year.

The commencement of business by the Securities Company in
October 2016 was a new milestone for the Group in the
business development of its financial services in China. The
Securities Company is located at China (Shanghai) Pilot Free
Trade Zone and is principally engaged in securities broking,
securities underwriting and sponsoring, securities trading and
securities asset management related businesses in China. Based
on the audited financial statements of the Securities Company
for the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the Securities
Company recorded revenue of approximately Renminbi
("RMB") 327 million (equivalent to approximately HK$409
million), profit for the year of approximately RMB13 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$17 million) and net assets of
approximately RMB3,480 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,353 million). As at the date of this annual report, the
Securities Company did not have material impact on the
earnings of the Group.

PSE and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision
of trading, clearing, depository and information services for the
equity market in the Philippines. The stock price of the listed
securities of PSE as at 31 March 2018 amounted to Philippines
Peso (“PHP") 237.8 (equivalent to approximately HK$35.8) per
share. Based on the annual report of PSE for the financial year
ended 31 December 2017, PSE and its subsidiaries recorded
revenue of approximately PHP1,226 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$184 million), profit for the year of
approximately PHP828 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$125 million) and net assets of approximately PHP3,332
million (equivalent to approximately HK$501 million). As at the
date of this annual report, PSE did not have material impact on
the earnings of the Group.
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As at 31 March 2018, the Group also recorded available-for-sale
investments (classified under current assets), representing wealth
management products from financial institutions in the PRC which
were not yet due nor early redeemed as at the end of the reporting
period of HK$1,833.2 million (31 March 2017: Nil).

The proprietary team of the Group would continue to closely
monitor the Group's investment in available-for-sale investments for
potential dividend returns and capital appreciations to enhance
values to the Shareholders.

The Group considers trading of securities as one of its core business
and the Group would continue to take attentive approach on its
future investments. The proprietary team of the Group would
continue to closely monitor the Group’s investment at fair value
through profit or loss for potential dividend returns and capital
appreciations to enhance values to the Shareholders.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group held investments at fair value
through profit or loss of HK$408.5 million (31 March 2017:
HK$362.1 million), representing 8.2% (31 March 2017: 10.4%) of
the Group's net assets of HK$5,011.4 million (31 March 2017:
HK$3,465.8 million). The Group held a diversified portfolio of listed
investments throughout the year. As at 31 March 2018, the Group
mainly held listed securities of China All Access (Holdings) Limited
("All Access”, whose shares are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 633) with a carrying value of HK$407.3
million, representing 8.1% of Group's net assets and 8.1% of All
Access's total issued shares. The stock price of the listed securities of
All Access increased from HK$2.30 per share as at 1 April 2017 to
HK$2.50 per share as at 31 March 2018. Based on the annual report
of All Access for the financial year ended 31 December 2017, All
Access and its subsidiaries recorded revenue of approximately
RMB2,688 million (equivalent to approximately HK$3,362 million),
profit for the year of approximately RMB232 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$290 million) and net assets of approximately
RMB3,991 million (equivalent to approximately HK$4,992 million).
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As at 31 March 2017, the Group mainly held listed securities of All
Access with a carrying value of HK$356.1 million, representing
approximately 10.3% of the Group's net assets and approximately
8.1% of All Access's total issued shares. The stock price of the listed
securities of All Access dropped from HK$2.65 per share as at 1
April 2016 to HK$2.30 per share as at 31 March 2017. Based on the
annual report of All Access for the financial year ended 31
December 2016, All Access and its subsidiaries recorded revenue of
approximately RMB3,072 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,466 million), profit for the year of approximately RMB231
million (equivalent to approximately HK$261 million) and net assets
of approximately RMB3,875 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,371 million).

All Access and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
provision of communication application solutions and services and
investment activities.

Other listed investments are individually carrying at value less than
5% of the Group's net assets as at 31 March 2018 and 31 March
2017.

The Group recorded net unrealised gains of investments at fair value
through profit or loss of HK$25.4 million (2017: HK$193.8 million)
for the year, of which included net unrealised gains of HK$30.7
million (2017: net unrealised losses of HK$74.2 million) for
investments in listed securities of All Access for the year.

The Group would realise its investment in listed securities with
reference to the stock market volatility and general trading
sentiment. The proceeds from disposal would be applied towards
expansion of the Group's existing business lines and general working
capital purposes. The Group realised its investments in listed
securities with a carrying value of HK$432.1 million for aggregate
gross proceeds of HK$490.6 million, resulting net realised gains of
investments at fair value through profit or loss of HK$58.5 million
for the current year, of which included disposals of listed securities
of All Access at gross proceeds of HK$7.8 million and net realised
losses of HK$39.9 million were recorded for the year.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group also realised its
investments in listed securities with carrying value of HK$691.7
million for aggregate gross proceeds of HK$639.8 million, resulting
net realised losses of investments at fair value through profit or loss
of HK$51.9 million.
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The Group resulted a gross profit for the year of HK$490.4 million
(2017: HK$69.2 million). It was mainly due to the net realised gains
from the sale of investments at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$58.5 million (2017: net realised losses of HK$51.9
million). Dividend income from investments at fair value through
profit or loss decreased by approximately 83.9% to HK$5.3 million
as compared to HK$33.0 million in 2017, which is mainly due to less
dividends were received by the Group from listed securities. Interest
income from provision of finance significantly increased by
approximately 1,423.0% to HK$225.4 million as compared to
HK$14.8 million in 2017 as the Group diversified its loan portfolio to
more new customers during the year. Insurance brokerage income
significantly decreased by approximately 76.7% to HK$8.4 million as
compared to HK$36.1 million in 2017 as the insurance brokerage
segment was still exploring market opportunities. Corporate finance
advisory fee of HK$0.1 million was recorded for the year (2017: Nil)
as a result of competitive market of the industry. Income from
securities and futures brokerage, placing, underwriting and margin
financing services was HK$139.5 million, representing an increase of
approximately 100.4% as compared to HK$69.6 million in 2017, as
a result of more margin financing income from more new customers
benefited from more corporate promotions and seminars carried out
during the year.

The Group recorded provision for impairment loss of loans receivable
of HK$320.0 million (2017: Nil) and provision for impairment loss of
accounts receivable of HK$135.4 million (2017: Nil) as the Directors
are of the view that the collection of certain loans receivable and
accounts receivable were not probable. For the provision of
impairment loss of loans receivable of HK$320.0 million, amount
represented the allowance provided for the estimated loss arising
from the inability of certain third party borrowers to make the
required repayments to the Group as at 31 March 2018. The Group
made such estimates based on the ageing of the loans receivable
balances, borrowers’ creditworthiness and historical write-off
experience. For the provision of impairment loss of accounts
receivable of HK$135.4 million, amount represented the allowance
provided for the estimated loss arising from a third party margin
customer based on the evaluation of the collectability and ageing
analysis of the accounts receivable and judgement of management
on the current creditworthiness and past collection history of the
margin customers. The Group always maintains adequate internal
policies before making loans to borrowers and granting trading limits
to margin customers, including individual financial assessments of
the borrowers and margin customers, regular review of ageing
analysis and tight control on any overdue balances in order to
minimise the credit risk.

As a result of the acquisition of subsidiaries principally engaged in
factoring, finance leasing and financial guarantee services during the
year, the Group recorded a significant increase of approximately
859.1% in commission and fees from financial guarantee services,
factoring interest income and finance lease interest income of
approximately HK$63.3 million for the year (2017: HK$6.6 million).
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Other income and gains increased to HK$497.3 million for the year
(2017: HK$327.6 million), which was mainly represented by net
gains on disposal of an associate and available-for-sale investments
of HK$115.0 million and HK$267.2 million, respectively. No such
gains were recorded in 2017 but a net gain on disposal of
subsidiaries of HK$151.0 million and a forfeited income of HK$150.0
million in relation to a proposed disposal of the entire interest in a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company in 2016 was recorded in
2017. The Group recorded a net unrealised gain on investments at
fair value through profit or loss of HK$25.4 million for the year
(2017: HK$193.8 million). The Group shared profits of HK$156.7
million from an associate for the year (2017: losses of HK$33.5
million) and also shared profits of HK$4.2 million from a joint
venture for the year (2017: HK$5.7 million).

Cost saving is a continuous aim in monitoring daily operations by the
Group. This year, general and administrative expenses amounted to
HK$187.2 million, representing an increase of approximately 50.0%
as compared to HK$124.8 million in 2017 which was mainly due to
an increase in total number of employees and an increase in
operating lease payments of new office premises. Total employee
benefit expenses amounted to approximately HK$45.7 million (2017:
HK$19.5 million) and operating lease payments amounted to
HK$34.0 million (2017: HK$16.8 million) were incurred for the year.
Finance costs increased by approximately 592.6% to HK$207.1
million as compared to HK$29.9 million in 2017, as more external
borrowings were obtained during the year. Income tax expense
increased to HK$21.4 million for the year (2017: credit of HK$10.0
million) which mainly represented the provision for income tax
charged on financial services businesses in Hong Kong and China for
the year.

Net profit attributable to Shareholders for the year was HK$269.9
million (2017: HK$418.2 million). Basic earnings per share was
HK1.76 cents (2017: HK2.92 cents) and diluted earnings per share
was HK1.72 cents (2017: HK2.92 cents).

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: Nil).

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED
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As at 31 March 2018, net current assets of the Group amounted to
HK$5,865.4 million (31 March 2017: HK$2,308.9 million) with cash
and bank balances of HK$1,302.2 million (31 March 2017:
HK$614.9 million) and the current ratio (current assets/current
liabilities) was 7.1 (31 March 2017: 10.7). The Group had secured
borrowings of HK$1,907.8 million (31 March 2017: HK$902.0
million), unsecured borrowings of HK$173.0 million (31 March 2017:
HK$30.0 million) and convertible bonds of HK$1,025.4 million (31
March 2017: Nil). Gearing ratio, calculated on the basis of the
Group's interest-bearing borrowings and convertible bonds divided
by the equity attributable to owners of the Company was 72.2% (31
March 2017: 26.9%). The borrowings of the Group carried floating
interest rates calculated by reference to the Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR"), Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate or lender’s
costs of funds were made in Hong Kong dollar and United States
dollar. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to Hong Kong
dollar and United States dollar. As Hong Kong dollar is pegged to
United States dollar, the foreign exchange risk exposures are
considered limited. The Group did not have any financial instruments
used for hedging purpose.

The Group had no material capital commitments contracted but not
provided for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment as at
31 March 2018 (31 March 2017: HK$5.3 million). In light of the
amount of liquid assets on hand and banking facilities available, the
Directors are of the view that the Group has sufficient financial
resources to meet its ongoing operational requirements. The Group's
assets portfolio is mainly financed by its shareholders’ funds. As at
31 March 2018, the Group had shareholders’ funds of HK$4,303.7
million (31 March 2017: HK$3,465.8 million).

During the current year, the Company raised net proceeds from the
issue of convertible bonds and new shares for approximately
HK$1,215 million and HK$510 million respectively which have been
utilised as intended for additional funding for FSL for business
expansion, securities trading and money lending businesses, and
other working capital of the Group.

In January 2018, the Company renewed a loan facility of HK$200
million with interest bearing at HIBOR plus 4.5% per annum,
repayable in January 2019, secured by certain investments at fair
value through profit or loss and personal guarantee given by Mr.
Zhang. In February 2018, the Company also obtained an unsecured
banking facility of HK$93 million with interest bearing at Hong Kong
Dollar Prime Rate plus 3.0% per annum and repayable by
instalments in three years.

RZE-—NF=ZA=1+—8 A&EBZRHEE
HE BB H5,865,400,0000T (ZZE—+F = A
=+—H:/#%2,308,900,0005T) ' IR& NIRTT
4 8% A8 11,302,200,000 (ZE—+F =1
=+—H:#%614,900,0007T) * AE X (R
HEE/ nPEaBE)A7TI(ZE—+F=A
=+—H:107)  AKBEEEHEERBE
1,907,800,000c (ZF—+F=H=+—H &
#902,000,0007) B|MEHFBEER/RBE
173,000,000t (ZZE—+F=A=+—H : B
30,000,000 ) A MIREHF B EK
1,025,400,000c (ZE—+F=H=+—H:
/) [BELE (BRAKB A EBEERATBRRE
HRUARARIEE ABIGERAE) B722% (=
E—+tHF=A=1+—H:269%) AEEZEE
SEBFARTRAERE ([BARTRAZERE])
BEREENNEIMEAZE KA F B F
FPECWABBRELEA - AEERERESE
EEESNIINERR TEHEBERETHR-
MR B EETTEN - MNERBRERAEFR A
SEVETAAREFEN 2SR T A

R-ZE—N\FZA=+—H AEETERWE
YE - BMERRECITNERELBEBEZERE
KAEAE(ZE—+tF=ZA=Z=+—H: B
5,300,0007T) - ERFHE LM REEESFENA]
FARTHESR EFERA AEBHERFZHY
BERNENEFELZBESZ K- AEBZEEMR
AEFEEBEREEERME-N_F—\F=A
—+—H FEEFRKREESHEE4,303,700,000
T(ZE—+EFE=Z/=+—H: &K
3,465,800,0007T ) ©

REFRN - ARBIABITARKRESRITRD D
R E S TSR FEE 40758 1,215,000,0007T &7
#£510,000,0007C * %S EC RS AR ARR
BENEBRBRREHENES BHBEEMWE
2% WAEASENEM —REEES-

RZZE—NFE—H  AREHEEA200,000,0007T
EXmEED ZREREARTRAERENS
FASEF B - BR_Z—NF—AEBE UET
EREZARNFEYRZIRE RREEELHE
AEREHE-RZ_E—N\F=F A2FIFEHR
1575 %93,000,000c EEFIRITRLE  Z @B L
BEREEMNENSGFIEFERER=ZFRN

DHIERE -

RESHRMREZERARAA




In March 2018, the Company issued two notes payable with
principal amounts of approximately HK$235 million (equivalent to
US$30 million) (“Note A”) and approximately HK$548 million
(equivalent to US$70 million) (“Note B” and collectively with Note A
referred to as the “Notes”). The Notes bear interest at 7% per
annum and were secured by (i) certain shares in the capital of a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; (ii) approximately 7.26%
equity interest of Wins Finance held by the Group; (iii) certain Shares
held by Mr. Zhang; and (iv) personal guarantees given by Mr. Zhang
and his spouse. Note A was repayable in March 2019 and Note B
was repayable in March 2020.

As at 31 March 2018, bank borrowings of HK$157.0 million (31
March 2017: HK$200.0 million) were secured by certain investments
at fair value through profit or loss held by the Group with an
aggregate carrying value of HK$404.8 million (31 March 2017:
HK$341.5 million) and personal guarantee given by Mr. Zhang. Bank
borrowings of HK$145.5 million (equivalent to RMB116.5 million)
(31 March 2017: Nil) and HK$70.0 million (31 March 2017: Nil) were
secured by bank deposits of HK$35.2 million with a corporate
guarantee given by an independent third party and charges over
client’s pledged securities, respectively. HK$702.0 million (equivalent
to US$90 million) (31 March 2017: HK$702 million, equivalent to
US$90 million) of other borrowings were secured by the shares in
the capital of certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company,
10% equity interest of Wins Finance held by the Group, and
personal guarantees given by Mr. Zhang and his spouse. Other
borrowings of HK$50.0 million (equivalent to RMB40.0 million) (31
March 2017: Nil) were secured by certain finance lease receivables
with carrying amount of HK$33.9 million (equivalent to RMB27.2
million).

As at 31 March 2018, the First Convertible Bonds were secured by
30% equity interest of Wins Finance held by the Group, the Second
Convertible Bonds were secured by 15% equity interest of the
Securities Company held by the Group, and the Notes were secured
by certain shares in the capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, approximately 7.26% of Wins Finance held by the Group,
certain Shares held by Mr. Zhang, and personal guarantees given by
Mr. Zhang and his spouse.
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In April 2018, the Group entered into an agreement with the Target
Company pursuant to which the Target Company agreed to allot and
issue the Consideration Shares, representing approximately 23.94%
of the total issued share capital of the Target Company at a
consideration of HK$600 million and the Group agreed to procure a
promissory note with principal amount of HK$600 million to be
returned to the Target Company for cancellation (the “Swap”). The
Consideration Shares was classified as an available-for-sale
investment. The Swap was completed in April 2018.

The Target Company is a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability and an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in trading of securities, provision
of finance and holding of investment in financial services industry.

Details in relation to the Swap and the capitalised terms in the above
paragraphs were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 25
April 2018.

Details of material acquisitions/disposals during the year are set out
in the section “Business Review".

The Group had no material capital commitments as at 31 March
2018. As at 31 March 2017, the Group had capital commitments of
approximately HK$5.3 million contracted but not provided for the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the amended
complaint in the Second Lawsuit did not specifically allege the
damages purportedly suffered by the putative class, and the Group is
not yet able to provide a reliable estimate of any such damage claim.
The Group had no other material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2018 (31 March 2017: Nil).
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As at 31 March 2018, the Group employed 128 staff members
including directors of the Company (2017: 65 staff). Staff costs
incurred for the year, including directors’ remuneration, were
approximately HK$52.2 million (2017: HK$26.0 million). It was the
remuneration policy of the Group to reward its employees with
reference to their qualifications, experience and work performance
as well as market benchmarks. Remuneration packages, include
granting of share options, were structured to motivate individual
performance and contributions to the Group. The Company has
adopted a share option scheme and the Group operates a defined
contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for its
employees.

The Group completed the Acquisition of Wins Finance in August
2017 to expand the finance leasing and factoring business, and
share the growth of financial leasing industry to small and medium
size enterprises in China.

In view of the recent uncertain economic outlook in global markets,
the Group will continue to take attentive but sensible approach
towards new investment opportunities in the financial services
industry for capital appreciation and potential lucrative returns, so as
to enhance the values to the Shareholders.

The Directors would like to take this opportunity express its gratitude
and appreciation to all shareholders, business partners, banks,
professional parties and employees of the Company for their
continuous contributions and support to the Group.

By Order of the Board
Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited

Ye Ye
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2018
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Mr. Ye Ye (“Mr. Ye"), aged 53, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company and Chairman of the Board in January
2018. Mr. Ye currently also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Ye holds a Master’'s degree in Business
Administration from Peking University, and a Master's degree in
Industrial Economics from Zhongnan University of Economics and
Law. Mr. Ye has extensive experience in financial service sector,
including securities and futures brokerage, underwriting, corporate
finance advisory, investment banking, assets management and funds
management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ye was the president of
Changjiang Securities Company Limited (“Changjiang Securities”,
shares of which are listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, Stock Code:
000783) from April 2011 to March 2015. Mr. Ye then joined the
board of directors of Changjiang Securities as director since August
2011 to March 2015. He was also the chairman of Chang Xin Asset
Management Co., Ltd.* (RIEEEEEAGREML 2R A from June
2015 to June 2016 and executive vice president of Shengang
Securities Company Limited from August 2016 to December 2016
and chairman of the supervisory board of Shengang Securities
Company Limited from December 2016 to June 2017.

Mr. Yang Haoying (“Mr. Yang"”), aged 39, joined the Company in
August 2016 and was appointed as Executive Director in October
2016 and re-designated as Chief Operating Officer in January 2017.
Mr. Yang currently also serves as the Chief Investment Officer and a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Yang holds a
Master’s degree in IMBA (Financial) from Shanghai Jiaotong
University and a Bachelor’s degree in Mechanical Engineering and
Automation from lJilin University in China. Mr. Yang has over 12
years of experience in corporate finance, asset management and
private equity in Hong Kong and China.

Ms. Chow Mun Yee (“Ms. Chow"), aged 42, joined the Company’s
accounts and company secretarial department in December 2010
and was appointed as Executive Director in February 2011. Ms.
Chow is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and holds a Bachelor (Hons) degree
in Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. Ms. Chow was also appointed as Company Secretary in March
2011. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Chow has over 13 years of
experience in accounting and auditing at an international accounting
firm and has extensive experience in financial services, investment
and property development.

* for identification purpose only
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Mr. Zhao Tong (“Mr. Zhao"), aged 35, joined the Company in
September 2016 and was appointed as Executive Director in October
2016. Mr. Zhao holds a Bachelor’s degree in Finance from the
University of Manchester, United Kingdom. Mr. Zhao has over 10
years of experience in finance, investment, asset management and
risk management in Hong Kong and the United Kingdom.

Mr. An Dong (“Mr. An"), aged 47, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in August
2017. Mr. An holds a Master's degree in Laws from the China
University of Political Science and Law, and has participated in the
Private Equity Investment Program of Peking University HSBC
Business School. Mr. An holds the Lawyer's License of People's
Republic of China, and the Professional Qualifications Certificate
(intermediate level) issued by the China General Chamber of
Commerce. Mr. An has extensive experience in legal affairs in
corporate and banking sector, and he is specialised in asset
restructuring, equity transfer, merger and acquisition, share issuance,
real estate operation and investment, private equity management,
and financial and economic litigation. Mr. An is a partner of a law
firm in China and also a general manager of an investment
management company in China.

Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 51, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in August
2013. Mr. Cheung has over 20 years of experience in auditing and
accounting fields. He holds a Bachelor's degree in Accountancy with
honours from City University of Hong Kong and is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Mr. Fung Tze Wa (“Mr. Fung”), aged 61, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in January
2017. Mr. Fung is a certified public accountant and a director of an
accounting firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Fung has many years of
experience in auditing, taxation and company secretarial practice in
Hong Kong. He obtained a master degree in professional accounting
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2000. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, The Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong and The Society of Chinese Accountants and
Auditors.

Mr. Wu Keli (“Mr. Wu"), aged 50, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in October
2016. Mr. Wu holds a Master’s degree and a Bachelor’s degree in
Economics from the Capital University of Economics and Business in
China. Mr. Wu has extensive experience in the regulation and
development of the financial services industry in China. Mr. Wu is a
president of a supply chain management company in China.
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The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) has always
valued transparency and accountability as the keys for achieving a
high standard of corporate governance, earning the confidence of
shareholders of the Company and the public.

The Company has adopted the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code on
corporate governance practices. Save as disclosed below, in the
opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code and there have been no
material deviations from the CG Code during the year:

Code Provision A.2.1 — The Company did not have a Chairman of
the Board (the “Chairman”) since the resignation of Mr. Zhang
Yongdong (“Mr. Zhang”) in January 2017. The Board has been
searching for appropriate candidate to act as the new Chairman.
During the absence of a Chairman, Mr. Yang Haoying, the Chief
Operating Officer of the Company has tentatively taken up the role
of the Chairman. On 19 January 2018, Mr. Ye Ye (“Mr. Ye") has
been appointed as an Executive Director of the Company and the
Chairman to fill the casual vacancy of the position of the Chairman.
Since Mr. Ye's appointment as the Chairman, the deviation to code
provision A.2.1 was remediated.

Code Provision A.6.7 — One Independent Non-executive Director was
unable to attend the annual general meeting held on 5 September
2017 and one Independent Non-executive Director was unable to
attend the extraordinary general meeting held on 11 July 2017 as
they had other engagements.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiry with all Directors, the Company confirmed that throughout
the year, all Directors have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises four
Executive Directors, namely Mr. Ye Ye, Mr. Yang Haoying, Ms.
Chow Mun Yee, and Mr. Zhao Tong, and four Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. An Dong, Mr. Cheung
Wing Ping, Mr. Fung Tze Wa and Mr. Wu Keli. Director’s
biographical details are set out in the Biographical Details of
Directors on pages 19 to 20.

Pursuant to the relevant requirement under the Listing Rules,
the changes in Director’s information since 1 April 2017 are set
out below:

- With effect from 1 February 2018, the monthly salary and
other benefits of Mr. Yang Haoying, the Executive
Director and Chief Operating Officer of the Company, has
been increased to HK$145,000.

- With effect from 1 February 2018, the monthly salary and
other benefits of Ms. Chow Mun Yee, the Executive
Director of the Company, has been increased to
HK$125,000.

- With effect from 1 February 2018, the monthly salary and
other benefits of Mr. Zhao Tong, the Executive Director of
the Company, has been increased to HK$95,000.

- Mr. Xu Zhiguang resigned as Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 8 August 2017.

- Mr. Wang Xiaodong resigned as Executive Director of the
Company with effect from 18 May 2018.

- Mr. Fung Tze Wa, an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Sheng Yuan Holdings Limited
(whose shares are listed on the main board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, stock code: 851) with
effect from 28 May 2018.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Board convened a total HE-_Z-\F=ZA=+—HILFE"
of 47 full board meetings. Attendance records of the board EgAAEMATRESTSREEE - EW
meetings, other general meetings and the meetings of the EFegn HUKRRASRESFEZES
Board Committees during the year were set out below: R EBIBERESN DT
Meetings Attended/Held
LR/ BER
Annual  Extraordinary
General General Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination
Board Meeting Meeting Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee
EZe RRBEAE REBAAE ENZEE FWZEE  REZEE
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Ye Ye (Chairman) WEEE(ZE)
(appointed on (RZZ-NE
19 January 2018) —A+TNBEZE) 9/47 - - - - -
Mr. Yang Haoying BEREE
(Chief Operating Officer) (EERE) 45/47 7 i - - -
Ms. Chow Mun Yee P 43147 11 11 - - -
Mr. Zhao Tong BYEE 45/47 17 171 - - -
Mr. Wang Xiaodong TBELEE
(resigned on 18 May 2018) (RZE-N\E
EATN\REHE) 45/47 11 Il - - -
Independent Non-Executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. An Dong TREE
(appointed on 8 August 2017)  (R=E—+ %
NAN\BEZHE) 24047 11 - 1/4 13 3
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping REFEA 42/47 7n n 4/4 33 33
Mr. Fung Tze Wa BFERE 18/47 17 171 4/4 33 33
Mr. Wu Keli RENEE 16/47 0/1 n 3/4 13 13
Mr. Xu Zhiguang REREE
(resigned on 8 August 2017)  (RZZ—+%
NANBEE) 7147 - o1 24 073 073

The Board is collectively responsible for the leadership, control
and overall strategic development of the Group, as well as

overseeing internal control,

financial performance, overall

management and operations of the Group. The Board has
delegated day-to-day operations to management, who is
responsible for implementing the Group’s business strategies

EXe5ARBARARE RS EHERE
BRBER WEEAEEZNFEE M
BRI BREENEE-BEFERAREE
ERETEEE E.E%E\,\ MITAREE
ZEBREREEABRGEE-

and managing the daily business operations.
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During the year ended 31 March 2018 and up to the date of
this annual report, the Company has complied with the
requirements under the Listing Rules and has appointed four
Independent Non-executive Directors, representing more than
one-third of the number of Directors at the Board, with at least
one of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence, and the Company
considers that all of the Independent Non-executive Directors
are independent in accordance with the guidelines as set out in
the Listing Rules.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has also arranged in-house
training for Directors and provided the relevant materials to the
Directors.

All Directors have provided record of training to the Company.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Directors participated
in the following trainings:
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Name Type of trainings
" E EINEE
Executive Directors PITESE
Mr. Ye Ye (Chairman) ML (FE) A, B
Mr. Yang Haoying (Chief Operating Officer) SR, (EERE) A, B
Ms. Chow Mun Yee AH /A A, B
Mr. Zhao Tong i=p ket A, B
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. An Dong LTREE A, B
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping SR8 A A, B
Mr. Fung Tze Wa BFESLEE A, B
Mr. Wu Keli A5 54 A, B
A: in-house training A AEBEE
B:  attending seminars and/or forums and/or reading relevant B: WEMEEk smiEk, SEMEEM
materials #
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Under Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the role of both the
chairman and chief executive should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. Since the resignation of Mr.
Zhang as the Chairman on 25 January 2017, the role of Chairman
has been tentatively taken up by Mr. Yang Haoying (“Mr. Yang”), the
Chief Operating Officer of the Company and Mr. Wang Xiaodong,
the former Chief Financial Officer of the Company (who has resigned
on 18 May 2018) has tentatively taken up the role of the Chief
Executive before his departure from the Company and the position
of Chairman was vacant until the appointment of Mr. Ye Ye (“Mr.
Ye”) on 19 January 2018. Since Mr. Ye's appointment as the
Chairman in January 2018, one of the major roles of Mr. Ye is to
ensure that the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibility properly. Mr. Ye also ensures that good corporate
governance practice is in force from time to time, and all key issues
are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. Mr. Yang performs
the role of Chief Executive of the Company (after the appointment
of Mr. Ye as Chairman) and is responsible for implementing the
Group's investment strategies within the authorities delegated by the
Board and managing the day-to-day business of the Group.

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
comprises four Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (Chairman), Mr. An Dong, Mr. Fung Tze
Wa and Mr. Wu Keli. Each committee meeting was chaired by
an Independent Non-executive Director. The principal duties of
the Audit Committee include:

e monitoring the independence and objectivity with the
external auditors and maintaining the effectiveness of the
audit process;

e monitoring integrity of the Company's financial
statements and reports;

*  reviewing financial controls, risk management system and
internal controls; and

e reviewing the Company’s financial and accounting policies
and practices.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
perform its duties and has access to independent professional
advice if necessary. During the year, the Audit Committee had
reviewed the Group's internal control, the interim report for
the six months ended 30 September 2017 and the annual
report for the year ended 31 March 2018.

The Audit Committee convened four meetings for the year.
Additional meetings will be held if the Audit Committee shall
so request. The individual attendance record of each member
of the Audit Committee is disclosed under the section headed
“Board of Directors” above.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration
Committee comprises four Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (Chairman), Mr. An
Dong, Mr. Fung Tze Wa and Mr. Wu Keli. The major roles and
functions of the Remuneration Committee as per the terms of
reference are as follows:

e to make recommendations to the Board on the Group’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management;

e to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives;

e to review and recommend the remuneration packages of
all Executive Directors for approval by the Board; and

e to review and approve compensation payable to Directors
in connection with loss of their offices or compensation
arrangement relating to dismissal or removal of Director.

The Remuneration Committee has every right to access to
professional advice relating to remuneration proposal if
necessary. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties and has access to
independent professional advice if necessary. During the year,
the Remuneration Committee had reviewed the remuneration
package for the Directors and senior management of the
Group and no Director was involved in deciding his/her
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee adopted the
approach under the CG Code to determine and review, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
individual Executive Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee convened three meetings for the
year. The individual attendance record of each member of the
Remuneration Committee is disclosed under the section headed
“Board of Directors” above.

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination
Committee comprises four Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (Chairman), Mr. An
Dong, Mr. Fung Tze Wa and Mr. Wu Keli. The major roles and
functions of the Nomination Committee as per the terms of
reference are as follows:
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e  to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and make recommendations for appointment of Directors/
Chairman/Chief Executive; and

e to assess the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties and has access to independent
professional advice if necessary. During the year, the
Nomination Committee had reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board; and considered the appointment of
Independent Non-executive Directors.

Nomination Committee would make recommendations to the
Board regarding the appointment and re-appointment of
Directors, with reference to the skills, knowledge, experiences
education background, professional knowledge, personal
integrity of the proposed candidates, and also the Company’s
needs and other relevant statutory requirements and
regulations required for the positions. A candidate who is to be
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director should
also meet the independence criteria as set out in the Listing
Rules. Qualified candidates will then be recommended to the
Board for approval.

The Nomination Committee convened three meetings for the
year. The individual attendance record of each member of the
Nomination Committee is disclosed under the section headed
“Board of Directors” above.

The Board established a set of Board Diversity Policy setting out
the terms and approach to achieve diversity on the Board in
order to enhance its effectiveness and to maintain the high
standards of corporate governance. Board diversity has been
considered from a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service, as well as the Company’s business nature and specific
needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee will
review the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis to ensure
the Board has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives that are required to support the
execution of its business strategy and in order for the Board to
be effective. Board appointments will continue to be made on
a merit and contribution basis and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, with due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board. The current Board consists of
diverse mix of Board members appropriate to the requirement
of the business of the Company.
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The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties with written terms of reference as below:

e to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

e to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

e to review and monitor the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

° to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to employees and Directors; and

e to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board had reviewed the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the remuneration paid/payable
to the Company’s external auditor in respect of audit services and
non-audit services were as follows:
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Nature of services Amount
PR 7 & 48
HK$'000
BT T
Review of interim results B PHES 720
Audit services EZR® 3,280

Non-audit services for other engagements
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Ms. Chow Mun Yee is the Company Secretary of the Company, who
is also an Executive Director of the Company. She supports the
Board, ensures good information flow within the Board and Board
policy and procedures are followed, advises the Board on governance
matters and arrange continuous professional development to the
Directors. Her biography is set out in the “Biographical Details of
Directors” of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, Ms. Chow has confirmed
that she has duly complied with the relevant requirement under the
Listing Rules and taken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

The Board is responsible for the system of internal controls and risk
management of the Group and to review its effectiveness. The
internal controls of the Group was designed to provide reasonable
assurance that material assets were protected, business risks
attributable to the Group were identified and monitored properly,
material transactions were executed in accordance with proper
authorisation. It aims to provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

During the year, a review of key internal control procedures had
been conducted to ensure that processes had been properly carried
out as prescribed in making decisions; the internal control policies
had been properly followed; books and records and documents were
properly maintained; and the investment was in compliance with
relevant legislations, regulations or/and other statutory requirements.

Management currently takes the view that there is no immediate
need to set up an internal audit function in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group's business. The need for an internal
audit function will be reviewed from time to time.

Investment in listed securities and equity investments are the core of
the Group’s investments which were classified as investments at fair
value through profit or loss and available-for-sale investments,
respectively in the consolidated statement of financial position and
may expose to market price risk and foreign exchange risk. The
Board has continuously monitoring these investments with an aim to
reduce such risks.
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Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, any
two shareholders of the Company may request the Board to
convene an extraordinary general meeting by way of depositing
a written requisition at the registered office of the Company
(Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands) specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionists.

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and
the Articles of Association of the Company, the Company may
from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution
elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board.

A shareholder of the Company may propose a person (the
“Person”) for election as a Director by lodging the following
documents at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at 38th Floor, Bank of China Tower, 1 Garden
Road, Hong Kong:

(1) a notice in writing signed by the shareholder concerned of
his/her/its intention to propose the Person as a Director
with full particulars of the Person including his/her/its full
name and biographical details as required under the
relevant requirement under the Listing Rules; and

(2) a notice in writing signed by the Person of his/her/its
consent to be elected as a Director.

The period for lodgement of such notice shall commence on
(and include) the day after the despatch of the notice of
meeting appointed for such election and end on (and exclude)
the date that is seven (7) days before the date appointed for
the general meeting.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED
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Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company'’s share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong. Other shareholders’ enquiries
can be sent by mail to the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong at 38th Floor, Bank of China Tower, 1
Garden Road, Hong Kong for the attention of Company
Secretary who will direct the enquiries to the Board for their
handling.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

There is no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2018.

The Company’s corporate website (www.freeman279.com)
facilitates effective communications with shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders, making corporate information
and other relevant financial and non-financial information
available electronically and on a timely basis. This includes
extensive historical information about the Group's performance
and activities via Interim Report, Annual Report, announcements
and other corporate information.

Shareholder’s meetings, such as annual general meeting and
extraordinary general meetings, provide another channel for
the Board to meet and communicate with shareholders. All
shareholders are provided with sufficient notice to attend the
shareholders’ meeting. The results of the voting by poll are
published on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited's
website and the Company’s website on a timely basis.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of
the financial position of the Group and of its financial performance
and cash flows. The Directors ensure that the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2018 have been prepared in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. They will also ensure the publication of which be in a
timely manner.
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This is the second Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
"ESG report”) prepared by Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries referred to as the
“Group”), highlighting its Environmental, Social and Governance
(the "ESG") performance, with disclosure reference made to the ESG
Reporting Guide as described in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

The Group is principally engaged in the financial services sector,
including the provision of securities and futures brokerage services,
the provision of placing, underwriting and margin financing services,
the provision of insurance brokerage and financial planning services,
the provision of corporate finance advisory services, the trading of
securities and futures, the provision of finance, the provision of
factoring, financial guarantee and finance leasing services, as well as
investment holding. This ESG report covers the Group’s overall
performance in two subject areas, namely, environmental and social
issues of the business operations in Hong Kong from 1 April 2017 to
31 March 2018, unless otherwise stated.

In order to identify the most significant aspects for the Group to
report in this ESG report, key stakeholders including investors,
shareholders and employees have been involved in regular
engagement sessions to discuss and review areas of attention which
will help the Group to meet its potential growth and prepare for
future challenges.

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our ESG approach
and performance. Please give your suggestions or share your views
with us via email at info@freeman279.com.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group's business HE-_FT—\F=-A=+T—HIEFE =«

operation in Hong Kong was office-based, such that emissions SENEEEBEEERNPAE  FHitH
were mainly related to electricity and paper consumption. WMEED RE N KA REFE M2 i 15 IR
Business trips by flights were minimal, such that it is considered BRD FEARRERHEERTIEE - WE
immaterial in this report. During the reporting period, no HR - REEIBERER OB ERETER
material non-compliance in relation to air and greenhouse gas KELTHOEES EEREBEEREYNE
emissions, discharge into water and land, and the generation ERERERTEREBER

of hazardous and non-hazardous was noted.

The Group’s business operation did not involve any Tﬁﬁ %ﬁ%%«%jﬁﬁﬁﬁaﬂ

significant direct emissions in relation to gaseous Eﬁ W8 ﬁ%iﬁ H)E R ET}{ B

fuel consumption or vehicles, hence no such data is BRI E R REIZH

presented in this report. %
Emission

Scope of greenhouse gas (in tCO,e) Total emission

emissions Emission sources (note (ii)) (in percentage)

BERBHREE BB RR B E BHHE

(- tHmEE (A7)
(B (i) )

Scope 1

Direct emission N/A N/A N/A

EE1

BEYEM T35 A i@ A 3@ A

Scope 2

Indirect emission Purchased electricity 107.03 89%

EE2

fE B2 BE AR BESE

Scope 3

Other indirect emission Paper waste disposal 13.14 11%

gE3

E A B BB MR OE R

Total 120.17 100%

st

Notes: o -

(i) Emission factors were made reference to Appendix @) FRAEFEAIN  PERRBAE
27 of the Listing Rules and their referred 25 FmARIK 27 RE S
documentation as set out by The Stock Exchange of BMEXHMARDR (I8
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), unless Al )THJ%XE"]?/Q%X#VEE °
stated otherwise.

(i)~ tCO,e = tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (i M;%{bﬁﬁ;; e e
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There were 120.17 tonnes of carbon dioxide AEBEXBRENREHAMN

equivalent greenhouse gases (mainly carbon dioxide, ﬁ;ﬁ‘&f?}tﬁﬁlgﬁno.ﬂﬂ@:

methane and nitrous oxide) emitted from the BIIREE (I%%:%jtﬁﬁ\

Group’s business operation during the reporting Eﬁkﬁﬁgﬂiﬁﬁ> BEREF

period, with an intensity of 0.05 tCO,e/m?. 7 KO.05ME —ELIRE = -
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The Group’s business operation did not involve
generation of any significant hazardous wastes,
hence no such data is presented in this report.

Non-hazardous waste from the Group’s business
operation was mainly office paper. A total of 2.74
tonnes of paper were consumed for daily office
operation such as document printing, contributing
to a total emission of 13.14 tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent.

The Group’s business operation did not involve any
significant direct emissions in relation to gaseous
fuel consumption or vehicles, hence no information
in relation to emission mitigation is presented in this
report.

Slightly more waste paper was consumed than the
last reporting period due to expansion of business.
Waste paper was collected by the building
management office for proper disposal. The Group
continues to practice paper saving initiatives as
employees are encouraged to print paper on both
sides and reuse recycled paper for their draft works.
Reusable dishes and utensils are provided at pantry
for further waste reduction.

Total electricity consumption by the Group's offices
was 135,481 kWh with an intensity of 59.58 kWh/
m?, contributing to a total emission of 107.03
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED
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The Group’s water supply and discharge were
managed by the building management office and
the usage has been included in the management
fees. It is noteworthy that the Group did not
consume significant amount of water through
business activities, and the water consumption was
considered minimal during the reporting period.

With electricity being the most significant source of
emission in office settings, employees are often
reminded to switch off all the lights, air conditioners,
computers, monitors and equipment before leaving
work. Energy efficient electrical appliances such as
refrigerators with Grade 1 energy label under the
Mandatory Energy Efficiency Labelling Scheme by the
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department were
prioritised during purchasing process.

The Group's business operation did not involve any
significant use of water, hence no information in
relation to water use efficiency initiatives is
presented in this report.

The Group's business operation did not involve any
significant use of packaging materials, hence no
information is presented in this report.
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Overall the environmental impact of the business BEMS XBCEHRRELET
operation is not significant. Nevertheless, the Group RoRif - NEBBAONEES R
commits to continue making effort to minimise the use of LPEREAREHEBARENZE
resources and related impact to the natural environment, VA K 3B <F A8 REE R MOER ©

as well as complying with relevant laws and regulations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018, there were no
major changes in policies in relation to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunities, diversity and anti-discrimination for
the Group's business operation. During the
reporting period, no material non-compliance in
relation to employment was noted.

As of 31 March 2018, the Group had a total
number of 128 employees (2017: 65 employees),
and all these employees were in full time positions.
Significant increase of workforce was mainly due to
business expansion. The Group provides competitive
remuneration package to reward and retain the
employees. Employees are entitled to all public
holidays in Hong Kong in addition to their paid
annual leave, group medical insurance, mandatory
provident fund, standard working hours as set out
in their employment contracts. Individual
performance appraisal system is established for
better review on employee’s work progress, their
potential talent and contribution towards the
Group's future goals.

The Group is committed to developing and
supporting equality and diversity in employment, on
the basis of age, race, colour, nationality and any
other status protected by the legislations and
ordinances.

Workforce by age group (in%) 18-25
REREITNE T (%)
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For the year ended 31 March 2018, there were no
major changes in policies in relation to providing
safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards. During the reporting
period, no material non-compliance in relation to
health and safety laws and regulations was noted.

The Group has occupational health and safety
measures to ensure a healthy and safe working
environment for employees. The Group is dedicated
to maintaining a safe, hygienic and productive
workplace by minimising the potential risk of work
related accidents and injuries.

Orientation training was given to employees when
joining the Group, to ensure that they understand
their rights, welfare and the Group’s human resources
system. Training programmes are developed based on
business needs and development goals of employees.
The Group will look into further training opportunities
to equip employees with knowledge and skills needed
to grow with the business.

During the reporting period, there was no child nor
forced labour in the Group's business operation.
Background check was conducted for new employee
if necessary for compliance with the Employment
Ordinance, Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong in
terms of employment management. All employees
must show their original Hong Kong Identity Card or
working visas to prove that they are not illegal
labours when joining the Group. During the
reporting period, no non-compliance in relation to
labour standards as required by related laws and
regulations was noted.

BE_T-/\F=HAH=+—H
R ARRERZ2TIFRER
ER#EREERXBERETNR
RUBEREH - HEHMA K
IRENBRREERT2IREEA
ROEBEBATERBR -

AEERBBEEERZEE
i NEREERERELEZN
THRRE - AREHNRERET
HBEEENEERR B
TERRE BEREERN
B TAEIRIR -

BEEMAXREBEREDH
Bl AREREIZMEAER 18
MEREBOANERRL - 15
I BEREBFERERD
ERAZHE AEEHYEE
ZEIgE  <EEABHEER
— BERCR P B AR K B RE

HBERR AEBEXBEEPR
ERETHRHST - ANEEEH
BERMEELETESRE (ML
Z) URREREREEETHE
SEBEMESTE (EREIK
By -EMARKEE AR
BRANTEBEFNELT
ERBIER  ABREREES
T-HEHA KAEBIERME
BARREARRENBEHES T
FERE I

RREBMPMRERERAFT 37




38

The Group has standard procedures on engaging
suppliers and contractors related to its business
operation. Suppliers were reviewed and screened
carefully to ensure that their quality, price, capability
can meet the Group’s expectations and standards.
For the year ended 31 March 2018, there were no
major changes in policies in relation to managing
environmental and social risks of the supply chain.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, there were no
major changes in policies in relation to product
responsibility. During the reporting period, no
material non-compliance in relation to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided as
required by related laws and regulations was noted.

The Group provides a high standard of service to
satisfy the investment and financial needs of its
customers. It follows the internal policies and
regulatory requirements when delivering its services,
and regularly reviews the services quality and seeks
customer feedback to identify areas of improvement. It
explains to customers the underlying risks derived from
the financial products to facilitate their financial
decision-making process. The Group ensures that the
information and marketing materials it provided do
not contain any misleading content, and perform
preventive measures, including implementation of
“Know-Your-Customers” procedures, to protect
customers’ interests more effectively. Furthermore, the
respective subsidiaries performing relevant financial
services are licensed and regulated under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO"). Apart from
complying with the SFO in relation to custody of
customer assets, the Group protects its clients’ assets
by adopting adequate controls such as maintaining
designated trust accounts to manage customers’
funds, which are audited regularly by independent
accountants.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED
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The Group acknowledges the importance of
protecting privacy and confidentiality of its
customers’ information. The Group developed
internal policy to govern the collection, handling,
and disclosure of clients’” data. Pursuant to Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Chapter 486 of the Laws
of Hong Kong, the Group prohibited the use of any
personal information of clients by other parties for
direct marketing purposes if unlawful or without
explicit and implicit consent of the client.

The Group is committed to managing all businesses
without undue influence and has regarded honesty,
integrity, and fairness as its core values. All Directors
and employees are required to strictly follow the
Group's policy to prevent potential bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering. During the reporting
period, no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its employees
were noted.

The Group cares for the development of the society and
encourages its employees to participate in charitable
events, and to make contributions by both financial and
non-financial means. The Group has not participated in
any community engagement activities in the reporting
period and will consider potential focus areas and
resources for community contribution in the coming
years.

AEERBREZ P EROL
REBEHNERE - NEED
EABMBREERFPBIENK
S RBEME -RE (EAZE
Bt (FLBB) & D) (FBIEDISE
486% ) - AREEEZE FE T 3k
EREREE P RERE &R
AFRRR MERE P A EAE
ABERETEREH-

AEBRNARENETNEZE
B N EEMA X5 WK
E FERAERREZLE
B -FBEZREEHEEIEE
SAEBERE - AP ILEEREE
PR MEFRITE - REH
A REBFEAEEREER
REMABE SN ER LR

=0

AEEBEOLERR SEEESH
BERE WA KI5 77 U ME
HER - EHAREE RS INEM
HR2EEE WKERELEHEIE
B RER  MERKE D RLEREDL
B

RREBMPMRERER2F 39




40

The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2018.

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1
to the financial statements.

Details of the analysis of the Group’s revenue and results for the
year by operating segments are set out in note 4 to the financial
statements.

Further discussion and analysis of the Group’s business review and
prospects can be found in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” section of this annual report.

The Group's results for the year ended 31 March 2018 and the
financial position of the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 60 to 63. The Directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year.

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/
reclassified/re-presented as appropriate, is set out on page 196. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.
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Details of the movements in the share capital and share options of
the Company during the year are set out in notes 32 and 33 to the
financial statements respectively.

During the vyear, all First Warrants were exercised by the warrant
holders and 1,376,551,640 Shares were issued. All Second Warrants
expired and lapsed. Further details of the exercise and lapse of
warrants were disclosed in the Business Review under the
paragraphs headed “First Warrants and Second Warrants” of the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section.

During the year, the Company also issued convertible bonds under
general mandates in the principal amount of US$100 million to the
First Subscriber with conversion rights for 1,835,294,118 new shares
at HK$0.425 each and issued convertible bonds under general
mandates in the principal amount of HK$437 million to the Second
Subscriber with conversion rights for 1,028,235,294 new shares at
HK$0.425 each. US$1 million conversion rights attaching to the First
Convertible Bonds were exercised and 18,352,941 Shares were
issued in March 2018. HK$7.8 million conversion rights attaching to
the Second Convertible Bonds were exercised and 18,360,000 Shares
were issued in May 2018. As at 31 March 2018, the Company’s total
issued shares were 15,663,401,881 Shares. As at 31 March 2018,
the First Convertible Bonds in the principal amount of US$99 million
and the Second Convertible Bonds in the principal amount of
HK$437 million were outstanding. Further details of the issue of the
First Convertible Bonds and the Second Convertible Bonds were
disclosed in the Business Review under the paragraph headed “Issue
of secured convertible bonds under general mandates” of the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section and note 30 to the
financial statements.
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There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

During the year, the Company repurchased some Shares on the
Stock Exchange to enhance the net asset value per Share and
earning per Share of the Group with a view to benefiting the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole. These Repurchased
Shares were subsequently cancelled by the Company. Details of
these Repurchased Shares are summarised as follows:

ARBIZHEBERARKFEREEMLES
MELEBER G SARRARLIAIRE
PR B EF A -

FRARBRBZ BRI D R - AR
SESREEFELREBRAN KM ARER
BREEXm -RFRBEROBRAARNABFE
HoEROBRMNFEHMALT:

Number of
Repurchased Price per Share Aggregate
Month of Share repurchase Shares BRRMOER price paid
o EEE A 15 BEROEER Highest Lowest 2 RER
e =&
HK$ HK$ HK$
g e e
December 2017 55,640,000 0.500 0.435 26,414,500.00

R R

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the listed securities
of the Company during the year.

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 64 to 65 and note 49 to the financial statements.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, dividends
shall be payable out of the profits or other reserves of the Company.
The Company'’s reserves available for distribution to the Company’s
shareholders comprise share premium, capital redemption reserve,
contributed surplus, convertible bonds equity reserve, distributable
reserve, shareholder’s contribution, share option reserve, warrant
reserve and accumulated losses, which in aggregate amounted to
HK$3,571,610,000 (2017: HK$2,980,736,000) at 31 March 2018.

During the year, the Group made no charitable contributions (2017:
Nil).
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During the year, the aggregate turnover attributable to the Group's
five largest customers represents approximately 37.1% of the
Group's total revenue (excluding the Group’s dividend income and
gains from the sale of investments at fair value through profit or
loss, net) and the revenue attributable to the Group’s largest
customer was approximately 15.8% (excluding the Group's dividend
income and gains from the sale of investments at fair value through
profit or loss, net).

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers represent approximately 63.4% of the Group's
total purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group's largest
supplier were approximately 28.3% of the Group's total purchases.

As far as the Directors are aware, no Directors of the Company, their
close associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to the
Directors’ knowledge own more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) has any shareholding in the suppliers referred to above as at
31 March 2018.

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Mr. Ye Ye (Chairman) (appointed on 19 January 2018)

Mr. Yang Haoying (Chief Operating Officer)

Ms. Chow Mun Yee

Mr. Zhao Tong

Mr. Wang Xiaodong (resigned on 18 May 2018)

Mr. An Dong (appointed on 8 August 2017)
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping

Mr. Fung Tze Wa

Mr. Wu Keli

Mr. Xu Zhiguang (resigned on 8 August 2017)

In accordance with Articles 95 and 112 of the Company's Articles of
Association, Mr. Ye Ye, Mr. An Dong, Mr. Fung Tze Wa and Mr. Wu
Keli will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.
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At 31 March 2018, based on the register kept by the Company, the
interests of the Directors and chief executives of the Company and
their associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations, as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") or as otherwise
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

R T N\F=A=+—H BERRAFEZE
RMAES) RAREZEREBITHRABUREK
F BB AR R R g H AT AR HE A E 2 D -
R REERED  EEARARRTRIEE
R EIEGRE ([BHRMEHE]) F3521678
FEZBRMA ARBEBRXMES LR A
(TEMRAMD M+ FE s EMBETAESE
TRERAFRXHMEETRANGRNRR LB BB
ERXZGMABRRAR ([BA]) 2 EmmT:

RALBEBRZHR

Deemed
Number of interests
shares  in number of Approximate
and shares and percentage of
underlying underlying the issued
Name of Directors Capacity shares held shares Total share capital
BERRD R
FREROKR  HEROHEE HEBITRA
EsnE %) HERHEE hER RS st MAOBED
Ms. Chow Mun Yee Beneficial owner 1,488,000 (L) 100,000,000 (L) 101,488,000 (L) 0.64% (L)
FE /A EnEAA
Mr. Wang Xiaodong* Beneficial owner 5,000,000 (L) - 5,000,000 (L) 0.03% (L)
FREXEE ERBEAA

* resigned on 18 May 2018
(L):  Long Position

The interests stated above represent the Director’s interests in the
shares of the Company. Save as disclosed above and based on the
register kept by the Company, at 31 March 2018, none of the
Directors, chief executives nor their associates had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements headed
“Share Option Scheme”, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors, or
their spouses or children under the age of eighteen, had any right to
subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised any
such rights during the year.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED

* RZF-N\EEATNRHE

EXPrZ s IR E SR AR R D 2k o By
EXHBBEINRBARRFE 2 ELMAH
- RZTE-NF=ZA=+—H HEEF *
BITRABRREZHEARANRB SHEEM
REOXRE Z B B REEET  HHA
FEARIERE 7 LB RPIE352FAFE 2 B
A iR B EMARRIAMNE AR R LB
EEIARR -

PR ISR M RE33 [RS8 PRI EEE S
PAE R I AR )3 H ] 8 A 73 &
SRR RERAEBEARARE(AE
fEABRBZBONEEES (BEEER)M
BENm BYEEFNESHERBIAR TN
AT ZBEBERARBARRESF2EN  HER
FRITEEAIZSERN -




At 31 March 2018, based on the register kept by the Company, the
following persons have interests or short position in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company, being 5% or more of the
Company’s issued share capital, as known to the Company or
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:

RZFB-NFZA=T—"H BARRAFEZE
MAT S AR RIAA - AR BRI E S
FEIEIGRPIE336FFEZERMARLE AT
AT HBERARR AR & HERER G 2 # & 30K
B RARADBITRAS%HIA L

Approximate
percentage
of the issued

Total share capital
HEBITRAE
et BABE DL

Name of substantial shareholders Capacity
TERRER HE =40
Mr. Zhang Yongdong (Note 1) Beneficial owner
SROKER S A (PfEE1) EnEAA
Shanghai Guotai Junan Securities Asset Trustee
Management Co., Ltd.* (Note 2)
FEERELIESFEEEEAERAA ZiEA
(Ht3E2)
Guotai Junan Securities Co., Ltd.* (Note 3) Other
BRRELEFBRND AR AT (FE3) H fth

China Huarong Asset Management

Co., Ltd. (Note 4)

TREREETERMDARAR (ME4)

Ministry of Finance of the People’s

REEHEEED

Republic of China (Note 5)

e AR A B8 EER (M 3E5)

Mr. Hui Chor Tak (Note 6)
A EkE (MiEe)

3OS 1246 B A 2

Beneficial owner

BB A

(L):  Long Position
(S):  Short Position

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

These Shares were held by Galaxy Strategic Investment Co. Ltd., a
company wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang Yongdong.

Shanghai Guotai Junan Securities Assets Management Co., Ltd.* (£
BERELEHEEBTEER AT, “Shanghai Guotai”) is a trustee
of a trust in which SHANGHAI HARFOR LEAD ASSET MANAGEMENT
CO., LTD (EBEEFBEEEE AR AR is a beneficiary of
1,595,746,000 Shares.

Guotai Junan Securities Co., Ltd.* (AHEELZFHBH AR DA is
the ultimate holding company of Shanghai Guotai and is deemed to
be interested in 1,595,746,000 Shares through Shanghai Guotai
described in “Note 2" above.

* for identification purpose only

Interest in controlled corporation

Interest in controlled corporation

3,817,782,812 (L)
3,317,782,812 (S)

24.37% (L)
21.18% (S)

1,595,746,000 (L) 10.18% (L)

1,595,746,000 (L) 10.18% (L)

2,863,529,412 (L) 18.28% (L)

1,835,294,118 (L) 11.71% (L)

1,322,036,812 (L) 8.44% (L)
L: e
(S): e
MFE1 - 25 B Galaxy Strategic Investment Co.

ltd. GRAKREEZEFEA 2 AR FA -

Wit2: EEBRRBELREHFEEERERAR([LE
BZ])A—AEEMNZTEA LBEEFHE
BEEEBR AR AZIEFE,595,746,0000%
B RISZEA

Wit3: BEHRELEFBRMNERDAALERFTNR
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B Z,595,746,0000% B% {7 i A #E
ﬁéo

RESHRMREZERARAA




46

Note 4:

Note 5:

Note 6:

These Shares would be allotted and issued upon conversion in full of
the convertible bonds subscribed by CHINA HUARONG MACAU (HK)
INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED ("HUARONG MACAU (HK)") and
Cheery Plus Limited (“Cheery Plus”). Further details are set out in
the announcements of the Company dated 6 June 2017, 15 June
2017, 24 August 2017 and 12 September 2017. HUARONG MACAU
(HK) is wholly-owned by China Huarong (Macau) International
Holdings Limited* 1B ZE gh R FT)EIBE B 9 B IR 2 A which is
controlled by Huarong (HK) Industrial and Financial Investment
Limited (“Huarong (HK) Industrial”) as to approximately 51%.
Huarong (HK) Industrial is wholly-owned by Huarong Real Estate
Co., Ltd. ("Huarong Real Estate”) which is wholly-owned by China
Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd. (“China Huarong Asset”).
Cheery Plus is wholly-owned by Diamond Path International
Investments Limited which is wholly-owned by Diamond Path
Investments Limited which is wholly-owned by Huarong Investment
Stock Corporation Limited which is controlled by Right Select
International Limited (“Right Select”) as to approximately 50.99%.
Right Select is wholly-owned by China Huarong International
Holdings Limited which is owned by Huarong Zhiyuan Investment &
Management Co., Ltd. (“Huarong Zhiyuan”) and Huarong Real
Estate as to approximately 11.90% and approximately 88.10%.
Both Huarong Zhiyuan and Huarong Real Estate are wholly owned
by China Huarong Asset.

Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China (“MOF") has
65% of controlling interest in China Huarong Asset. Accordingly,
MOF is deemed to be interested in 1,835,294,118 Shares.

Mr. Hui Chor Tak is the ultimate beneficial owner of Enriched
Goldenroad (H.K.) Credit Limited (“Enriched Goldenroad”) and is
deemed to be interested in 1,322,036,812 Shares through Enriched
Goldenroad.

* for identification purpose only

Save as disclosed above and based on the register kept by the
Company, the Company had not been notified by any persons who
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company at 31 March 2018 as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all the Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the Company’s business were entered into or subsisting during
the year.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Company is set up by
the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) on the basis of
their merit, qualifications and competence. The emoluments of the
Directors are decided by the Board, who are authorised by the
shareholders in the annual general meeting, having regard to the
Company's operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics. The Company has adopted a share
option scheme as an incentive, details of the scheme are set out in
note 33 to the financial statements.

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’
and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and
officers of the Company during the year. The level of the coverage is
reviewed annually.

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued shares is held by the public as at the date of
this report.

Details of the related party transactions (which did not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
discloseable under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) for the year
ended 31 March 2018 are set out in note 42 to the financial
statements.
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The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
shares.

During the year, to the best knowledge of the Directors, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

The Company values its employees and maintains competitive
remuneration packages to motivate its employees. Throughout the
year, the Group continued to maintain good relationships with its
employees, customers, suppliers, service providers and investors.

Details of the significant events of the Group after the reporting
period are set out in the section of the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and note 50 to the financial statements.

The Group is committed to building an environmental-friendly
corporation. The Group promotes environmental practices such as
double-sided printing and copying, using recycled paper and
reducing energy consumption of lightings and air-conditioning.

The Environment, Social and Governance Report is set out on pages
32 to 39 of this annual report.

A report on the corporate governance practices of the Company is
set out in pages 21 to 31 of this annual report.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED
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The consolidated financial statements of the Group for each of the
two years ended 31 March 2015 and 2016 were audited by Ernst &
Young.

The Board appointed Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited as the
auditor of the Company with effect from 28 April 2017 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of Ernst & Young such that
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2017 were audited by Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA
Limited.

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited changed its name to Crowe (HK)
CPA Limited with effect from 4 June 2018. The consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 of the Group
have been audited by Crowe (HK) CPA Limited, who will retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board
Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited

Ye Ye
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2018
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50

A\ Crowe

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Freeman
FinTech Corporation Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together “the Group”) set out on pages 60 to 195, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED

EEEE (58) SHMEBRERAT
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited

&8 REE ISEET 7 1sEh 0o
9/F Leighton Centre,

77 Leighton Road,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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Key audit matters are those matters that,

in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial

FREZFRERBERMANERHE R
ARG EVBRRNBR T REZNFH %
FERERMNYSAVBBRRETERERL
Lt EREREEE  RAL T SIMNEHRE

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we R o

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Refer to notes 3(a), 3(b), 18, 19, 20, 21 and 22 to the consolidated
financial statements and the accounting policy note 2.4(j) on page

93 to 95.

The key audit matter
EREEREIR

FHLEGEAVBREME3E) 3(b)~ 1819+
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2.4() °

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMNERPOAEEESESEE

The Group has significant receivable balances as at year
end. Given the size of the balances and the risk that some
of the receivables may not be recoverable, judgement is
required to evaluate whether any allowance should be
made to reflect the risk.

SERFREBANEYGRIAL S - ER B HRERR KA
n%WmETEM£W@WHA FEELHE AR

BB A LR ER -

Impairment losses are estimated by management once
objective evidence of impairment becomes apparent.
Management exercises judgement in determining the
quantum of loss based on a range of factors. These may

include the financial situation of the debtors, past
settlement record and the seniority of the claim.
EREALRBEBENRRTEIBERARE B

Fﬁﬁm%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬂ%:ﬁ%I%T
EREREBANMBERR BEEECENBARNELIR
go

Our procedures to assess the recoverability of receivable
balances included the followings:

HAFH A EBCRRER AT MR FEEIA TSR

obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of management’s internal controls relating to credit
risk management, debt collection and the assessment
of impairment for receivables;

- THRUINHEEERBEEERRER WENREBYR
TRR B RT (4 80 A B2 I 2 iR 5t B RIRIER UL

- assessing whether the terms in the receivable ageing
report were classified within the appropriate ageing
bracket;

- FHAEKE
P& 5

RIEFR RS TR ESREE Rk A

- obtaining an understanding of the basis of
management’s assessment on the recoverability of
overdue balances and evaluating, on a sample basis,
whether management had performed appropriate
credit assessments of the related debtors;

- THREREA MRS E IS 3
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The key audit matter
FREREIR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMNEZPUMEEEFASE

We identified assessing the recoverability of finance lease
receivables, factoring receivables, loans receivable, notes
receivable and accounts receivable as a key audit matter
because of the existence of inherent uncertainties in the
assessment. These include factors that affect the timing and
recoverability of the receivable balances, unpredictability of
future market conditions and the exercise of management
judgement in determining the recoverable amount.
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FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED

- assessing the historical accuracy of management'’s
assessment of impairment for receivable balances by
examining the actual write-offs, the reversal of
previously recorded impairments and additional
allowances for doubtful debts recorded in the
current year in respect of receivable balances at the
prior reporting period; and

- FBEREERME REAARRENRERRAFERR
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- evaluating management’s judgement in determining
the recoverable amount of overdue balances, on a
sample basis, based on the subsequent settlement
and latest available financial information.
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Refer to notes 3(c) and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policy note 2.4(j) on page 93 to 95.

The key audit matter
FEREREIR
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMMEZPOMEESRESE

Management assesses the recoverable amount of the
investee based on the latest available financial information
and the market data to determine if there is any indication
of impairment.
EREBEENGHAESMBER T HEEN EHIRER
AR E R NEEREFEEMBRETR -

We identified that the assessment of recoverable amount
of the investee as a key audit matter as it requires
significant judgement made by the management.
BFEEREARINAIKEB S EN R R —BHREERSE
B RAREFEETEEHEHERHE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of AFS investment measured at cost less
impairment included the followings:

B ERBERBEANRREFEN AT HEEREZR
BFERRNEFEREATSE:

- understanding, through inquiry with management,
the established policies and procedures in respect of
the impairment assessment process for AFS
investment; and

- ZBEREEE THRARAIHHERENEN LS
ROBREAEBRENERF K

- comparing management'’s impairment assessment of
objective evidence for impairment with reference to
the latest available financial performance and
financial position of the investee, and the data and
assumptions on the market data used.

- B2EHEREQASHAESMBRI R BRR A
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Refer to notes 3(f) and 13 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policy note 2.4(b) on page 81 to 83.

The key audit matter
FEREREIR

BLMGAUBEHRERNEINKI3NRESIESIE
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMMERPUMEEBREEE

Management performs impairment testing annually for the
cash generating units (the “CGU(s)"”) to which goodwill
was allocated. The calculation of the CGU’'s recoverable
amount is complex and involves significant management's
judgement and estimation, such as forecasted cash flows,
budgeted margin, revenue growth rate and discount rate,
which are sensitive to future market conditions and the
CGU’s actual performance.
ERESFHEIEBENReELEU([REELE
D #ETRENR ReEESUIWEENTERAR
B SREBEBENERAG MG EARERE &
BENEE - WABRERERE  HRKTARRESELE
U EBRRB G-

We identified that the impairment of goodwill as a key
audit matter due to the size of goodwill balance and it
requires significant judgement made by the management
about future results of the business and the discount rate
applied to future cash flow forecast.
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FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED

Our procedures in relation to the management’s
impairment assessment of goodwill included the
followings:

B EEEREREFERDNNEFBEATEE:

- comparing the Group's cash flow forecasts made as
of acquisition date to actual results to assess the
accuracy of previous forecasts and to assess the
management’s current forecasting process;

- B EEEEEZUBRARFELNRSRBNERERZE
BB FEEARANEREYFEEEENREA

BRRRR

- reconciling the cash flow forecasts to management’s
approved budgets and assessing the reasonableness
of these budgets based on historical information and
business plan;

- BReRBAETEEHENEERZYE ERELE
B REBAETEZERENSEM

- benchmarking revenue growth rate adopted by the
Group to revenue growth rates adopted by other
market players;

- # EEERANKRAEREX
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- evaluating discount rates and budgeted margins used
in the calculations based on industry or market data;

- ERTEIMSHEBENGAETERANERELER
PR,

- testing the mathematical accuracy of the underlying
value-in-use calculations;

- AHEECREEFENBEEREIL:

- evaluating the sensitivity analysis performed by
management around the key assumptions applied to
ascertain the impact of the underlying value-in-use
calculations with the extent of change in those
assumptions.
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Refer to notes 3(f) and 35 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policy note 2.4(b) on page 81 to 83.

The key audit matter
BREREIR
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMWERPNAEEEESE

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group
acquired 67.1% equity interest in Wins Finance Holdings
Inc. and the entire issued share capital of People Securities
Company Limited. Goodwill arising from acquisition of
HK$660,674,000 was recognised subsequent to each of
the acquisition dates. The Group engaged independent
external valuers to perform each of the purchase price
allocation to the fair values of the consideration
transferred, identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed.
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We identified the purchase price allocation as a key audit
matter as it requires significant judgements and
assumptions made by the management.
BPMEBEESDERS EHHREREE RAZHEFE
EREELDERHE KRR -

Our procedures in relation to the evaluation of the
valuation methodologies and assumptions used in the
purchase price allocation included the followings:
BHMERAEBEEED KT EANMGETEMBRNIZF
BEATRE:

- examining the terms of each of the relevant sale and

purchase agreements of the acquisitions;
- wE X WA BT B B R e RN

- assessing the valuation methodologies adopted for
the purpose of determining the fair values of the
considerations transferred, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed; and

- HARETREENRE PTWEREREE RFTAE
BENRXFEMRANEETE: R

- benchmarking the key parameters against market
data.
- Z2EMSEBGEXEZH-

In addition, we considered the independence, objectivity
and competence of each of the external valuers and also
assessed the adequacy of disclosure in connection with
each of the business combinations.
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The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging

their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Wai Dune, Charles.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 29 June 2018

Chan Wai Dune, Charles
Practising Certificate Number P00712
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2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 2t BT T BT T
REVENUE Uy &= 5 500,469 108,285
Cost of sales 8 65 B AR (10,028) (39,057)
Gross profit EF 490,441 69,228
Other income and gains, net H AUy A K e 255 58 5 497,320 327,594
Fair value gains on investments at fair  FBEZUAAFEIERZIEE
value through profit or loss, net 2N EW SR 25,366 193,826
General and administrative expenses — R AT A X (187,154) (124,762)
Provision for impairment loss of loans W E K 2 B EFHIEEE
receivable 18 (320,000) -
Provision for impairment loss of FEWBR R 2 R BB B
accounts receivable 21 (135,417) -
Finance costs BhE A AR 7 (207,079) (29,920)
Share of profits and losses of an SME—HEBEE AT R—HEeE
associate and a joint venture, net WA N B 1R R R 14 & 15 160,907 (27,771)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R B4 A& R 6 324,384 408,195
Income tax credit/(expense) Frigfise, (HAX) 10 (21,362) 10,013
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR N F B A 303,022 418,208
Attributable to: TH AT EA
Owners of the Company KRABHEA A 269,894 418,208
Non-controlling interests IR = 33,128 -
303,022 418,208
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE R R EREEE AEML
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS BRER
OF THE COMPANY 11
Basic HAR HK1.76 cents &1l HK2.92 cents B1l
Diluted #E HK1.72 cents &fll HK2.92 cents 1Ll

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED
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2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+1F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AEEiE A 303,022 418,208
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/  HttZ2mEU A~ (Fi8)
(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) to  BREZRBHET S BEEER
be reclassified to profit or loss in ZEMEEBA (EE)
subsequent periods:
Available-for-sale investments: —H/\Hjﬁiﬁ;é( '
Change in fair values NEEEY 17 (2,829) (1,497)
Reclassification of cumulative 2 EERIHEERE
losses to the consolidated HEREMHPERRS
statement of profit or loss Bk
upon disposal of available-for-
sale investments 1,497 -
Reclassification of cumulative Rt — g E R A
gains to the consolidated ﬁ’%ﬂfﬁﬁ?ﬁ Pal |
statement of profit or loss ERETEN
upon disposal of an associate (10,862) -
Reclassification of exchange b 5 Z RN — A& QA
difference to the consolidated HERNENHE
statement of profit or loss upon EiReERE
disposal of an associate 2,422 -
Exchange difference arising on RESIINEBEE CEXEZSE
translating foreign operations 191,491 (4,794)
Share of other comprehensive DME—EEBERR ZAMEE
income/(loss) of an associate, net WA (E1E) F58 14 (6,918) 15,822
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AEEHMEEKA
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (BRFiE) 174,801 9,531
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AEEZEBARLE
FOR THE YEAR 477,823 427,739
Attributable to: TH AL
Owners of the Company KABEAB A 441,365 427,739
Non-controlling interests FEE IR A 2R 36,458 -
477,823 427,739

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial  BEMIBIEEBR A S EMERN— D -
statements.
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2018 2017
—E-N\EF —tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME-WERZRE 12 14,943 2,241
Goodwill EES 13 660,674 -
Investment in an associate R—EBE AR Z®KE 14 = 663,461
Investment in a joint venture R—EEERFZIKE 15 143,470 136,804
Intangible assets mEEE 16 17,145 1,736
Available-for-sale investments AIEHERE 17 667,445 663,483
Finance lease receivables JEW L& E A 19 247,763 3,500
Note receivable B U ZE % 22 = 400,000
Deposits Ze 23 16,945 17,695
Total non-current assets EREBEELE 1,768,385 1,888,920
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Accounts receivable JiE UK BR 3Kk 21 546,305 230,304
Available-for-sale investments AR ERE 17 1,833,235 -
Loans receivable JE W & 3R 18 1,266,824 226,899
Factoring receivables JE U AR B2 FOIR 20 323,614 268,671
Finance lease receivables JE UL B & FH & A 19 301,709 9,649
Notes receivable JiE U 22 1 22 600,000 800,000
Prepayments, deposits and other TERTFIA - 12 S A UG
receivables 23 49,497 34,288
Investments at fair value through profit FBEZFRUARAFEINEZIZE
or loss 24 408,497 362,100
Restricted bank deposits X IR ERITF 25 190,899 -
Cash and bank balances B e KIRTT4 8 26 1,302,157 614,918
Total current assets RBEEBE 6,822,737 2,546,829
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Accounts payable FETBR 5K 27 97,220 22,274
Other payables and accruals HEfb S IEREFER 28 136,074 14,230
Interest-bearing borrowings TREE 29 690,130 200,000
Tax payable JE A1 18 33,927 1,415
Total current liabilities mEBBERE 957,351 237,919
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEEE 5,865,386 2,308,910
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERRBERE
LIABILITIES 7,633,771 4,197,830

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED




2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 2 BET T BT T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Other payables Hth j& 1~ 508 28 202,800 -
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEEE 29 1,390,693 732,000
Convertible bonds AR E S 30 1,025,423 -
Deferred tax liability EERIBEAE 31 3,500 68
Total non-current liabilities ERBAERE 2,622,416 732,068
Net assets EEFE 5,011,355 3,465,762
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners KATEE ARG ES
of the Company
Issued capital BT 32 15,663 14,324
Reserves 1 34 4,288,078 3,451,438
4,303,741 3,465,762
Non-controlling interests FERER 707,614 -
Total equity EEmEE 5,011,355 3,465,762

KRARREFERN T N\FXXA-TILE#
AT AHATALTRRARBDESTS

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the
Company on 29 June 2018 and were signed on its behalf by:

B®E:
Ye Ye Yang Haoying
o T
Director Director
EF EF

BEMI M R F M B mERA — 7 -

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial
statements.
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Available-

for-sale
Share Share Capital investment  Exchange
ssued ~ premium option ~ Warrant redemption Distributable ~ Special  Statutory revaluation fluctuation  Retained
@il account  reseme  resee  resene  feseve resene  fesee  reseve  rfesee  profits Total
aEE  AXER  TEAR TERE  NERE
BEARE ROEER BRRERRE B B B RURE fERR EMEE HE  RBEA 3t
HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
EETn BT EETn BRTn AETn #ETn B¥Tn RBTn EETn BETn BETn BRI
At 1 April 2016 RZE- EMA-H 14,324 2,229,745 23,082 20,648 485 216,866 35,131 - (527) 64 52509 3,004,914
Profit for the year RERET - - - - - - - - - - 48208 418208
Other comprehensive incomeloss) AEEE M 2ERA/
for the year: (BE):
Mvalable-forsale investments: A E IR
Change in fair values LTERY - - - - - - - - (1497) - - (1497)
Buchange difference arisngon~—~ EENEHEL L
translating foreign operations EizE - - - - - - - - - (4,794) - (4,794)
Share of other comprehensive  AE—REELEZEHRE
incomefloss) of an associate, WA/ (BIE) 8
net - - - - - - - - (8754) 24576 - 15822
Total comprehensive incomelloss]  AFF2EHA/ (BE)4E
for the year - - - - - - - - (10251) 19782 418208 427,739
Transfer et - - - - - - - 42 - - 412) -
Share of reserve of an associate  AlE—HEEAFEE - - - - - (26891) - - - - - (26891
At31 March 2017 Ro2-tF
ZA=t-A 14,324 2,29,745%  23,082*%  20,648* 485% 189975 35,131* 412%  (10,778)%  19.846*  942,892* 3,465,762

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED




Attributable to owners of the Company

ADAREARLE
Available-
Convertible forsale
Share bonds Share Capital investment  Exchange Non-
Issued  premium equity option  Warrant redemption Distributable ~ Special ~ Statutory revaluation fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
Gpital  account  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  feserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total  interests equity
TaRES JREE  ERER  THAK TihERE  HERE

BRORA RiRER RobR BREGE it G B HUEE ARER  BERE B REEA B FEREE REuRE
HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS'O00  HKS000  HKS'000
BT OBRTR BRTR  BMTR TR RRTR BMTR ERTR BRTR  BMTR ERTR EBTR EETR ERTR ERTR

A1 Aprl 2017
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year:

14324 2,229,745 - 23,082 20,648 485 189,975 35,131 a2 (10778) 19846 942892 3465762 - 3465762
= = = = = = = = = = - 26989 269,894 3128 30302

Available-for-sale investments
Change in fair values
Reclassification of cumulative losses to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss upon 1
disposal of available-for-sale investments - - - - - - - - - 1,497 - - 1,497 - 1,497
Reclassification of cumulative gains to the i ]
consolidated statement of profit or loss upon
disposal of an associate - - - - - - - - - (10,862) - - (10,862) - (10,862)
Reclassification of exchange difference to the ERZER
consolidated statement of profit or loss upon

= = = = = = = = = (2.829) = = (2829 = (2829

disposal of an associate - - - - - - - - - - 2422 - 2422 - 240
Exchange difference arising on translating foreign RERNER

operations £8 - - - - - - - - - - 188,161 - 188161 330 191491
Share of other comprehensive income(loss) of an AE-BRELFZEH2ERA/

associate, net - - - - - - - - - 20,183 (27,061) - (6,918) - (6,918)

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - - - 7949 163522 269894 441,365 36458 47783

Issue of convertible bonds - - 283439 - - - - - - - 283439 283,439
Lapse of warrants - - - (6,883) - - - - - - 6,883 - - -
Issue of shares upon exercise of warrants 1371 538232 - - (13769) - - - - - - - 55844 - 55844
Shares repurchased and cancelled (56)  (26,359) - - - - - - - - - - (26,415) - (26,415)
Issue of shares upon conversion of convertible bonds 18 8,484 (1,842) - - - - - - - - - 6,660 - 6,660
Share issue expenses - (15775) - - - - - - - - - - (15779 - (15779
Non-controlling interests arising from acquisiton of

subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - - 671,156 671,156
Share of reserve of an associate - - - - - (1139) - - - - - (1139) - (T139)
Transfer - - - - - - - - 7993 - - (7,993) - - -
At 31 March 2018 i 15663 27343217 281597 23080° - 485" (187,164 35131 8,405* (2829 183368" 1211,676° 4303741 707,614 501135

* As at 31 March 2018, these reserve accounts comprise the consolidated * R_E—NEZA=+—HB ZSHEERLE

reserves of HK$4,288,078,000 (2017: HK$3,451,438,000) in the SEAERERIARPAOGEAEBEESK
consolidated statement of financial position. 4,288,078,000c (= ZF — L F &K
3,451,438,0007¢ ) °

of

3

o
o

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial — BEMIBI TR A Z B SRR —
statements.
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2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT T BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING EETHMEEZRENE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B 5 B g A 324,384 408,195
Adjustments for: BHATEHBELFE:
Finance costs Bb & AR AR 7 207,079 29,920
Share of profits and losses of an PME—EBERARIR—HEeE
associate and a joint venture, net NIV RIS R 14 &15 (160,907) 27,771
Interest income MEHA (440,227) (40,290)
Depreciation e 12 4,759 945
Fair value gains on investments at fair BEBREZUAFEHEREZEE
value through profit or loss, net A EWREFRE (25,366) (193,826)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net ~ HEWEB QT 2 Uk F58 6 = (151,005)
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—fHENa 2 ks 14 (114,958) -
Gain on deemed disposal of an WIERE — M E AR 2 K=
associate 14 (9,954) (705)
Gain on deemed disposal of a joint BRIEHE—RMEE QR 2K
venture 15 (2,441) (1,140)
Provision for impairment loss of loans & U & 20~ 6 (B &5 18 B
receivable 18 320,000 -
Provision for impairment loss of JEW AR R 2 BB B BB
accounts receivable 21 135,417 -
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWHE -HWELKHER 2
plant and equipment 518 6 = 559
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEMHHBERE 2 5 F5E
investments, net 5 (267,201) -
(29,415) 80,424
Decrease/(increase) in accounts FEUBR FUR A, ()
receivable (354,277) 106,548
Increase in factoring receivables JE W AR 28 SR IR 8 AN (10,159) (24,477)
Decrease in finance lease receivables & Y @& & 7} I8 Jg 133,471 2,152
Increase in loans receivable JE Uk & FR 0 (1,311,174) (242,174)
Decrease in notes receivable B W E R 400,000 -
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TETRIE -~ i I H e YGRIE
deposits and other receivables B, (30 (11,936) 45,015
Increase in investments at fair value #8182 AR FEIIE
through profit or loss A B (21,031) (240,768)
Increase in accounts payable JE AR )42 0 74,946 463
Decrease in other payables and accruals £ th & {5 5K 18 K FE 51 8 F Rl (10,279) (136,879)

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED




2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT T BT T
Cash used in operations EEfBACRS (1,139,854) (409,696)
Interest received 2 B 181,492 17,482
Interest paid B H B (92,585) (25,105)
Income tax paid [RENPIIEE: fR (12,540) (3,172)
Net cash flows used in operating EEDAEACREREFE
activities (1,063,487) (420,491)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHFEEZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Additions to property, plant and NEWE BE REE
equipment 12 (13,237) (2,096)
Acquisition of subsidiaries Uk B8 Bt 8 A ) 35 130,548 (266,965)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries & B Q=R ZFTEKIE 36 = 34,763
Proceeds from disposal of an associate & — & Q& 2 11§38 200,000 -
Proceeds from notes receivable BRI 2 B 5IA 800,000 -
Purchase of available-for-sale BEHIERE
investments 17 (545,953) (33,300)
Proceeds from disposal of available-for- HERHEEIRE 2 B HKIE
sale investments 445,304 -
Repayment of promissory notes EEAHLER (1,825,200) -
Increase in restricted bank deposits 2 BR ) $R1T 17 SRIE A0 14,139 -
Repurchase of shares % B i 19 (26,415) -
Net cash flows used in investing REZBFBACESRETFHE
activities (820,814) (267,598)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RMETHFEECRERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of convertible BTAIMRESR 2 TS IE
bonds 1,215,760 -
Exercise of warrants T8 R B 510,069 -
Drawdown of borrowings RIEE 1,153,290 1,367,000
Repayment of borrowings BEREE (316,315) (445,000)
Increase in margin loan borrowings, net & & U8 &% h1 548 = 172,714
Net cash flows generated from RETHEE
financing activities ZEEREFTE 2,562,804 1,094,714
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2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH BekBESSEYWIEIMNFEE
EQUIVALENTS 678,503 406,625
Effect of foreign exchange rate bR E) o B R
changes, net 8,736 (695)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#2R & RKIEEEEY
of year 614,918 208,988
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRZHRERBELZEY
END OF YEAR 26 1,302,157 614,918
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRBSEBEYZEHRDIN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances HE NIRRT 1,302,157 614,918

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.
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Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
The principal place of business of the Company is located at
38th Floor, Bank of China Tower, 1 Garden Road, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
referred to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in the
financial services sector, including the provision of securities
and futures brokerage services, the provision of placing,
underwriting and margin financing services, the provision of
insurance brokerage and financial planning services, the
provision of corporate finance advisory services, the trading of
securities and futures, the provision of finance, the provision of
factoring, financial guarantee and finance leasing services, as

RESBERZERBERAR (ARG A
—HRHENEIMRIZER AR A&
RAlZ T ELEMBURBBIEREB IR
fhiR K /E381E ©

FARARFIRENBLAR (SBR[ AE
BDIZERF2RRBEE 2RRHEZES
REERLIRY RHEE B RTRA
BIRTS MR L KR R B R - 12
HEXBEREFRYG BEEEFLHE R
HEE RHRE BEEREBEHEER
AR BRI ETS -

well as investment holding.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

AAREEMBARIZFFBOT:

follows:
Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation Issued ordinary interest attributable Principal
Name and operation share capital to the Company activities
£ AR R E R E ERTEBRA RAARERERD L IEXK
Direct Indirect
E% [F3
Ambition Union Limited British Virgin Islands United States - 100 Investment holding
(the "BVI")/Hong Kong Dollars ("US$")
20,000,000
SHERAH RBRUAE ([RBRK 20,000,000% 7T REERK
BBl /% ([%7])
Eastern Sunny Limited Hong Kong  Hong Kong dollars - 100 Provision of management
("HK$") 2 services
RIBERLA 7B BE(DBBr REERRE
Freeman Commodities Limited Hong Kong HK$35,000,000 - 100 Provision of futures
brokerage services
RRMEERAHA A% BH35,000,0007 RERELLRY
Freeman Corporate Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100 Provision of corporate
finance advisory services
RRGCKREARAT 0 75%200,0007T RECEREBRRE
Freeman Corporation Limited Cayman Islands/ Us$38 - 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
RRBRAERAA RERSE/BE 38X REER

RESHRMREZERARAA




Place of Percentage of equity

incorporation Issued ordinary interest attributable Principal

Name and operation share capital to the Company activities

£ MM IREFLE ERTEBRA ARFARGRERDL TEEH

Direct Indirect
E# E3

Freeman Financial Investment Cayman Islands/ HK$48,000,000 100 - Investment holding
Corporation Hong Kong

Freeman Financial Investment MEHE /B %%48,000,0007T RERR

Corporation

Freeman Financial Services Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 - 100 Investment holding

RRERRBEBERAA &% £%10,000,0007 REER

Freeman Prestige Wealth Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100 Provision of insurance brokerage

Management Limited services, financial planning

and related services

RREBHEERERAA EE 7 %200,0007T RERRELRSE 2HRI LA

B %

Freeman Securities Limited Hong Kong  HK$1,900,000,000 - 100 Securities brokerage,

placing, underwriting,

margin financing,

investment holding and

trading of securities

RREFERAT % 18%1,900,000,0007T B RE BE FRAE

REBBRREEES

Freeman Union Limited BVIHong Kong HK$846,717,951 - 100 Investment holding and

trading of securities

Freeman Union Limited EBRUHE/EE 846,717,951 REBRREEES

Freeman United Investments Limited Hong Kong HKS1 - 100 Investment holding

Freeman United Investments Limited Bk BEIT REER

Hansom Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$400,000,002 - 100 Provision of finance

BRMBAERAA £#&  8%400,000,0027 RERE

Wins Finance Holdings Inc. Cayman Islands/ US$1,984 - 67.1 Investment holding
("Wins Finance") The People’s Republic
of China (the "PRC")

Wins Finance Holdings Inc. Hels/ 1,984% T RERR

([Wins Finance ]) REARLNE ([RE])
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Place of Percentage of equity

incorporation Issued ordinary interest attributable Principal
Name and operation share capital to the Company activities
&8 aREIREENEH BRTERRA AAREERER DL TEEH
Direct Indirect
Hi Rt
REPERBEEREERAR The PRC U5$30,000,000 - 100 Provision of factoring service
PE 30,000,000% 70 RERERE
ERRRERE (RY)BRAR* The PRC US$40,000,000 - 100 Provision of finance leasing service
HE 40,000,000 T REMERERHE
* These entities are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises * ZEBEBEAREBEPEEAEAMOINEEE
under the PRC laws. (=
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in ERHF A RBIMB AR REERRY
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for NEBEAFEEEELTEZENERET
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of EEEEFEFZENTBD 2HBAF -
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the EERR WEEMMBARZFEHEE
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive BHFERANRITRK-
length.
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These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
available-for-sale investments and investments at fair value
through profit or loss which have been measured at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
where otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee (i.e. existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED
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Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

The HKICPA has issued several amendments to HKFRSs that are
first effective for the current accounting period of the Group.
The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and position for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements,
except additional disclosure has been included to satisfy the
new disclosure requirements introduced by the amendments to
HKAS 7 Statement of cash flows: Disclosure initiative, which
require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.
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Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued the following amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 March 2018 and which have not been early adopted
in these financial statements.

/N
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HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments' BB RS EREo% SRIE
(ZZ-m%)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and ERUBREENE SR EPalnlia R ARET
the related Amendments’

HKFRS 16 Leases? FANBREENE 163 g

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts* BRUBREENB TR REBAL"

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share- ERUBRERANEIN BT ROEZARINDBERHE'
based Payment Transactions'

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with ERUBREENER BT EREERBREENEN
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts’ SRIAREBHERS

ERE4GERRAL
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative BAMBREEAER 2 EE]  RERFBUREHE

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and

Compensation?
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

BEMBREENZ05ER

REEEERELNARAE

HKAS 28 (2011) Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture EREHERF8% 2B RAZAMEELESE
(ZF——%) B
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 RERBREEN 2] BERBREEN -1

Amendments to HKAS 19

Cycle?

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement?

BEeEAE 195 27

EE-F-— fi%@ﬁﬂﬁ
& B2
SR GRS

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint EREIERF8R 2B RBERARAEARME
Ventures? B
Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of the Annual Improvements to BB EREBR B ERBENERE L=
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle' ~MEE-Z-ERH
LERBEN—F5
Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfer of Investment Property’ EREHENE AO;FZB‘ REMEBF
HK (IFRIC) - Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance B (AR RRERES WMEZFRERRE
Consideration’ -REENT
HK (IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments? BE (ARYBREREZRES) MERABRNTHETIE
-REFBH

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

! RoZE-N\F-A-BRZERABNFE

HARE A
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 2 R_E—NF—A B2 ERENFE
HARE A
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 3 MEREE B 2 @RBHNEEHEE
determined W
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 4 RZBZ—F—-—A—BR2E&RENFE
HARE A 2
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HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and BT BRELENESFIAEHEE &
measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities, general hedge BEELHERE —RYFBSH TR

accounting and impairment requirements for financial assets. FEAREREERBERTE -

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the Group are: BV BHREEREIREARE B IR
FERER:

all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of
HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured at
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that are held within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods.
Debt instruments that are held within a business model
whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets, and that have
contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding, are generally measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI").
All other financial assets are measured at their fair value at
subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9,
entities may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity
investment (that is not held for trading) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally
recognised in profit or loss; and

in relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS 9
requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an
incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected
credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary
for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised.
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Based on the Group's financial instruments and risk management BEAEER-_T-—NF=A=+—H0HK

policies as at 31 March 2018, the directors of the Company TR TARRREERR AAREEE
anticipate the following potential impact on initial application of BRERESHEREENFIRBUTE
HKFRS 9: ERE:
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° Financial assets classified as loans receivable, finance lease
receivables, factoring receivables and notes receivable,
carried at amortised cost, as disclosed in notes 18, 19, 20
and 22: these are held within a business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding. Accordingly, these financial assets will continue
to be subsequently measured at amortised cost upon the
application of HKFRS 9;

J Listed equity securities classified as available-for-sale
investments carried at fair value as disclosed in note 17:
these securities qualified for designation as measured at
FVTOCI under HKFRS 9, however, the fair value gains or
losses accumulated in the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve amounting to HK$2,829,000 as at 1
April 2018 will no longer be subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss under HKFRS 9, which is different from the
current treatment. This will affect the amounts recognised in
the Group's profit or loss and other comprehensive income
but will not affect total comprehensive income;

J Equity securities classified as available-for-sale investments
carried at cost less impairment as disclosed in note 17: these
securities qualified for designation as measured at FVTOCI
under HKFRS 9 and the Group will measure these securities
at fair value at the end of subsequent reporting periods with
fair value gains or losses to be recognised as other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the available-for-
sale investment revaluation reserve. Upon initial application
of HKFRS 9, the fair value gain of HK$39,289,000 relating
to these securities would be adjusted to available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve as at 1 April 2018; and

. All other financial assets and financial liabilities will continue
to be measured on the same bases as are currently
measured under HKAS 39.
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In general, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the expected credit loss model of HKFRS 9 will
result in earlier provision of credit losses which are not yet
incurred in relation to the Group’s financial assets measured at
amortised costs and other items that subject to the impairment
provisions upon application of HKFRS 9 by the Group.

Based on the assessment by the directors of the Company, the
accumulated amount of impairment loss to be recognised by the
Group as at 1 April 2018 would not be material different from the
accumulated amount recognised under HKAS 39 as at 31 March
2018.

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue,
HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related
interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the standard
introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

e Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
e Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

e Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation
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Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control” of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued Clarifications to HKFRS 15 in
relation to the identification of performance obligations,
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing
application guidance.

Based on the current business model, the directors of the
Company anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 in the
future may result in more disclosures, but its application is not
likely to have a material impact on the timing and amounts of
revenue recognised in the respective reporting periods.

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments
for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17
Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis
of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer.
Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed
for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be
recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-term leases
and leases of low value assets.
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The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is
initially measured at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability
is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the
impact of lease modifications, amongst others. For the
classification of cash flows, the Group currently presents
upfront prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows in
relation to leasehold lands for owned use and those classified
as investment properties while other operating lease payments
are presented as operating cash flows. Upon application of
HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will be
allocated into a principal and an interest portion which will be
presented as financing cash flows by the Group.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised an asset
and a related finance lease liability for finance lease
arrangement and prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands
where the Group is a lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may
result in potential changes in classification of these assets
depending on whether the Group presents right-of-use assets
separately or within the same line item at which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and
continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of HK$78,848,000 as disclosed in note 40.
A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will
meet the definition of a lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16,
the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless they
qualify for low value or short-term leases.
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In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of HK$9,308,000 as rights under leases to which
HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition of lease payments
under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments relating to
the right to use the underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying
amounts of such deposits may be adjusted to amortised cost
and such adjustments are considered as additional lease
payments. Adjustments to refundable rental deposits paid
would be included in the carrying amount of right-of-use
assets.

Furthermore, the application of new requirements may result in
changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as
indicated above but will not have a material adverse impact on
the Group's financial performance in the foreseeable future.

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term equity interest of generally not less than 20% of the
equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to
exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in a joint venture and an
associate are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the Group's share of net assets under
the equity method of accounting, less any impairment
losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
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The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of the associate and the
joint venture is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate
or the joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associate or
its joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's investments in the associate or the joint venture,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of an associate or a joint venture is
included as part of the Group’s investments in an
associate or a joint venture.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in
a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other
cases, upon loss of significant influence over the associate
or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its
fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of
the associate or the joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for the control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group's previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying
amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

The Group measures its available-for-sale investments and
equity investments at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
financial assets and deferred tax assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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An assessment is made at the end of each reporting AEEEREREARTHELTTR

period as to whether there is an indication that previously BERBABRBAEBETBFLEL
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may B o B & B R A7 2 A A FF AT UL
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the ElefE - BEERCEE (BHERIN
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised BEEEEGNAUEEZEERK
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is Ol &% 2 (At B H R E - ERDIE
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates ZEENMEENRFBTFEILEE
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, BERABEEBEEMES 2KEEE
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount (HBREMFTE)  REBSBERERE
that would have been determined (net of any F 2 B ARG AGZEEREK

depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

A party is considered to be related to the Group if: FR—FWELATER B RARE
E 2 RRER
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that (@ AEAR—BATHZALR
person’s family and that person FEZER Mz AL
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; (i) HAEEEEHESKLR
12 ) 7

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) BAREEBERTES =

(i) is a member of the key management personnel (i) BRAEHENAREEE QA
of the Group or of a parent of the Group; SMEBABZKE

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following (by BEAAAERIWFSUATER

conditions applies: —IE M

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the () ZEBRBEAEEHEBER—%
same group; S0l a=WNG]

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of (i) —([AEEEI —TEMNH
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or BASEERA (HE—
fellow subsidiary of the other entity); BRI HAR -WEBAF

EAEES INENG

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of (i) ZERBERAEEHAHAR
the same third party; E=Frza®ERa:

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity (v, —BEERE-EEZE
and the other entity is an associate of the third EREIRF—BERBRE=
entity; BER2BEA
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(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies (Continued):

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such part as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED
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Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Over the shorter of
the lease terms

Leasehold improvements

and 15%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15%
Computer equipment 33'5%
Motor vehicle 20% - 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis amount the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful
lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite
to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Trading rights represent the eligibility rights to trade on or
through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) and The Hong Kong Futures Exchange
Limited (the “Futures Exchange”) with indefinite useful
lives. They are carried at cost less any impairment losses.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Rentals payable under operating
leases are charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

A finance lease is a lease that the Group as the lessor
uses to transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the leased asset to the lessee.
At the commencement of the lease term, the Group
recognises the minimum lease amounts receivable by the
Group as a finance lease receivable and records the
unguaranteed residual value as an asset within the same
category. The difference between (a) the aggregate of the
minimum lease amounts and the unguaranteed residual
value and (b) their present value (presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position as finance
lease receivables — net) is recognised as unearned finance
income. Minimum lease amounts are the payments over
the lease term that the lessee is or can be required to
make plus any residual value guaranteed to the lessor by
the lessee, or a party unrelated to the lessor.

Unearned finance income is allocated to each period
during the lease term using the effective interest method
that allocates each rental between finance income and
repayment of capital in each accounting period in such a
way that finance income is recognised as a constant
periodic rate of return (implicit effective interest rate) on
the lessor’s net investment in the lease. Lease agreements
for which the base rent is based on floating interest rates
are included in minimum lease payments based on the
floating interest rate existing at the commencement of
the lease; any increase or decrease in lease payments that
result from subsequent changes on floating interest rate
is recorded as an increase or a decrease in finance lease
income in the period of the interest rate change.
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Initial direct costs, such as commissions, legal fees and
internal costs that are incremental and directly
attributable to negotiating and arranging a lease, are
included in the initial measurement of the finance lease
receivables and reduce the amount of income recognised
over the lease term.

See notes 2.4(i) and 2.4(j) for accounting policies for
derecognition and impairment of finance lease
receivables.

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale
financial investments, as appropriate. When financial
assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair
value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of
financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or
loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
sale in the near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments as defined by HKAS 39.
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the consolidated statement of financial position
at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. These net fair
value changes do not include any dividends on these
financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39
are satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are
not held for trading or designated as at fair value through
profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Reassessment
only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the
contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that
would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a
financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and
includes fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in other income and gains in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The loss arising
from impairment is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments
and debt securities. Equity investments classified as
available for sale are those which are neither classified as
held for trading nor designated as at fair value through
profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those
which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of
time and which may be sold in response to needs for
liquidity or in response to changes in market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value, with
unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss in other
income, or until the investment is determined to be
impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified
from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Interest
and dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale
financial investments are reported as interest income and
dividend income respectively and are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the
range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for
that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various
estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed
and used in estimating fair value, such investments are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to
sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term
are still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the
Group is unable to trade these financial assets due to
inactive markets, the Group may elect to reclassify these
financial assets if management has the ability and
intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or
until maturity.
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For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale
category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been
recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the
remaining life of the investment using the effective
interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised
cost and the maturity amount is also amortised over the
remaining life of the asset using the effective interest
rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to be
impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is
reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (that is, removed from
the Group's consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could
be required to repay.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a
group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not yet been
incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash
flows is discounted at the financial asset’'s original
effective interest rate (that is, the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly
or through the use of an allowance account and the loss
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the
reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and
all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to
the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off
is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets
are not reversed.

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a group
of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for
sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment
below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the
original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against
the period in which the fair value has been below its
original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss, measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that investment previously recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Impairment
losses on equity instruments classified as available for sale
are not reversed through the consolidated statement of
profit or loss. Increases in their fair value after impairment
are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to
which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.
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Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the
amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised
less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.
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A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged, cancelled, or expired.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at
fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and bank balances comprise cash
on hand and at banks, including term deposits, which are
not restricted as to use.
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A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.
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Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a)

income from the sale of equity and debt securities,
on a trade-date basis;

dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established;

interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or
a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset;

insurance brokerage income, on the inception of the
associated insurance policy;

corporate finance advisory income, when the
relevant services have been rendered;

commission and brokerage income from securities
and futures dealings, on a trade-date basis;

underwriting and placing commission income, when
the relevant services have been rendered;

Commission income from financial guarantee
services is recognised when guarantee contracts
have been made whereby the related guarantee
obligations have been accepted, the economic
benefits associated with the guarantee contracts will
probably be realised, and the amount of revenue
associated with the guarantee contracts can be
measured reliably;

factoring income, when the relevant services have
been rendered; and

finance lease income, under finance lease is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss using the effective interest rate implicit in the
lease over the term of the lease. Contingent rent is
recognised as income in the period in which it is
earned.
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The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible
participants (including the Company's directors and other
employees of the Group and of its investee entities, and
any consultant, advisor or agent engaged by or business
partners of any member of the Group or any investee
entity), who render services and/or contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including
directors) and advisors of the Group receive remuneration
in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees/advisors render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference
to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a
binomial model. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no
account is taken of any performance conditions, other
than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the
Company (“market conditions”), if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-
employees is measured by reference to the fair value of
the services received at the date they are received. Where
the market information for the services provided by non-
employees cannot be reliably determined, the fair value of
the share options granted at the date when the services
are received is applied as a surrogate measure. In this
case, the fair value of the share options is determined by
external valuers using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
The charge or credit to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and
end of that period.
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Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions
being met is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service
requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of
an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have not
been met, no expenses is recognised. Where awards
include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employees/advisors as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.
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The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations as further explained in the accounting policy
for “Share-based payments” above.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme.

Pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, each
of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group is required to
participate in a retirement benefit scheme organised by
the local municipal government whereby the Group is
required to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries
of its employees to the retirement benefit scheme.
Contributions made to the defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme are charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred.

All borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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These financial statements are presented in HK$, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (that is,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currency of certain PRC subsidiaries is
Renminbi (“"RMB"). As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into HK$ at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss
are translated into HK$ at the average exchange rates for
the year. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of PRC subsidiaries are translated
into HK$ at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the cash flows.
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Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity share
capital at the option of the holder, where the number of
shares that would be issued on conversion and the value
of the consideration that would be received at that time
do not vary, are accounted for as compound financial
instruments which contain both a liability component and
an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible bonds is measured at fair value based on the
present value of the future interest and principal
payments, discounted at the market rate of interest
applicable at the time of initial recognition to similar
liabilities that do not have a conversion option. The equity
component is initially recognised at the difference
between the fair value of the convertible bonds as a
whole and the fair value of the liability component.
Transaction costs that relate to the issue of a compound
financial instrument are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of
proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in profit
or loss on the liability component is calculated using the
effective interest method. The equity component is
recognised in the convertible bonds equity reserve until
either the bond is converted or redeemed.

If the bond is converted, the convertible bonds equity
reserve, together with the carrying amount of the liability
component at the time of conversion, is transferred to
share capital and share premium as consideration for the
shares issued. If the bond is redeemed, the convertible
bonds equity reserve is released directly to retained
profits.
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The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

The Group maintains an allowance for the estimated loss
arising from the inability of its borrowers to make the
required payments. The Group makes its estimates based
on the ageing of its loans receivable balances, borrowers’
creditworthiness and historical write-off experience. If the
financial condition of its borrowers were to deteriorate so
that the actual impairment loss might be higher than
expected, the Group would revise the basis of making the
allowance and its future results would be affected. At 31
March 2018, the net aggregate carrying amount of
finance lease, factoring and loans receivables of the
Group is HK$2,139,910,000 (2017: HK$508,719,000) and
a provision for impairment loss of loans receivable of
HK$320,000,000 (2017: Nil) was made for the year
ended 31 March 2018.

The provision for impairment of notes and accounts
receivable of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectability and the ageing analysis of the receivables
and on the judgement of management. A considerable
amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of the
customers. Management reassesses the estimation
regularly throughout the reporting period. At 31 March
2018, the net aggregate carrying amount of the notes
and accounts receivable of the Group is HK$1,146,305,000
(2017: HK$1,430,304,000) and a provision for
impairment loss of accounts receivable of
HK$135,417,000 (2017: Nil) was made for the year
ended 31 March 2018.
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For unlisted available-for-sale investments measured at
fair value, the Group recognises movement of their fair
values in equity. When the fair value declines,
management makes assumptions about the decline in
value to determine whether there is an impairment that
should be recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

For unlisted available-for-sale investments measured at
cost, the Group makes the judgement as to whether
there is an objective evidence of impairment exists based
on the investee's financial conditions and business
prospects, including industry environment, as well as
operating and financing cash flows. This requires a
significant level of management judgement which would
affect the amount of impairment losses in the profit or
loss. At 31 March 2018, the carrying amount of an
unlisted available-for-sale investment measured at cost is
HK$631,680,000 (2017: HK$631,680,000).

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. At 31 March 2018, other non-financial
assets of the Group include intangible assets, goodwill
and investments in an associate and a joint venture.
Indefinite life intangible assets and goodwill are tested for
impairment annually and at other times when such an
indicator exists. Investments in an associate and a joint
venture are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value-in-use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on
available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.
When value-in-use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. At 31 March 2018, the
carrying amounts of intangible assets, goodwill and
investments in an associate and a joint venture of the
Group are HK$17,145,000 (2017: HK$1,736,000),
HK$660,674,000 (2017: Nil) and HK$143,470,000 (2017:
HK$800,265,000), respectively.
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Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based
upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits
together with future tax planning strategies. The amount of
unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2018 was
HK$1,715,917,000 (2017: HK$1,537,184,000). Further
details are contained in note 31 to these financial
statements.

The Group conducted purchase price allocation based on
the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities in
the relevant business of the acquisition date. The fair
value of relevant identifiable assets and liabilities are
assessed by independent professional valuers based on
the business forecasts and the key assumptions provided
by the management and the adoption of the appropriate
valuation methodology.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their services and has reportable
operating segments as follows:

(a) trading of securities and futures segment engages in the
purchase and sale of securities and futures investments;

(b) provision of finance segment engages in the provision of
financing services in Hong Kong;

() insurance brokerage business segment engages in
insurance brokerage business and the provision of
financial planning and related services;

(d) securities and futures brokerage, placing, underwriting
and margin financing segment engages in the provision
of securities and futures brokerage services, the provision
of placing, underwriting and margin financing;

(e) factoring, financial guarantee and finance leasing
segment engages in the provision of factoring, financial
guarantee and finance leasing services and related
activities;
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(f)  investment holding segment engages in holding investments
for continuing strategic or long-term purposes, primarily for
dividend income and capital appreciation; and

(g) corporate finance advisory segment engages in the
provision of corporate finance advisory services and
related activities.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The
adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently with the
Group's profit before tax except that bank and other interest
income (excluding interest income from the provision of
finance and margin financing, factoring and finance leasing
activities), finance costs as well as head office and corporate
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Intersegment transactions are made with reference to the
prices used for services made to independent third parties at
the then prevailing market prices.

No analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by operating
segments was provided to the management for review during
the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 for the purposes of
resources allocation and performance assessment.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group acquired
subsidiaries, which are principally engaged in financial
guarantee and finance leasing services that the performance
was presented under factoring, financial guarantee and finance
leasing segment.
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Securities

and futures
brokerage, Factoring,
placing, financial
Trading of Insurance  underwriting guarantee Corporate
securities  Provision of brokerage  and margin  and finance  Investment finance
and futures finance business financing leasing holding advisory Total
5K
Hegg. RE.
5K RBEL EEBER  HEERR
HERE RHAE £ fREE HEHE REBR LERERH AR

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETR  MMTR BMTR BMTR #%TR BETR RETR

Segment revenue:

Sales to external customers 63,738 225,390 8,378 139,522 63,321 - 120 500,469
Intersegment sales = = = 66 = = = 66
63,738 225,390 8,378 139,588 63,321 - 120 500,535
Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment sales (66)
Total revenue 500,469
Segment results: PEEE. 73,057 (362,861) (4.972) (64,612) 41,481 788,803 (1,372) 469,524
Reconcillation: g
Bank interest income FHERA 285
Other interest income A ERA 79,663
Corporate and other unallocated ~~ AFAIREHKDEES
expenses (18,009)
Finance costs BEKA (207,079)
Profit before tax BiEH 324,384
Other segment information: A RER:
Share of profits of an associate - - - - - 156,682 - 156,682
Share of profits of a joint venture - - - - - 4,225 - 4,225
Provision for impairment loss of loans EAE F B
receivable - (320,000) - - - - - (320,000)
Provision for impairment loss of
accounts receivable - - - (135,417) - - - (135,417)
Depreciation ik
- operating segment -BEHE - - - (498) (2,096) - - (2,594)
- unallocated -KAR (2,165)
(4,759)
Investment in a joint venture R-HEERFAZRE - - - - - 143470 - 143,470
Available-for-sale investments TRHERE = = = = 1,833,235 667,445 = 2,500,680
Capital expenditure B1FR
- operating segment -BENE - - - 571 581 - - 1,152*
- unallocated kAR 12,085+
13,237
* These amounts represented additions to property, plant and * ZECHIERNBEME HEREE-
equipment.
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Year ended 31 March 2017/As at 31 March 2017

BE-—E2—tE=A=+—BLEE R
—E2-tH¥=A=t-H

Securities
and futures
brokerage,
placing,
Trading of Insurance  underwriting Factoring Corporate
securities  Provision of brokerage  and margin -~ and finance Investment finance
and futures finance business financing leasing holding advisory Total
RREL RER i
RERE % f BERE RERR Bl #g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BRI BETT BETTL BETT BB BETTL BETT
Segment revenue: PENE:
Sales to external customers HAMEPZHE (18,903) 14,841 36,082 69,620 6,645 - - 108,285
Intersegment sales HEREE - - - - - - - -
(18,903) 14,841 36,082 69,620 6,645 - - 108,285
Reconciliation: R
Elimination of interseqment sales A EEHEHH -
Total revenue WEeg 108,285
Segment results: 168,554 (52,903) (160) 9322 1,811 296,610 (1,023 422,211
Reconciliation:
Bank interest income LN 7
Other interest income A 18,772
Corporate and other unallocated A FREHKIEFHX
expenses (2.875)
Finance costs BERE (29,920)
Profit before tax BREEH 408,195
Other segment information: EfAREH:
Share of losses of an associate Me-HEE - - - - - (33,484) - (33,484)
Share of profits of a joint venture ~~ AE—HAE LR - - - - - 5713 - 5,713
Depreciation ik
- operating segment -BERE - - - (252) (26) - - (278)
- unallocated -xAR
(945)
Investment in an associate R-EBERARE - - - - - 663,461 - 663,461
Investment in a joint venture R-HAERAIRE - - - - - 136,804 - 136,804
Available-for-sale investments AfEHERE - - - - - 663,483 - 663,483
Capital expenditure X%
- operating segment -BEHE - - - 753 - - - 753+
- deposits (non-current portion) -%&% (FRBE2) - - - 4,840 - - - 4,840
- unallocated -#AR 1343
6,936
* These amounts represented additions to property, plant and * ZESHIERBWE KB REH-

equipment.
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(a) Revenue from external customers (a) REHIHFEPLzZWE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Hong Kong 578 437,148 101,640
The PRC A 63,321 6,645
Total et 500,469 108,285
The geographic location of revenue from external REINGSE P 2 Wzt 2 IR B T A
customers is based on the location of the customers at RIBERISE 2 b Bh & 5 o
which the services were rendered.
(b) Non-current assets (b) ¥RBEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Hong Kong A 191,267 821,734
The PRC s 661,910 203
Total #Et 853,177 821,937

The geographic location of the non-current assets is
based on the location of the operations to which they are
allocated.
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Included in revenue arising from major customers which
individually accounted for over 10% of the Group’s revenue for
the year:

PRERAFERPZKE  SHAEE
AFEEWZEEBI0% :

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

Insurance brokerage business R ET
Customer A BEPA N/A*  TER* 30,397

Provision of finance EHmE

Customer B EFB 69,141 -
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the * HEKZEAEEBAR S BB

total revenue of the Group.

The Group's dividend income and gains/(losses) from the sale
of investments at fair value through profit or loss are excluded
from total revenue for the purpose of identifying major
customers of the Group who accounted for over 10% of the
Group's revenue.

10% -

AEBRBBBEZIUAFEINEZERE
ZRBWA R EWE, (EE) Tt AL
W BUARBAEB 2 ETERZR  AEX
SEINEERI1I0% o

RESHRMREZERARAA

113




114

Revenue represents interest income earned from the provision
of finance; dividend income from investments at fair value
through profit or loss; net gains/(losses) from the sale of
investments at fair value through profit or loss; insurance
brokerage income; corporate finance advisory fee; commission
and brokerage income from securities and futures dealings;
commission from underwriting and placing services; interest
income on margin financing activities; commissions and fees
from financial guarantee services; factoring interest income and
finance lease interest income during the year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains, net is as
follows:

Wen s FRIRERER S ZHESWA  EB
BRUARNFEINRZREZBREBA  HE
FEBBEUARNTEIIE2RE 2 e (8
1B) R RSB EXRRERRE
EFMEEERS MELEEBA 2R
ERBAE: FRBEEZD ZFEWA B
BERBRBRERER  ARRENSHBA
KREEHEEHNBWA -

Wi HWARKEFEZ0MAT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETIT
Revenue i 2=
Interest income from provision of finance REREMGFZHMEWRA 225,390 14,841
Dividend income from investments at fair value ~ BBEZARXFENEZHREZ
through profit or loss BB M A 5,250 33,020
Gains/(losses) from the sale of investments at fair HEFEBIERA RN FEIEZE
value through profit or loss, net (note a) Bz Wz (B8)F5E (Hita) 58,488 (51,923)
Insurance brokerage income R E LA 8,378 36,082
Corporate finance advisory fee TERERNE 120 -
Commission and brokerage income from BHELRPEEERe RELKA
securities and futures dealings 51,569 15,725
Commission from underwriting and placing BEREEREHES
services 4,012 16,970
Interest income on margin financing activities HFRBEETH ZFBERA 83,941 36,925
Commissions and fees from financial guarantee ~ RIEERRBEFEE MER
services 12,373 -
Factoring interest income IRIEF) B U A 14,573 5,807
Finance lease interest income MEHEFBMA 36,375 838
500,469 108,285
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2018 2017
—E-NF —E—+F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT T BT T
Other income and gains, net H U A R Uk &5 58
Bank interest income HRITHBHA 285 7
Other interest income E R B A 123 18,772
Investment income on available-for-sale AIftH&EKE 2K E WA
investments 79,540 -
Dividend handling charge and other KREREEREMITMNE
surcharges 2,375 1,164
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEHEERE 2 W FE
investments, net 267,201 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net HEWB R G 2 e F58 36 = 151,005
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—MEE QR 2 WE 14 114,958 -
Gain on deemed disposal of an REHE — MBS R R 2l
associate 14 9,954 705
Gain on deemed disposal of a joint RIELE—HEERF 2 Wa=
venture 15 2,441 1,140
Forfeited income (note b) B2 WA (B 5Eb ) = 150,000
Foreign exchange differences, net HINE 7= BB JF RA 7,683 2,013
Others Hit 12,760 2,788
497,320 327,594
Notes: i o -
(@)  The gross proceeds from sale of investments at fair value through (@ FRLEEBBEDZARFEIEIREMN
profit or loss for the year were approximately HK$490,603,000 195 I R X /R 78 % 490,603,0007T (=

(2017: HK$639,766,000).

(b)  The recognition of forfeited income was in relation to a proposed (b)
disposal of the entire interest in a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company (the “Proposed Disposal”). Conditions precedent to
the sale and purchase agreement in relation to the Proposed
Disposal became incapable of being fulfilled and the Proposed
Disposal lapsed. Accordingly, the Group recognised a forfeited
income of HK$150,000,000 during the year ended 31 March

2017.

T — 4 B#639,766,0007T) ©

ERERRBA S RZFELEARRR —H
2EMBARZzEN R ((RELES
] -BEEHEREAHNEE BHRK
FORIGMEEER  BEHERRERY-
Bit B2 —tF=A=+—RHLF
B -AEEBR —
150,000,0007T °

FRREABE
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The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBZBRBALSF S MR (FEA) -

(crediting):
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt E BT T BET T
Depreciation e 12 4,759 945
Employee benefit expenses (excluding EERFMAX
directors’ remuneration): (TEEEEHE)
Salaries and allowances e K2 44,615 19,029
Retirement benefit scheme RKEM B FR
contributions (defined contribution (EBHHETE) (fiEa)
scheme) (note a) 1,052 466
45,667 19,495
Auditor's remuneration 2 Gilkn 2,800 2,000
Minimum lease payments under BRELERNH 2 IEHEERE
operating leases 33,954 16,810
Gain on disposal of an associate (note b)  H& — B & A& 2 W (MsEb) 5 (114,958) -
Deemed gains on changes in R—EBE R k—HagRaz
shareholding interests in an associate Me i & &) 2 AR EW A (B EED)
and a joint venture (note b) 5 (12,395) (1,845)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HETHBEREZWEFER
investments, net (note b) (FiF&Eb) 5 (267,201) -
Provision for impairment loss of loans &Y & 5 il (B /&5 18 B &5
receivable 320,000 -
Provision for impairment loss of FEWER R 2 RIEREEE
accounts receivable 135,417 -
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE BEREHBEE 2BE
plant and equipment - 559
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net HEMB AR 2 %88 (MEb)
(note b) 36 - (151,005)
Notes: B2
(@ At 31 March 2018, the Group had no material forfeited (@ RZZ—N\F=ZA=+—H AKHILE
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the BRI HRAT AR D ERREF 2R
retirement benefit scheme in future years (2017: Nil). REFFTEERR(ZT—F | -
(b)  These gains are included in “Other income and gains, net” for by ZEUHRFABE-ZTE-—NF=ZA=+—
the years ended 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017 in the ARZZ—+tF=A=+T—HLEFEHSE
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Bami Bk A RS F5E] Ao
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2018 2017

—Z2-N\F —TtF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Interests on borrowings BEZHE 82,872 29,920
Interests on convertible bonds (note 30) AT} ES 2 F B (HFE30) 124,207 -
207,079 29,920
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the TARBEEEHEIIMEBERA
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock AR BIFE383(1)(@)  (b)~ (o) & ()1‘77<& 7
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (BBEESENER) ROIF2MWEEZ F
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the NEES -
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Fees e 481 664
Other emoluments: EMie -
Salaries and other benefits FehEMmEF 5,934 5,723
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R Ri8F st 214t 5% (FEE M=%
(defined contribution scheme) &) 74 134
6,008 5,857
6,489 6,521
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The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FRNENBIFNTESTZ2HES N

during the year were as follows: T
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
Fees Fees
we we
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Mr. An Dong (note (i) LR EE (M) 78 -
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping REETFEAE 120 120
Mr. Fung Tze Wa (note (ii)) BT A (M EEGD)) 120 22
Mr. Wu Keli (note (iii)) MR ) 58 A (B RE(ii) ) 120 54
Mr. Xu Zhiguang (note (iv)) TR KA (FFEGY)) 43 22
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun (note (v)) EBE BT A (KEEW) = 27
Mr. Hung Cho Sing (note (vi)) 18 2 A (M RE(vi)) - 196
Dr. Agustin V. Que (note (vi)) Agustin V. Quefd 4= (P 7E(vi)) - 98
481 539
There were no other emoluments payable to the FRNWBENBLIERITES 2 HAM
independent non-executive directors during the year e (ZE—tF: &)
(2017 Nil).
Notes F 5

)] Appointed on 8 August 2017

i)  Appointed on 25 January 2017

iii)  Appointed on 20 October 2016

iv)  Appointed on 25 January 2017 and resigned on 8 August

0 RZE—EFNANBEZT

i) R-E—tEF—A-+RAEZEE
) RIZE-—ARFTA-THEZAR
vy, RZE—+tF—AZ+HBAEZAE

2017 ER-ZZ—tF\A/\BEHE
(v)  Resigned on 21 June 2016 v) RZZE-—RESAZT—BEME
(vi)  Resigned on 25 January 2017 Vi) RZZE—tEF—-A-THBHME
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Salaries Retirement

and benefit Equity-settled
other scheme  share option Total
Fee benefits contributions expenses remuneration

HER BUAEN  UREEE
we Hitn Al SR BREZRX [t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT AETT BETT BETT AETT

2018 —E-N\E
Executive directors: HITEE:
Mr. Ye Ye (note (i)) MRS A (BREG)) = 215 2 = 217
Mr. Yang Haoying (note (i) #5554
D)) - 2,025 18 - 2,043
Ms. Chow Mun Yee Fa7 A = 934 18 = 952
Mr. Zhao Tong (note (i) %4 (FiI5E(GI)) - 1,275 18 - 1,293
Mr. Wang Xiaodong FTRAEAE
(note iii)) (BEE (D)) - 1,485 18 - 1,503
- 5,934 74 - 6,008
2017 e o3
Executive directors: HITEE:
Mr. Yang Haoying (note (i) #5350 4 (B aEG)) - 1,220 12 - 1,232
Ms. Chow Mun Yee BHENMA - 735 18 - 753
Mr. Wang Xiaodong TR A (B &)
(note (iii)) - 862 10 - 872
Mr. Zhao Tong (note (i) 8R4 (FTE(G)) - 670 9 - 679
Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei FFEER 54
(note (iv)) (P EEGv) - 831 15 - 846
Mr. Lo Kan Sun (note (v)) EF#HE4
(P&EW) - 840 42 - 882

Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue R ER L
(note (v)) (Bg3E) - 565 28 - 593
- 5,723 134 - 5,857

Non-executive director: EHITES:

Mr. Zhang Yongdong FKREAE
(note (vi)) (P EE(vi)) 125 - - - 125
125 5,723 134 - 5,982
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(i) Appointed on 19 January 2018

(i) Appointed on 20 October 2016

(iii)  Appointed on 20 October 2016 and resigned on 18 May
2018

(iv)  Resigned on 24 January 2017

(v)  Resigned on 25 January 2017

(vi)  Appointed on 18 July 2016 and resigned on 25 January
2017

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year
(2017: Nil).

The five highest paid employees during the year included two
(2017: five) directors, details of whose remuneration are set
out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year
of remaining three (2017: Nil) highest paid employee who is
not a director of the Company is as follows:

—NF-RATNBEZRE
—RFTA-THEZRE
—RNETA-TREZER
—N\FERTNEEE
—tF-RBZTMHEEE
—tF-A-+hHEBE
—RELATNBEZREIR
—tF-AZTHHBBE

FRALEFBESNEARBMELT
e T (T —LF E)-

\HH\HHHHH
MH M AH wﬁ wH M 4}:3{ M

FALUBEHFREREML (=T~
FAMDER EMSFBEHN LXME
B FRNM =M (ZF—+F: &) WA
RAEEZBRRFREREZHESFBENT

2018 2017

—E-N\EF —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Salaries and other benefits e kEMER 6,166 -
Pension scheme contributions RIREFEIE R 43 -
6,209 -

The emoluments of the five highest paid employees, excluding
directors, for the year fell within the following bands:

FARUEHEE (T2
E NN E

RESF) NS

Number of individuals

A
2018 2017
—ZE-N\EF —E—+tF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 T2 E#1,000,0007T = -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 751,000,001 T &8 % 1,500,0007T = -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 /\%ﬁﬁ 500,001 T & & #2,000,0007T 1 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 & #2,000,001 70 &8 %2,500,0007T 2 -
3 —

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five
highest paid employees as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office for the
year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: Nil).

BE_T-/\F=ZA=1T—RHLEFE XK
SEYERNAURSHEEPERMALX
MBS (ERZ B MAREBSE RN E
AR SR B B0 22 - A RREREIE (=
T—LFE) o
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The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of
the Group are domiciled and operates.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the BVI and Cayman
Islands, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the BVI
and Cayman Islands respectively.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for
both years.

Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Tax") and Interpretation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

AEEARERAELBIREAEERK
8RR E AT MR & P RDARE IR 1 A
S E RS

REEZBRAHELASHEENHRA A
R ARBBACRBRELESNASE
SEMERMAEH-

BEENERIDERRUEI165%MFAREE
EAEZ B RGN e i o

RIBFEBEMAER (REMEN]) AR
EERMBBORAERGD - - BB R R/
MK 325% °

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—1F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current 7K Ef

Charge for the year AEEZH
- Hong Kong — &8 12,226 1,924
— the PRC — 6,012 318
Under/(over) provision in prior years BAFEBRETE, (BREERE) 2,869 (8,317)
Deferred (note 31) BT (FIFE31) 255 (3,938)
Total tax expense/(credit) for the year REBHRBERAY (BR)EEE 21,362 (10,013)
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A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to profit T RIREEEEMETE 2R AT @ FE

before tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate to the tax RAzBERSZ (Ex) BUAEEERT
charge/(credit) at the Group's effective tax rate is as follows: RHEHETH, (KR 2HE:

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Profit before tax B 50 A1 % 7 324,384 408,195

Tax charge at the Hong Kong statutory tax & B EATEH E16.5%TE 2B

rate of 16.5% ¥ 53,523 67,352
Effect of different taxation rate used in HEta ZEBRERITRANENTE

other jurisdiction (12,200) 138
Adjustments in respect of current tax of LA ATHAR 2 BIEARR 18 2 S &

previous periods 2,869 (8,301)
Income not subject to tax AR 2 WA (76,152) (112,012)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR IR X 63,323 11,481
Temporary differences not recognised AERZ B AR (12,942) (480)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods B ABTEE 2 R%EE (1,787) (104)
Tax losses not recognised RIER 2 MG EE 31,278 27,331
Tax effect of share of results of an associate 71§ —fEi & AR R —FE4& & Q7

and a joint venture EBE BB E (26,550) 4,582

Tax expense/(credit) at the Group's effective X AREE 2 BEERFH R1E 2 Fi1E

tax rate % (H%) 21,362 (10,013)
No tax charge attributable to an associate is shared for the year HE_Z-N\F=HA=+T—H JJ:E?]I@E
ended 31 March 2018 (2017: HK$289,000) and share of tax 7715*?3%?@:*@72%1535& (ZZ—
charge attributable to a joint venture amounting to F : 5 #289,0007T) - 1E—F?/\**"7
HK$1,282,000 (2017: HK$1,129,000) is included in “Share of ZRIE S A 81,282,000t (=2 — &
profits and losses of an associate and a joint venture, net” in F B H1,129,000T) P ETAEE ZZ
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended —N\F=ZA=F+—HILFEHEEERT
31 March 2018. (DG —RBER R R—HaE 28

NEEFE]IR-
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The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based BRERRBR TR R AL RRER

on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity EAEBMGEAXREERNBEK
holders of the Company of HK$269,894,000 (2017: 269,894,0007T (— & —+F : B
HK$418,208,000), and the weighted average number of 418,208,0007T) * UK FANE BEITE
ordinary shares of 15,373,564,672 (2017: 14,324,137,300) A% 2 INAEF192015,373,564,6720%
in issue during the year. —EF—+%F:14,324,137,3000% ) 5t
“ o
The calculation of weighted average number of ordinary BEHREBRINETFHEFE DN
shares at the end of the reporting period is as follows: i
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—LkF
Number of shares BO#E
Issued ordinary shares at beginning of year REM 2B HTEBR 14,324,137,300  14,324,137,300
Effect of warrants exercised BITERREECTE 1,063,527,569 -
Effect of shares repurchased and cancelled EBEREHERO 2 FE (14,753,863) -
Effect of conversion of the convertible bonds ~ B A B ESR 7 F 2 653,666 -
Weighted average number of ordinary REREBR 2
shares at end of year MEFHE 15,373,564,672  14,324,137,300
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The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on
the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company of HK$269,894,000 (2017:
HK$418,208,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 15,660,949,852 shares (2017:
14,335,328,776 shares), calculated as follows:

SRESERF| TR AR B TR
EAEBLBAFERZM BB
269,894,000 (=& —+F : B
418,208,000t ) K& I 8 % p#E 15
#015,660,949,8520% (=& — & :
14,335,328,776 ) st E T ¢

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Profit attributable to ordinary equity TaEEE ARG RN
holders 269,894 418,208
After tax effect of effective interest on A% & %%Tij 5 B R A
the liability component of the B2z
convertible bonds (note) - -
Profit attributable to ordinary equity TBRERBAEBGRN
holders (diluted) (#58) 269,894 418,208
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2018
—E-N\F

2017
—E—tF

Weighted average number of ordinary

shares for the purpose of basic earnings

per share at 31 March

Effect of deemed issue of shares under
the Company's share option scheme

Effect of issue of warrants

Effect of conversion of the convertible
bonds (note)

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of diluted
earnings per share at 31 March

Note:

ARt ESREXA MR
ZA=t—RzEBRKR

INAEF g 15,373,564,672 14,324,137,300
BAERIEAR R R B A HEFT &

BIIRD 2 E 211,480,031 2,797,869
BITRREB IR 75,905,149 8,393,607

\

BRABRESFZTE
(HEE) = -

BT E SR SRR
— A=t HzEAEK

AT 8 15,660,949,852 14,335,328,776

P& -

HEBE-T-\FZAZ+-ALFE

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31 March 2018 does not assume the conversion of
the Company’s outstanding convertible bonds since its
conversion would result an anti-dilutive effect on earnings

ZEREERNE T RBRREBLRART]
RITEAMERES RESZBHREHE
RENBARBELE -

per share.
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Furniture,

Leasehold  fixtures and Computer Motor
improvements equipment equipment vehicle Total
GHR-HER
HENERE R ENEE RE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT BT T BT T BT T
At 1 April 2017: RZZE—tEMNA-A:
Cost A - 1,992 2,991 - 4,983
Accumulated depreciation ZEITE = (873) (1,869) = (2,742)
Net carrying amount REFE = 1,119 1,122 = 2,241
At 1 April 2017, net of RZZ—tE5MA
accumulated depreciation —H MK RFIE - 1,119 1,122 = 2,241
Additions RE 8,857 1,124 3,219 37 13,237
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEKB AR 760 479 157 2,604 4,000
Depreciation provided during the & /2 i E &
year (1,644) (606) (1,329) (1,180) (4,759)
Exchange differences BN = 21 46 9 148 224
At 31 March 2018, net of RZE-N\&
accumulated depreciation “A=+—8"
Mk REHE 7,994 2,162 3,178 1,609 14,943
At 31 March 2018: RZE-N\F
ZA=t+-A:
Cost B 13,267 4,972 6,922 9,455 34,616
Accumulated depreciation ZEIE (5,273) (2,810) (3,744) (7,846) (19,673)
Net carrying amount REFE 7,994 2,162 3,178 1,609 14,943
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Furniture,

Leasehold fixtures and Computer
improvements equipment equipment Total
G- RER
HEMEERE Bl G BB
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BETL BT BETT
At 1 April 2016: RZZE-R"EMNA—A:
Cost B 714 5,241 2,221 8,176
Accumulated depreciation ZiIE (714) (4,353) (1,690) (6,757)
Net carrying amount EHFE - 888 531 1,419
At 1 April 2016, net of accumulated ~ RZZ—~FMNA—H
depreciation MG EFHTE - 888 531 1,419
Additions NE - 1,025 1,071 2,096
Disposal/written off HE /M - (476) (83) (559)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—-mREAF - 230 - 230
Depreciation provided during the year ~ FRZ I E & - (548) (397) (945)
At 31 March 2017, net of RZBE—tF=A=+—-1"
accumulated depreciation Mk 2FHE - 1,119 1,122 2,241
At 31 March 2017: RZE—+F=A=+—1:
Cost XA - 1,992 2,991 4,983
Accumulated depreciation ZiIE - (873) (1,869) (2,742)
Net carrying amount EEFE - 1,119 1,122 2,241
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HK$'000

BT T
Cost and carrying amount RARREE
At 1 April 2017 RZE—+FWA—H -
Acquisition of Wins Finance (note 35) U B&Wins Finance (Bf3E35) 659,169
Acquisition of People Securities Company Limited KWEBRESHFBRAA
(“People Securities”) (note 35) (IBREFH]) (MzE35) 1,505
At 31 March 2018 RZE-NF=ZA=+—A1 660,674

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to
the following cash generating units (“CGUs").

- Financial guarantee and finance leasing business in the
PRC ("CGU A")

- Insurance and securities brokerage business in Hong Kong
("CGU B")

The carrying amounts of goodwill as at 31 March 2018

BECHAENABNSEENIREE
EEM([REELEM])-

- FEREEREABEEEEL (R
TEEBMA])

- EAERBMEBLERRER([BLE
A BB )

PEERFEMNNHER_F—/\F=A
;)

allocated to these units are as below: =+—H/EEEWLT
2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
BT T
CGU A WEEEEMA 659,169
CGUB REEEEMB 1,505
At 31 March 2018 RZE—NF=ZRA=+—H 660,674

The recoverable amount of the CGU A is determined based on the
value-in-use calculations, which are based on a business valuation
report on the CGU A prepared by an independent qualified
professional valuer, Brilliant Appraisal Limited. These calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a three-year period. Cash flows beyond the
three-year period are extrapolated using an estimated growth rate
stated below which is by reference to the forecasts based on the
funds available for the Group's provision of financial guarantee
and finance leasing business and does not exceed the forecasts
included in industry reports. The growth rates used do not exceed
the long-term average growth rates for the business in which the
CGU A operates. The cash flows are discounted using the
discount rate stated below. The discount rates used are pre-tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the CGU A.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED

ReELEUANAKESEERERE
B EEE KA EER-—BBILAER
EXAEMBENGEERARARATES
BUARRNEBHERS ZEAEER
AERNEEEHENRE=FHHENM KA
BHEENRSRERN BB =FHMENR
ERERTRAFIBEREER 2FER
AEEREHBEERIBEHEXHAMA
BEeFEER EFTE@BITRRETE
SRR -MERNERXTEBRETE
EEBEUAREMEXRBHRIITFIGERE -
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Key assumptions used for the value-in-use calculations are as
follows:

EREEFEMEANTERRNOT

2018
—E-N\E
Growth rate R 3%
Gross margin ER = 87%
Discount rate ALIR = 10%
The budgeted gross margin was determined based on past BEEMNERERNBARERMISGEEED
performance and expectation for market development. -
Any possible change in the key assumptions on which the AT Ol & REPT KR B £ E R R A 2 Al A8

recoverable amount is based was not expected to cause the

wE > B TeEYBESE iﬁT_LAE’]EE@

carrying amount of the CGU A to exceed its recoverable amount. BEHBAATRE -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Share of net assets NIEEEFE - 663,461
Particulars of the associate of the Group at 31 March 2017 are RZE—+F=ZA=+—H AEE 2

as follows:

Particulars Place of

of issued incorporation and
Name shares held business

FRiFE 817 AL R
718 IR 1S S

ERFFBERT:
Percentage of
ownership
interest
attributable to
the Group Principal activity
REBEEL
BEREZRAIL TBER

Freewill Holdings Limited  Ordinary share without Republic of the

("Freewill”) par value Marshall Islands/
Hong Kong
Freewill Holdings Limited #ETE{E 2 & @A SHEBHRERENE
(TFreewill |) B8

The above investment is indirectly held by the Company before
disposal. Freewill and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
investment holding and money lending business.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group’s shareholding interest in
Freewill was diluted to approximately 30.44% after further
allotments of new ordinary shares to a new investor by
Freewill. A net gain of approximately HK$705,000 resulting
from the changes in shareholding interests in Freewill was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the year ended 31 March 2017.

30.44 Investment holding

REEK

i % & I & AT A
FreeleEZEBﬁL B AR
BEE®K-

RRAREERE-
TERFREEBREK

fEFreewillE FT IR E HE— PR ET M
B HN-_TE—+tF=ZA=+—8 ~AEEER
Freewill Z f& 1 # 8 = £930.44% - AR
FreewillF B A 2 Bh 2 £ O U 5 SR RE XD B B8
705,000 R Z2=-FE—+tF=A=+—
BIEFEMGABRRER
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During the year ended 31 March 2018, Freewill repurchased all
shares held by one of the existing shareholders. After such
repurchase, the Group's equity interest in Freewill increased
from 30.44% to 35.37%. The Group disposed of its entire
35.37% interest in Freewill at a consideration of
HK$200,000,000. A gain on deemed disposal of approximately
HK$9,954,000 resulting from the change in equity interest in
Freewill and a gain on disposal of Freewill of approximately
HK$114,958,000 were recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2018.

The financial results of Freewill were accounted for using the
equity method.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of Freewill adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements:

HE-_Z—-N\E=A=+—HILEE"
FreewilliB Bl — 2B BEREIFEHNTE K
17 o % BB [0 1% - 7K £2 @ 7 Freewil | I& AN 4
FH30.44%3E i1 =35.37% - AE B D H
E R Freewil )2 635.37 %z - RE BB
#5200,000,0007T ° A 7 Freewil |8 f% 72N
HERHEENRELERZHBR
9,954,0007T & & Freewil B9 Ut 5 #9786 #&
114,958,000t  REIZE =T —N\F=H
=t HALFENGABERTER-

Freewil WA TE KB M RIEARR -
TRIRFreewillZ M BERMME (ESLE

AR 2 R AR HIRA M BERE
2 BREELR)

2017

—T—+tF

HK$'000

BT I

Current assets mENEE 193,515

Non-current assets EREBEE 2,141,954

Current liabilities nRBAE (155,900)

Net assets BEEFE 2,179,569
Reconciliation to the Group's interest in Freewill: B 7K 2 B A Freewill 2 7 25 ¥ 85 ¢

Proportion of the Group's ownership AEBEBEARELD 30.44%

Carrying amount of the investment KEREE 663,461

Revenue W 2= (42,279)

Loss for the year KEFEEEIE (108,449)

Other comprehensive income Hib2milk A 50,301

Total comprehensive loss for the year RFEEEHEEERS (58,148)
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The following table illustrates the Group's share of Freewill's TR TAER D Freewill 2 & 7 & E5 18

profits and losses and other comprehensive income/(loss): AR EHAMAEEBA S (FE) -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Share of profits/(losses) of an associate DG —HEBE RNEF S (FE) 156,682 (33,484)

Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) H 5 — Mt E A Al HE 2 mEUE A~

of an associate (E518) (6,918) 15,822

2018 2017

—E-N\EF —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Share of net assets DIEEEFE 143,470 136,804

Particulars of the joint venture of the Group at 31 March 2018 RZEBE—N\F=ZA=+—H AEEALEZ
are as follows: NAIZHBUOT:

Percentage of

Place of UTREZBDL
Particulars of issued incorporation and Ownership Voting Profit
Name shares held business interest power sharing  Principal activity
FEERT ML K HaE
475 R B g RER BRAK FEEHR
FreeOpt Holdings Ordinary share without Republic of the 31.38 33.33 31.38  Investment holding
Limited (“FreeOpt”) par value Marshall Islands/
Hong Kong
FreeOpt Holdings EEEzLBR FRAES REER
Limited ( [ FreeOpt | ) HAE /BB
The above investment is indirectly held by the Company. LI ERA QT EEEE o FreeOpt R H
FreeOpt and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in MBAREENSREERREEER-
investment holding and money lending business.
As at 31 March 2017, the Group's shareholding interest in TEFreeOpti — FEL BT EMARE KT
FreeOpt was diluted to approximately 39.16% after further —tF=HA=+—8 T&EERFreeOptH]
allotments of new ordinary shares by FreeOpt. The net gain of BT WE 3 BB = 4939.16% - FARAER
approximately HK$1,140,000 resulting from the change in FreeOptHY) AR 42 B &) & 4 ) W 2 ) F BB A B 1K
shareholding interests in FreeOpt during the year was 1,140,000 - REEZE T —+F=H
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for = t—BLEEENGaBERRER.

the year ended 31 March 2017.
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As at 31 March 2018, the Group's shareholding interest in
FreeOpt was diluted to approximately 31.38% after further
allotments of new ordinary shares by FreeOpt. The net gain of
approximately HK$2,441,000 resulting from the change in
shareholding interests in FreeOpt during the year was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the year ended 31 March 2018.

The financial results of FreeOpt are accounted for using equity
method.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of FreeOpt adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements:

fEFreeOptift — LB L BIRE R
—NF=ZA=+—H KEEBE R FreeOptHy
B WE M B8 = 4931.38% - FARARER
FreeOptHI AR B B A M e F BB 4 B T
2,441,000  RBE-_ZT—-\F=A
T HALFENGEEERER-

FreeOptH A 5 45 (F AR A AR ©

TR RFreeOptz B ERME (EHRE
ARz ERFEHARL BGE B RE
RZREEYR)

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Current assets MENEE 462,385 352,679
Current liabilities mEaE (5,184) (3,332)
Net assets FEE 457,201 349,347
Included in the above assets: BRERLEHEE:
Cash and cash equivalents BekREZED 7,249 6,437
Reconciliation to the Group's interest HAEEREE ARz ERER:
in the joint venture:
Proportion of the Group's ownership AEBEEARELD 31.38% 39.16%
Carrying amount of the investment HEREE 143,470 136,804
Revenue g 25,167 17,653
Profit for the year FE % 20,608 14,589
Included in the above profit: BRER EUHEH
Income tax expense T8z 4,086 2,884

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED




The following table illustrated the Group's share of FreeOpt's

profits and losses:

TRV RAEE D (HFreeOpt 2 S F) K &

e

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Share of profits of a joint venture Dih—EEE R & 4,225 5,713
Futures Stock
Exchange Exchange
trading trading Insurance
rights rights license Total
BERG B3
5% X5 REEER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BETT BETT
Cost B%N
At 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017~ RZ=Z—X<ENA—H"
and 1 April 2017 —E—+F=ZA=+—H
RZE—+tFMA—A 1,736 - - 1,736
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—HRB AR - 14,500 909 15,409
At 31 March 2018 R-E-\F=A=1—H 1,736 14,500 909 17,145
Accumulated amortisation 2t
At 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017 RZZE—~EMA—AH-
and 1 April 2017 T —tF=A=1—H
RZE—t&MA—A - - - -
Amortisation provided FRCBERE
during the year - - - -
At 31 March 2018 RZZ-N\F=ZA=+—-H - - - -
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 March 2018 RZZ-\F=ZA=1+—-H 1,736 14,500 909 17,145
At 31 March 2017 R-_E—+F=A=1+—-H 1,736 - - 1,736

The trading rights and insurance license have been considered
to have indefinite lives because they are expected to contribute
to the net cash flows of the Group indefinitely, and are not

amortised.

RXHpELRBERERSEERERF
B AAERHAEEZFREREZE
R 428 PR 1) - UL 0 45 B 5 o
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2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Non-current IERE
Unlisted equity investment, at cost (note a) JE_ETRRIEIRE LKA 2
(Mt5Ea) 631,680 631,680
Listed equity investment in the Philippines, JEEE EMREERE EAFENE
at fair value (note b) (Fff7ED) 35,765 -
Unlisted but quoted investment fund in BEBELTEEREREES
Hong Kong, at fair value (note b) BAFESE (HiEb) - 31,803
667,445 663,483
Current i
Unlisted wealth management products, at JE LM EERER ZAFET=
fair value (note ) (FsEc) 1,833,235 -

Notes:

(@) Balance represented 15% equity interest in a full-licensed
securities company in China (Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade Zone
under the framework of the Closer Economic Partnership
Arrangement between Mainland China and Hong Kong held by
the Group.

(b)  The listed equity investment in the Philippines as at 31 March
2018 and unlisted but quoted investment fund in Hong Kong as
at 31 March 2017 were stated at fair values based on quoted
market prices in active markets at the end of the reporting
period.

(c) Balance represented the Group’s investment in wealth
management products from financial institutions in the PRC
which were not yet due nor early redeemed as at the end of the
reporting period.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED

GEE

() HHIEAEERE (RHESBEEREL
EERLCEBENRZY) EETRPE
(E8)EBHBEZHRBERBEE —H2ER
FEHRRIMI5%AHE -

(b) M=T-N\F=A=+-BMIFRELD
BB ERR-E—tF=A=+—AF
B LHEARENREESHEN RS
HRE RS T B RER AT EAR

(0 HEBREAEERRERARHKIHIET
BEOOTEEREENMEEEERE

S o

E\




2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Loans receivable FERE R 1,586,824 226,899
Less: Provision for impairment loss R EE e (320,000) -
1,266,824 226,899

Loans receivable represented receivables arising from the
provision of finance business of the Group, and bear interest at
rates ranging from 12% to 24% per annum (2017: 12% to
13% per annum).

As at 31 March 2018, all of the loans receivable were
unsecured. As at 31 March 2017, all of the loans receivable
were secured by personal guarantee given by an independent
third party.

An ageing analysis of loans receivable, determined based on
the age of the loans receivable since the effective drawn down
date of the loans, as at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

JEWETIEASBIREREERAEELEZ
JEWRIE B FINREF24E (T —+
FFFNRERIZE) MR L -

R-ZZE—NE=ZA=+—H FEEKE
ZHmEm - N E—+E=A=+—8 -
FTERKERIA—BBILE=FHEHOE
AERER -

ERERER

RBERR RERERBER
W E SRR ik 3 AT 40

HERfE 2 BRECRE E 2 JE
T

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT

Within 90 days 90H X 512,308 203,707
Between 91 to 180 days 91%2180H 194,692 23,192
Between 181 days to one year 181HE—F 879,824 -
1,586,824 226,899
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An ageing analysis of the loans receivable that are not
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the payment due date, is
as follows:

RBERR R FAHEZREE
(AR E R LB FRE) 2 Bk D

M

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Neither past due nor impaired AEH B KRBE 1,027,730 226,899
Less than 1 month past due BHEIE A AR 100,000 -
1 to 3 months past due A1 E3EA 139,094 -
1,266,824 226,899
Movements in the provision for impairment loss of loans RWEFTREERRENZEBHNT :
receivable are as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
At beginning of year REH] - 2,000
Provision/(reversal of provision) for BEEBBERE (BERE)
impairment loss 320,000 (2,000)
At end of year RER 320,000 —

As at 31 March 2018, loans receivable of HK$320,000,000
(2017: Nil) was individually impaired and the provision was
made. These were related to a number of third party customers
for whom the directors are of the view that the collection of
these loans receivable were not probable.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the reversal of provision
of impairment of loans receivable was included in the loss on
disposal of subsidiaries in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

Loans receivable that were neither past due nor impaired
related to a number of diversified borrowers for whom there
was no recent history of default.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED

N-ZBE-N\E=F=+—8B EKEILE
#320,000,0007T ( ZZF — 4 : ) & 7
BE EELEE ZERURERIREZ S
F=ARFP EFZRANEZFEWNER
KA BEIE TN K o

BE_Z—tF=A=T—HLEFE #&
ElEKEFRERERFABRmRTA
HEHB AR 2 EE-

ABPARREZERERERES L ARG
RAAER  ZFERALH T EHE RS-




Minimum lease Present value of minimum lease

payments receivable payments receivable
EWREHRESH RhSEEENT2BRE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\E “E—+F —E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BT T
(note) (note)
(F&E) (P=E)
Finance lease receivables comprise: EWEEMREFARE:
Within one year —FR 334,921 10,946 301,709 9,649
In more than one year but not —FUFETERAME
more than two years 268,550 3,599 247,763 3,500
603,471 14,545 549,472 13,149
Less; Unearned finance lease income i : R B EIR B E WA (53,999) (1,396) = -
Present value of minimum lease U SEEENHZAE
payments receivable 549,472 13,149 549,472 13,149
Analysed as: DA
2018 2017
—E-NE —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current finance lease receivables B EA pE W b & 1 & K08
(receivable within 12 months) (ZBRM1218 B R UER) 301,709 9,649
Non-current finance lease receivables JERDER Wy e A E FKIE
(receivable after 12 months and (71218 B 12 K248 A A UgEL)
within 24 months) 247,763 3,500
Finance lease receivables fE U gh & & )08 549,472 13,149
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Note:

As at the end of the reporting period, the minimum lease payments
receivable are presented using the prevailing the People’s Bank of
China ("PBC") rate.

Finance lease receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
related to a number of diversified borrowers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

GEE
RBEHF BUSERENREREBAR
57 (TREARRIT))BITFIELF -

KRB R RE 2 B AT B RERS AT
RIS - 52 51 5 A T B30 4 5 R 3245 -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF

Effective interest rates BEBRFE
Finance lease receivables FEU B E T & SRIR 5.46% — 13.32% 4.75%

Interest rate of variable-rate finance lease receivable is reset when
there is a change of the prevailing PBC rate.

An ageing analysis of factoring receivables, determined based
on the age of the factoring receivables since the effective
drawn down date of the loans, as at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

BIHN XA ENEEBRERERR N XA
TRARRITRITMEE(CEFERNRE

RMEPR REKREZRBEERER
IRENH HAE 2 BRAR S T 2 FE R IB RUAER
RO

2018 2017

—ZE-N\E —E—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Within 90 days 90HIN 213,660 110,494
Between 91 to 180 days 912180H 62,474 95,037
Between 181 days to one year 181HZ —F 22,490 63,140
Over one year —F M E 24,990 -
323,614 268,671
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An ageing analysis of the factoring receivables that are not

R¥IE IR RPN RAHE 2 BER

individually nor collectively considered to be impaired as at the BRRIE (WARKERKEBERIERRE) 2K
end of the reporting period, based on the payment due date, is ol (N
as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —t%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Neither past due nor impaired AEHHKRFE 323,614 268,671
Factoring receivables that were neither past due nor impaired RE A B ARFENERRERIEES BT
related to a number of diversified borrowers for whom there AERABTE ZEEBERAMEHY EEXR
was no recent history of default. FOEE o
Factoring receivables bear interest at rates ranging from 5% to EWRIBRIBOMEN FFESEE12E
12% (2017: 5% to 14%) per annum. —LtF 5BEE14E) -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Accounts receivable arising from the RBEEBBEPES 2 BWARR:
ordinary course of business of:
— Dealing in securities: —BHEE:
Margin clients FTRER 592,063 215,708
Clearing houses EEA 58,027 5,963
Brokers g - 906
— Insurance brokerage business —RER A4 E TS 578 7,541
— Futures brokerage business —HIE L ETE 6,622 186
— Financial guarantee business —REERES 24,432 -
681,722 230,304
Less: Provision for impairment loss ORE R (135,417) -
546,305 230,304
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The settlement terms of accounts receivable attributable to the
dealing in securities transactions are two days after the trade
date except for the balances with margin clients and cash
clients which are repayable on demand. The trading terms with
customers of the insurance brokerage business are mainly on
credit. The credit period for customers of the insurance
brokerage business is generally 30 days, extending up to 90
days for major customers. The settlement terms of accounts
receivable attributable to dealing in futures transactions and
financial guarantee business are repayable on demand and
generally up to 12 months, respectively.

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the trade date, is as follows:

BRAIREPLRRAESEP ZHEHRARENRE
B ERBEBEXBROEZEBUEREE

HARZHREME BRELLEEBTE
)E'E’]* FEREEZNRREAET — K

REBELEBEPHNEEH /30
EI ﬁﬁix%}fﬁ‘JTLEé?%%E e
BEXBLBERBREBREMNZ BYERN
%Eﬁﬂ DRI RBEREBREER —B&EZ12
BA -

RBERRNEUERENRRZ S AR Z K
g

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—+tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT

Within 90 days 90H N 681,641 230,304
Between 91 to 180 days 91&180H 81 -
681,722 230,304

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable that are not
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as
follows:

3 4 1619 1 B 8 A2 4 L L2 8 M R AR
BRI

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Neither past due nor impaired AEH B REE 546,020 230,304
Less than 1 month past due E B {E A LA A 165 -
1 to 3 months past due wHI1=31E A 39 -
Over 3 months past due 180 BA3E A LA £ 81 -
546,305 230,304
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The movements in provision for impairment of accounts
receivable are as follows:

RN FOREREESIAT :

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

At beginning of year RF ) = -
Provision for impairment loss R (B B 1 135,417 -
At end of year RER 135,417 -

As at 31 March 2018, accounts receivable in relation to margin
clients of HK$135,417,000 (2017: Nil) was individually impaired
and the provision was made. This was related to a third party
customer for whom the directors are of the view that the
collection of this account receivable was not probable.

As at 31 March 2018, except for margin loans receivable of
HK$592,063,000 (2017: HK$215,708,000), which were
secured by underlying equity securities amounted to
approximately HK$5,764,275,000 (2017: HK$2,012,954,000),
the Group did not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.

Trading limits are set for margin customers. The Group seeks to
maintain tight control over its outstanding accounts receivable
in order to minimise the credit risk. Overdue balances are
regularly monitored by management.

Accounts receivable that were past due but not impaired as at
31 March 2018 and 2017 related to a number of independent
clients that have a good track record with the Group and were
not impaired. Based on past experience, the directors of the
Company were of the opinion that no provision for impairment
was necessary in respect of these balances as there had not
been a significant change in credit quality and the balances
were still considered fully recoverable as at 31 March 2018 and
2017.

RZB-N\E=A=+—H BHEAEE
F 8 JE I BR 28 #5135,417,0000T (=&
—tF E)ERRE BEELEE - ZE
WER PR —R2E=ZFRF EERAK
[B1:Z W BR SR B AT BEME T K »

RZZE—NF=ZA=Z+—H BBE
592,063,000 (ZE —+F: K
215,708,0007T) 2 FEWFF R EF A S EEL
7B #55,764,275,000C ( — T —tF B
2,012,954,0007T ) 2 #8 B8 A% 75 35 5 1E 1K 19
MmN REBEWERZELEHRTHEAIK
7 on kB A = FR G SR 15 16 o

FREFPXEBERBRG -AEEH NS
HOR Mo 00 Wi B R A B R 2 B AR A
EERBBRERE - EEETHERBY
KEER e

KRB N\FER-_FT—tF=A=+—H
BB MERRERNRBEERR S &SR EK
SEAGRUFECENBILTR - RIE
BEER ARAEFARBARZSTHE
BIELRERE RAREELERYES
R BZFHEHBN T N\FR-F
—tF=ZA=1T - HNEE/AIBEK
[E] o
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2018 2017

—E-N\EF —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Notes receivable JEW Z B 600,000 1,200,000
Less: balances due within one year included & : st AREBEER —FRNEIHZ

in current assets i (600,000) (800,000)

Non-current portion JEBNHAEL 2 = 400,000

As at 31 March 2018, balance represented a promissory note in
relation to the disposal of an available-for-sale investment of
the Group. The promissory note is with principal amount of
HK$600,000,000 with zero coupon and repayable in August
2018. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, in April
2018, the Group entered into an agreement with the issuer of
the promissory note (the “Purchaser”) that the Purchaser
agreed to allot and issue new shares to the Group,
representing approximately 23.94% of the total issued share
capital of the Purchaser, at a consideration of HK$600,000,000
and the Group agreed to return the promissory note to the
Purchaser for cancellation of the promissory note.

As at 31 March 2017, balance represented three promissory
notes in relation to the disposal of a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company. These promissory notes were with principal
amount of HK$400,000,000 each, bore interest at 5% per
annum and were repayable in June 2017, December 2017 and
June 2018, respectively. These promissory notes were fully
settled during the year ended 31 March 2018.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED

RIE—NFZA=Z+—8 E%EEH
HEASEIHEERER AN FEE K
HEE A SR A B 600,000,000t Z
ERBARZZE—/N\FNAEE -REHK
% RZEBE—N\FWUA AEESEEKTER
META(NERD L HE EAREMNU
R B 1600,000,0007T [A) 2N £ B A 35 1 3%
TEFBRO(BEAFE2HEEHTRAY
23.94% )  MASEREHE L EIREE
FTER  AFHEEALEE-

R-E—+F=ZA=+—8 E%HIEEH
HEARNA—M2EH B AR = &R
ZR-ZEAREBSANKISERBR
400,000,0007T  # G F5F 58 D A A
RZE—F A ZE—tF+-AK
ZE- N\ENABE - ZEANEEDR
HE T \FZA=+t—BILFERE
BB -




2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT I
Non-current JEENHA
Deposits e 16,945 17,695
Current BIHA
Prepayments and deposits FERRERZS 8,545 8,590
Interest receivables from notes receivable  JEUWZE 1% 2 FE I F & - 18,740
Other receivables H th & 5K IB
— Commission receivables —EWH e 3,742 -
— Other trading income — B HWA 30,895 -
— Due from associates L4 NS E e - 4,461
- Others —E b 6,315 2,497
49,497 34,288

The balance of other receivables is neither past due nor
impaired and the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the balance is fully recoverable.

H At W IR AR R AR BH B RBIE &
NEEERDRAERA T -

Listed equity investments, at market value W E LA

The investments as at 31 March 2018 and 2017 were classified
as held for trading. The Group’s investments at fair value
through profit or loss with an aggregate carrying value at the
end of the reporting period of approximately HK$404,764,000
(2017: HK$341,544,000) were pledged to a financial institution
to secure a bank loan provided to the Group for the years
ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 (note 38).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
aggregate market value of listed securities held by the Group
as at 31 March 2018 was approximately HK$131,251,000
(2017: HK$346,375,000).

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T
408,497 362,100

RZE-N\FERZF—tF=A=+—H
ZIRENDEAFIEEEER - RIEHR
AEBEBEZARAFENRZREZE
42 B #) 575 #404,764,0000C (—F—+
& JB¥E341,544,0000) " HE T —\F

—E—+F A=+ —HIFE BEF
TR mEE WERAEEER Y, —18
IRITER (FE38) °

PHEZETHREAR AEER=-F
—\FZAZ+—HFBEZLTESHZLE
B 4 &7 131,251,000t (ZZE—+
£ : 5 #346,375,0007T ) °
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Balance represented bank deposits in the PRC required by
banks or related government regulations for the financial
guarantees provided to third parties by the Group, and for the
bank loans provided to the Group at the end of the reporting
period.

RERIERSHIRRITHAABEBIDERAA
SERH‘ETF=THNREERLEH/RTA
RENRITEREROTBERITER-

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Cash and bank balances Be RIETHE 1,302,157 614,918

As at 31 March 2018, except for the balances of
HK$6,830,000 (2017: HK$942,000) and HK$24,061,000 (2017:
HK$97,000) which are denominated in RMB and USS$,
respectively, all the cash and bank balances of the Group were
denominated in functional currencies.

Certain cash at banks of the Group earns interest at floating
rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The carrying amounts
of the cash and bank balances approximate to their fair values.

The Group maintains trust accounts with authorised institutions
in respect of clients’ monies arising from the course of
securities brokerage, futures brokerage and insurance
brokerage businesses. As at 31 March 2018, HK$151,950,000
(2017: HK$108,404,000) was held by the Group on behalf of
the clients in the trust accounts. The client monies as at 31
March 2018 and 2017 were not included in the Group's cash
and bank balances.

The balances as at 31 March 2018, based on the trade date,
were all aged within 90 days (31 March 2017: 90 days).

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED

R-ZE—NFEF=ZA=Z+—H KBEE
6,830,0007C (=& — £ 4F : & 1942,000
TC) M #24,061,00000 (ZE—+F 5
#597,0007T) 2 & D RIAA R R ETT
FEIN AEBNFERE RIRITEHNU
e EEETE-

AEERRTZETRERESARTE
RAMRZFHF R B - HE RIRITHE
ZEEEERE A FERES

REBRERERBERITERP T
NEHEL PELCLRRBELERB
BREAZEFFBE - RN-_ZT—/\F=A
—t+—H FAEEREREFRITEREFF
BB 151,950,000 (—Z T —+F B
108,404,000L) " R ZE—NFR=F
—tF =A==+ HNEPHREILETA
REEB RS RBITHEE-

RZE—N\F=ZA=+—H X HH
ENEBRREBEHAOBE (ZE—+LF=
A=+—H:90B)R-




2018 2017

—E-NF —E—+1F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Non-current JEENHA
Promissory notes payable (note a) FER AR RE (Mista) 202,800 -
Current BOHA
Accrued expenses e 10,559 5,663
Interest payables FEAT A2 7,584 4,946
Deferred income RIEWA 1,291 -
Other payables E b & 3B 32,155 3,621
Security deposits received (note b) BRRES (KMsEb) 84,485 -
136,074 14,230
Notes: B 5 -
(a) Balance represented consideration payable in relation to the (a)  EEERIEBLMIFEISPTE U BB Wins Financel&
acquisition of Wins Finance as set out in note 35. RRAE -
(b) Balance represented deposits received from customers as (b) HRERTEBEETHEZRRERERK
collateral for loan facilities granted by the Group. Such deposits BERERGNEE ZEEREREE
are interest-free and will be returned to customers after the HRERERDRERBERETE,

relevant loan agreements expire.
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2018 2017
—E-N\F ZE—tF
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000 (%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000
BBRFAE B F X
(%) Elp:cgs BT (%) B HH BETT
Current BN ER
Bank borrowings RITIEE
- secured (note (b)) —BHEA (MzEb) 4.56 2019 157,000 4.51 2018 200,000
- secured (note (c)) —-BEA Q) 5.46-5.75 2018 120,091 NAT#EA  NATEA -
- unsecured (note (d)) —EEA (M) 8.66  2018-2019 15,000 NATER NATER -
- secured (note (e)) ~BER (W) 2.5-2.8 2018 70,000 NAT#EA NATEA -
Other borrowings HifEE
- unsecured (note (f)) —\HER (M) 18.26 2018 50,000 N/ANEA NATER -
- secured (note (i) —~HHER (M) 6.00 2019 43,052 NATEB NATER -
- secured (note (g)) ~BEA (HEQ) 7.12 2019 234,987 NAT@EA  NAT#ERE -
690,130 200,000
Non-current FEENHR
Bank borrowings BIEE
- unsecured (note (d)) —EEA (M) 8.66  2020-2021 78,000 NATEA NATEA -
- secured (note (c)) - BHERF (M) 5.46-5.75 2020 25445 NATER NATER -
Other borrowings Hig g
- secured (note (h)) ~HER (MzEh) 8.20 2020 702,000 8.04 2020 702,000
- secured (note (g)) - BHEA (M) 7.12 2020 548,304 NATEA NATEA -
- secured (note (i) —BEA (M) 6.00 2019 6,944 NATEE NATER -
- unsecured (note (j)) —EER (M) 4.97 2022 10,000 4.97 2022 10,000
- unsecured (note (k)) —EEA (k) 4.97 2023 20,000 4.97 2023 20,000
1,390,693 732,000

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED




2018 2017
—E-NF —ZT—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Analysed into: paR il
Bank borrowings repayable within one year AR —F NEE ZRITEE 362,091 200,000
Bank borrowings repayable after two years ZERMEEEBRFERNER 2 E1T
but within five years BE 103,445 -
Other borrowings repayable within one AR—FANEERECHEMEER
year 328,039 -
Other borrowings repayable after two BRMERELFANERZ EAM
years but within five years fﬁ 1,287,248 702,000
Other borrowings repayable beyond five hFEREREZHMEE
years — 30,000
2,080,823 932,000
Notes: p
(@) Asat 31 March 2018, except for the secured other borrowings of (@ RZZE-—N\F=ZA=+—H BREHERH
approximately HK$234,987,000 (2017: Nil), HK$702,000,000 Ho t B8 40 %5 45 234,987, 0007z<_ —+
(2017: HK$702,000,000) and HK$548,304,000 (2017: Nil) which &) B %702,000,000T (ZF—+

were denominated in US$, all borrowings of the Group as at 31
March 2018 and 2017 were denominated in functional
currencies.

In January 2017, the Company obtained a loan facility of
HK$200,000,000 with interest bearing at the Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") plus 3.5% per annum,
repayable in January 2018, and secured by certain investments at
fair value through profit or loss with an aggregate carrying value
of approximately HK$404,764,000 at 31 March 2018 and
personal guarantee given by Mr. Zhang Yongdong (“Mr. Zhang”),
a substantial shareholder of the Company. In January 2018, such

% %702,000,0007T) &/a s
548,304,0007T (ZZE—+F : #\) U ET
FEN RZZE—NEFER=_ZFT—+tF=A
=t+—H AEEMAEENINEEET
=K

RZE—+tF— A AR BB —$FK
200,000,000t > E X B E - IZ BB IRTT
REFRS ([EERTAERS])NEF
35BFEAR-ZZE—N\F—AEE U
R_ZE—N\F=ZA=+—BHHEEMENS
404,764,000 E THEBEZUATF
BEYRZ IR E MRKEELE ([REE]
BARBEERE)EDHEAERK

loan facility was renewed with interest rate revised to HIBOR plus W RZE-—NF—A ZEXMREE
4.5% per annum and maturity revised to January 2019. R % 1‘*3&%%%?&1?“%?}? SYIIESES
45E - BIERREET AT —NF—A-

Bank borrowings of RMB116,478,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$145,536,000) with interest bearing at rates
ranging from 5.46% to 5.75% per annum and repayable within
three years by instalments were secured by bank deposits of
RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$35,214,000)
and a corporate guarantee given by a third party.

In February 2018, the Company obtained an unsecured banking
facility of HK$93,000,000 with interest bearing at Hong Kong
Dollar Prime Rate plus 3% per annum and repayable by
instalments in three years.

?;zu?tES A6[EE5.75E M FREHE -

BRZFANHEENRITEEARE
116,478,0007E (HBEROEBE
145,536,00070) ' LB ITHER AR
30,000,0007T (8% R 49745 #35,214,000
L) R—BEZFER D RIERIEE -

RZZE—NFZA AQARREG—F&IK
R 17 R0 & 5 #593,000,0007T © I8 &
BEMNENGFIEFE AR=ZFAD
HEE -
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Notes:

Bank borrowings of HK$70,000,000 with interest bearing at rates
ranging from 2.5% to 2.8% per annum and repayable within
one year were secured by charges over client’s pledged
securities.

In March 2018, the Company obtained an unsecured term loan
of HK$50,000,000 with interest bearing at 1.4% per month and
repayable within one year.

In March 2018, the Company issued two notes payable with
principal amounts of US$30,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$234,987,000) (“Note A”) and US$70,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$548,304,000) (“Note B” and
collectively with Note A referred to as the “Notes”). The Notes
bear interest at 7% per annum and were secured by certain
shares in the capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, approximately 7.26% equity interest of Wins Finance
held by the Group, certain shares of the Company held by Mr.
Zhang and personal guarantees given by Mr. Zhang and his
spouse. Note A was repayable in March 2019 and Note B was
repayable in March 2020.

In March 2017, the Company obtained a loan facility of
US$90,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$702,000,000)
with interest bearing at rates ranging from 7.5% to 8.0% per
annum payable annually in arrears, repayable in March 2020,
and secured by the shares in the capital of certain wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company, 10% equity interest of Wins
Finance held by the Group and personal guarantees given by Mr.
Zhang and his spouse.

Other borrowings of RMB40,015,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$49,996,000) with interest bearing at 6.0% per
annum and repayable by instalments in January and October
2019 were secured by certain finance lease receivables with
carrying amount of RMB27,169,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$33,947,000).

In June 2015, the Company issued an unsecured note with a
principal amount of HK$10,000,000 to an independent third
party, bearing interest at 5% per annum payable annually in
arrears. The note is repayable in June 2022.

In May 2016, the Company issued a two unsecured notes with a
total principal amount of HK$10,000,000 each to two
independent third parties, bearing interest at 5% per annum
payable annually in arrears. Both notes are repayable in May
2023.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED

W3 :

RITE E B 70,000,000 RN F B E
25EE28EMFEE - ER—FRAD
HEE URPHNEEMEHRIER-

RZE—N\F=ZA ARaBEEEKHEE
HY B X6 50,000,000 IR T A 1.4
FHECAR—FRNEE-

RZZE—NF=R  ARABFITMHESS
=& K4 E 5 5 A30,000,000% 7T (8
B R #76%234,987,0007) ([EH#EA])
}&70,000,000% T (8 E R B
548,304,0007T) ([ZiEB ] HEEAL
BIZER]) ZRESFIEE  UEARQ
A—HEZEWNBARBRAFETRMD K
£ @A Wins Finance#17.26% % AN 1
mOREEREMETARERM U KLER
o R EFRBIE A B A PRI - IR
ABR-ZZT—NF=AEE ZEBEAR-
T-_TFZFEE-

RZBE—+tF=F ARANE—%$4%
£90,000,000F T (FHE R LB
702,000,0007T) B EHELE - FIENFF
FISEESOE BEFHAIMT -ZE
REBMEAR-_ZT_ZTF=AEE UELQ
RIETE2EMBARKRATHRG K&
B A /MWins Finance 10%A% 27 %5 &
SRS ME B IE L A E A PRI IF

REFOEMNFERFTE -ARZT—NF
—ARTATHEENEMEREARE
40,015,0007T (1HE M #7481 49,996,000
J0) c LABREE A R#27,169,0007T (17
B R #)7533,947,0007T) B T E UL RL
BHEREE

RZZE—RAFNA ARAIM—BBILE
= HBITAREERB10,000,0007T 7 £
W RS FSE B ARNETFHE
SN REEAER S _FABE-

RZZE—XRNFRA ARAAIMMEBLE
=HETABEES B AB%10,000,000
TTZPAMEEREE  NEAEGF5E A
REBFHRRIN MR EHER-E
—=FRAEE-




During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company issued HE_Z—-\FZA=Z+—BLFE K
two convertible bonds with details set out as follows: NRVEITMHL AR ES - FFBEEANOT

On 6 June 2017, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with a subsidiary of China
Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd. (the “First
Subscriber”, whose shares are listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2799), in relation to the
issue of the First Convertible Bonds in the principal
amount of US$100,000,000 with conversion rights to
convert the principal amount thereof into the shares of
the Company at the conversion price of HK$0.425. Upon
conversion of the First Convertible Bonds, the principal
amount of the First Convertible Bonds shall be exchanged
to HK$ based on the fixed exchange rate of
US$1:HK$7.8. The conversion period shall begin six
months after the issue date and end on five trading days
before the maturity date.

The issue price was 100% of the principal amount of the
First Convertible Bonds. The First Convertible Bonds bore
interest at 4% per annum payable semi-annually in
arrears. The imputed interest on the First Convertible
Bonds was calculated using the effective interest rate at
18.10% per annum. The First Convertible Bonds shall
mature on the second anniversary of its issue date.

The First Convertible Bonds were secured by 30% equity
interest of Wins Finance held by the Group to the First
Subscriber.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, convertible bonds
with principal amount of US$1,000,000 were converted
into 18,352,941 ordinary shares. The outstanding
principal amount of the First Convertible Bonds as at 31
March 2018 amounted to US$99,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$772,200,000).

RZZE—tF/NANB AAFHEF
BEmEEERRNHERATHN—ME
WEAR ([BEREBEA ERHORV
Bt BT E AR £ B R 5R 1 2799)
P 1TN 4 %8 5100,000,0003% 7T HY
B BRRES (M IRERERE
0.425 TS H A & R A A A ) AR
HREBE) T —HRERE-R
B AR E S E S s R
EHHNASREBIEIETLBETS
TC B [ E E R N K B o BRI R
EITH BB S A RLE - WK EIH
BRI REERSH4

BoEABHM T ERESFANSEN
100% - BHE AT R EH LT F4ER
B MEAGEFHEI T gt
MR ESREER BT ERERFF
L1 I10EFTE -BEBH AT RBRESH 15
REEITHEE —RFERH-

BT ES B AEEF A Wins
Finance 30% R AT T HER
A

HE-"Z—N\E=A=1+—81*%
€ - N4 % /&1,000,0003 7T #Y 7] #
AR (& A B k18,352,941 B 5@ A%
R-ZE—NE=A=+—8 &H#ta
BREFNREERAEE AR
99,000,000 7T (HHE R KB
772,200,0007T) °
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On 24 August 2017, the Company entered into another
subscription agreement with a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Huarong Investment Stock Corporation Limited (the
“Second Subscriber”, whose shares are listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2277), in
relation to the issue of the Second Convertible Bonds in
the principal amount of HK$437,000,000 with conversion
rights to convert the principal amount thereof into the
shares of the Company at the conversion price of
HK$0.425. The conversion period shall begin six months
after the issue date and end on five trading days before
the maturity date.

The issue price was 100% of the principal amount of the
Second Convertible Bonds. The Second Convertible Bonds
bore interest at 4% per annum payable semi-annually in
arrears. The imputed interest on the Second Convertible
Bonds was calculated using the effective interest rate at
17.93% per annum. The Second Convertible Bonds shall
mature on the second anniversary of its issue date.

The Second Convertible Bonds were secured by 15%
equity interest of the Securities Company, an available
for-sale investment held by the Group to the Second
Subscriber.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, no conversion
rights attaching to the Second Convertible Bonds were
exercised. The outstanding principal amount of the
Second Convertible Bonds as at 31 March 2018
amounted to HK$437,000,000.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED

R-_ZE—+tFENA-+WMHE AAF
HERIGEROARARN—HEE
MEAR ([E-RREALl ERH
ABE R T ER LT B AR5
277 )BTRS E A B
437,000,000 T W9 25 — $L ] R B (B 35
(P IR BB 0.425 T EAS
REE IR AN N B AR D MBS IR RE ) RT3
S RE W - B AR ETTH
Bt N8 A Bt - WA EIHA B AT A (&
AR

BITEAF M BRRESNSEN
100% ° ””—Tttﬁﬁﬁ%fﬁfim_
FTECFBESYFHESN-H
AR ESFNHEF B ERAER
FRNE1793EE - F Al TR
BEHEBRBETHHE _RFRH-

FE A MREFUREEFFHA]
HHERE (REFRAKI5%EA
o) EATE_ZRBEA

:Kt E-NFE=ZA=+—HIF
= B AT IR RR 15 S BT 7 ) B R A
ﬂ%ﬁ fﬂ% RZZE—-—NF=ZA
+— THRT R E SR R E
$é%ﬁ7%/%m%437 000,0007T °
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The convertible bonds recognised in the consolidated

AN
\12‘/Tl:l

Eﬁi‘“#&i‘%ﬁﬁu% R IR R E 5732

financial statements are calculated as follows: INTAHREFE
2018
—E-N\F
First Second
Convertible Convertible
Bonds Bonds Total
BitAgl FitAeR
BE& BEH e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T BT
Face value of convertible bonds A # % & 5 1A 8517 B Bf 19
at the date of issuance [ERED 778,760 437,000 1,215,760
Equity component i (182,808) (100,631) (283,439)
Liability component on initial 7 217 B 88 4] 25 3R B Y
recognition at the date of BEHD
issuance 595,952 336,369 932,321
Finance costs (note 7) BB (MEE7) 90,197 34,010 124,207
Interest paid EAFLE (15,729) (8,716) (24,445)
Conversion options exercised  4F A 77 {5 B 85 40
during the year (6,660) - (6,660)
Liability component as at RZZE-NF
31 March 2018 Z“A=t—BNaEmn
7 663,760 361,663 1,025,423

RESHRMREZERARAA
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EXEBEEE,/ (BE)RFARZES

The movements in deferred tax assets/(liability) during the year

152

are as follows: N
Unrealised
fair value
gains of
investments
at fair value Provision Provision
through  Accelerated for for
profit or tax impairment  guarantee  Intangible
loss  depreciation loss losses assets Total
EBBEHEN
PRV
ZRENKE
RATERE MERERE AESERE BREXRE BREE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BETT BETT BT BETT BETT
At 1 April 2016 RZE-R E0A—H (4,125) 119 - - (4,006)
Deferred tax credited/ & A/ (MK EB)&REEH
(charged) to the RERIERE
consolidated statement ~ (B{5E10)
of profit or loss
(note 10) 4,057 (119) - - 3,938
31 March 2017 and —T+F
1 April 2017 ZA=+-HkK
—T—+FHMA-R (68) - - - (68)
Acquisition of subsidiaries Y& K1 B 2 &) - 1,660 (2,247) (2,542) (3,129)
Deferred tax credited/ A/ (MK EB)GFEEH
(charged) to the FHETERIE
consolidated statement  (B#5E10)
of profit or loss
(note 10) - (255) - - (255)
Exchange difference EHESR - 105 (153) - (48)
At 31 March 2018 RZE-N\F
=RA=+—H (68) 1,510 (2,400) (2,542) (3,500)

At 31 March 2018, the Group had tax losses arising in Hong
Kong of approximately HK$1,715,917,000 (2017:
HK$1,537,184,000), subject to the agreement by the Hong
Kong Inland Revenue Department, that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have
not been recognised at the end of the reporting period in
respect of these losses as they have arisen in companies that
have been loss-making for some time or due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams of those companies,
and accordingly, it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED

RZZ—N\FZA=+—RH KEEAEES
EEZTRIBEIEY AE%1,715917,0007T
— T — 4 #1,537,184,0000T) (B
FEBRERARE) ZEREBIBAUER
HAERBEEEEBERZ AR Z A RERT
A e AR XS BREEIE Z AR BB
AR RBERETEZS AR Z R mF R
MU AR B K A] RE B ERR T i FI A A] &) A
2 RIBE B B RS BRI &%
EEERERELEHRBEEE-




Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is payable for BERBEMCEMERE ARTEMEA

dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC AIEZZEENF—A— A REREA T AT
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 awards. Deferred taxation has BRI BAATENTL o W ML LR & B 75
not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements BEPHTBMB AR Z Rt ERTEF
in respect of temporary differences attributable to the FE (R B E B 2= RE 5 #5578,780,0000T (=&
accumulated taxable profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting —+F B¥11,015,00070) ERFIE - R
to HK$578,780,000 (2017: HK$11,015,000) as the Group is ESPRN SEL e R eIk i kS
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary BER B a0 SRR AT g T & # Bl & iy =
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences Ho

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Authorised: JETE
5,000,000,000,000 5,000,000,000,0000% ( —ZE—+
(2017: 5,000,000,000,000) ordinary £ :5,000,000,000,0000% ) & A%
shares of HK$0.001 (2017: HK$0.001) H{EB®0.001 T (ZF—EF:
each B #0.0017T) 2 @A 5,000,000 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEREITRHER:
15,663,401,881 (2017: 14,324,137,300)  15,663,401,8810 ( = F —+ 4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.001 (2017: 14,324,137,3000% ) T E@ E
HK$0.001) each ¥0.001L (ZZE—tF: B
0.0017T) Z EimAx 15,663 14,324
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A summary of the movements of the Company’s issued capital

ARBEETRARB D EERZ ZBH

and share premium account is as follows: MRk -
Share
No. of premium
shares Issued account
in issue capital (note a) Total
BETRE B RER
# B BRITRAK (Hi5Fa) B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BETT BETT
At 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017 and 1 R-ZT—R~EMA—H-
April 2017 “E—+FZR=t-HE=Z
—+tFMA—H 14,324,137,300 14,324 2,222,353 2,236,677
Issue of shares upon exercise of warrants 7171 A% 1 B F 17D
(note b) (Kistb) 1,376,551,640 1,377 538,232 539,609
Share issue expenses (note b) B EBITHRE (Mth) - - (15,775) (15,775)
Shares repurchased and cancelled (note ¢) 2 B @ 2 7 #8117 (B sEc) (55,640,000) (56) (26,359) (26,415)
Issue of shares upon conversion of REATRREFRETRND
convertible bonds (note d) (PzEd) 18,352,941 18 8,484 8,502
At 31 March 2018 WZE-NF=fA=+-H 15663401881 15663 2726935 2,742,598

Notes: B2k

(a) Share issue expenses of HK$1,350,000, HK$42,000 and (a)
HK$6,000,000, which were paid to a subsidiary of the Company
during the years ended 31 March 2010, 31 March 2014 and 31
March 2016, respectively, were eliminated in full at
consolidation. Such share issue expenses were deducted from the
share premium account balance of the Company.

(b) In June 2017, the Company issued 1,376,551,640 new shares (b)
with par value of HK$0.001 each at a subscription price of
HK$0.382 each upon exercise of warrants for a total cash
consideration of HK$539,609,000 (before subscription expenses
of HK$15,775,000).

As at 31 March 2018, the Company had no outstanding
warrants after all the remaining warrants expired.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED

f& 19 8 17 F S % 1,350,000 ~ B &
42,0007T M 7 #6,000,0007C B 2 BIAE
E-T-TF-_A=-+—H —T—NUF
—A=F+—HBER=ZE—X"F¥=A=+—H
IFFEINFARARZ —HWBRAR B
RERE R BEEHE ZERDBITHIE
WARBBRAD HERBEER IR -

RZZE—tFRNA ARARRBRIEEE
TERIE RIE BT IR B ¥0.382 L 8
771,376,551,6400% 5 i% [ B /5 #0.001 7T
2R - 423 & R (B BB %539,609,000
T (RINBREREE R A% 15,775,0000T ) °

RZE-N\F=ZA=+—H EMEHT
RBHEFEMR - ARBLEARITENR
P RE o




() During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company (0 BEZZE-—NF=ZA=+—HLFE K
repurchased its own shares on the Stock Exchange with details NEIREE R B &Rk SFIEEYIN
set out as follows: T
Highest Lowest
No. of price price
shares paid per paid per Aggregate
Month/year F,/ A repurchased share share price paid
BOky ZANHEKR IETHNEKR
#E = BB RIEEE BXMRE
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
7 okt BT T
December 2017 —t¥+-A 55,640,000 0.500 0.435 26,415
In January 2018, all 55,640,000 shares repurchased were RZZT—\F—H FFHE55,640,000/% %
cancelled and accordingly the issued share capital of the B % 17 4% 5 88 + AR A B BT IR AN A FER
Company was reduced by the nominal value of these shares. The DRERMHEE- ?JE%@%HE’U?EEE
premium payable on repurchase was charged against the share el mEERP MR
premium account.
(d) In March 2018, the Company issued 18,352,941 new shares with d RZZT-—NF=A EAX2BEA
par value of HK$0.001 each at a conversion price of HK$0.425 1,000,000% 7t (#HE R 494 #7,800,000
each upon conversion of convertible bonds with principal TL) B AR IR B HF TR & AR E A
amount of US$1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately MEGRKRAB®0.4257081718,352,9410%
HK$7,800,000) (note 30). BREEEK0.001 T RG (K&
30) e
The share option scheme of the Company was approved and RZE——FNA=Z+—HETHNERA

adopted by the shareholders at the annual general meeting
held on 31 August 2012 (the “2012 Scheme”) with a term of
ten years commencing from 31 August 2012.

FRE L BRERBERRAKR R R BAE
& (=
NA=Z+—BEFTFHERER-

T EHE]) moF-—f
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The primary purpose of the 2012 Scheme is to provide
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and to encourage participants to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company and its
shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole. Further details of the 2012 Scheme were disclosed in
the Company’s circular dated 25 July 2012.

The categories of the participants under the 2012 Scheme are
any directors (including executive directors, non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors) of the
Company and its subsidiaries and employees of the Group and
any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters, service providers to the Group whom the
board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) considers, in
its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the
Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, make an offer to any
participant to take up share options. An offer is deemed to
have been accepted and a share option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted and shall take effect when the
duplicate of the offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer
duly signed by the grantee and the remittance of HK$1 by way
of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the
Company. Share options granted may be exercised during the
period as notified by the Board to each grantee at the time of
making the offer and shall be at any time from the date of
grant to the tenth anniversary thereof.

The total number of ordinary shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options granted under the 2012 Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
(excluding share options lapsed) must not exceed 10% of the
total number of the Company’s ordinary shares in issue on
respective adoption date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit").
Moreover, the maximum number of ordinary shares in respect
of which share options may be granted to each of the
participants (including both exercised and outstanding options)
under the 2012 Scheme in any 12-month period shall not
(when aggregated with any shares subject to any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company) exceed 1% of the
Company’s ordinary shares in issue. The Company may renew
the Scheme Mandate Limit at any time subject to prior
shareholders’” approval in general meeting and the Stock
Exchange granting listing of and permission to deal in the
Company’s shares to be issued upon exercise of options
pursuant to the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit.
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The subscription price for shares on the exercise of share options
under the 2012 Scheme shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less than the
greatest of: (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated
in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date on which a share option is granted; (i) the average closing
price of the Company’s share as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date on which a share option is
granted; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The Scheme Mandate Limit was refreshed to 68,827,582 shares
with par value of HK$0.01 each upon the approval of
shareholders at the Company’s annual general meeting on 28
August 2014. The total number of shares available for issue
under the 2012 Scheme was revised upon the completion of
the share subdivision in December 2014 to 688,275,820 shares
with par value of HK$0.001 each.

The following share options were outstanding under the 2012
Scheme during the year:

Number of shares

RIE-FT— —FFFETTERBRER O
ZRBEHEZTSENBEE HEME
ABERTHIEERTIZRESE ()R
R EAER AR RRD AR EH
WEXMMBRZEHE: (DARBBRNDRE
EROBRERHAEE XA EBR
AMERAR 2 FHRHE : RiiDARQ
AR EE-

BRER-_ZE—MFNA=+NBEBREZ
RARREBFRE FHOEE  FHEIRE
PR 5E4& B #1£68,827,5820% T A% H B /5 1
0012l - R_E—WE+ = ARH
FHTRE B - — —Fat & a3
T2 B BB E] £688,275,820/% &%
EE A #0.0017T Z XD °

TIREBE T ——F 8RB 2 BEER
FRRARITE:

options**
BRERE
Granted/
exercised/
cancelled/ Date of Exercise
At transfer At grant of period Exercise
1 April during 31 March share of share  price of share
2017 the year 2018 options* options options**
R OERERL/ i
“E-tF fAfE/E%/  —E-N\E BRER L g
mA-H Zf ZA=t-H 2Rk BRETEY TR E*
'000 '000 '000 HKS per share
Tk Tk Tk BREE
Director B2
23-4-2015 23-4-2015 to 22-4-2025
“F-RF ZE-RFMACTZRE
In aggregate @it 100,000 - 100000 MA-+=H —Z-RFMA-1+=H 049
Weighted average MEFHTRE HK$0.49 HK$0.49
exercise price 75150497 - BB04IT
Non-employees ¥EE
23-4-2015 23-4-2015 to 22-4-2025
ZZ-1F ZE-RfMA-+=HZ
In aggregate @it 588,276 - 588276 WMA-+=H C“E-RFNA-tZAH 0.49
Weighted average METHATERE HK$0.49 HK$0.49
exercise price 5850497 - BB049T
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The following share options were outstanding under the 2012
Scheme during the year: (Continued)

THRE-ZT——FrralRbzBRER
FRRARITE: (&)

Number of shares
options**
RREHR
Granted/
exercised/ Date of Exercise
At cancelled Transfer At grant of period Exercise
1 April during during 31 March share of share price of share
2016 the year the year 2017 options* options options**
Z3NE ERRL/ ZE-tf BRER U
MA-B 1/ FRER ZA=+-H A BRETRS TR
000 '000 '000 '000 HKS per share
TR R T TR BRE%
Director EES
23-4-2015 23-4-2015 to 22-4-2025
Z3-nf ZE-RENACT=AE
In aggregate Bt 200,000 - (100,000) 100000 MAZ-tZ=AH “E-RERMA-TZH 049
Weighted average MEFHTEE HK$0.49 - HKS0.49 HK$0.49
exercise price 0497 BRI B0
Non-employees FEE
23-4-2015 23-4-2015 to 22-4-2025
—%-1% Z3-REMAZTZRE
In aggregate @it 488,276 - 100,000%** 588,276 MA-+=H “RCRENAZTZH 0.49
Weighted average METHIEE HK$0.49 - HK$0.49 HK$0.49
exercise price B140.4970 AE049T AR
* The vesting period of the share options was from the date of * ISR E 2 B BB R BB R 21T

grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

**  The exercise price and the number of the shares options are
subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or
other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

***  Transfer upon resignation of a director during the year ended 31
March 2017.

On 23 April 2015, 200,000,000 and 488,275,820 share
options to subscribe for the ordinary shares in the capital of
the Company at an exercise price of HK$0.49 each were
granted by the Company to directors of the Company and non-
employees of the Group, respectively, under the 2012 Scheme.
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As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Company had
688,275,820 shares options outstanding under 2012 Scheme.
The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would,
under the present capital structure of the Company, result in
the issue of 688,275,820 additional ordinary shares of the
Company and additional share capital of approximately
HK$688,000 and share premium of approximately
HK$336,567,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the Company had 688,275,820 shares options
outstanding under the 2012 Scheme, which represented
approximately 4.4% of the Company’s shares in issue as at
that date.

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity.

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in share premium account are
distributable to shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

The convertible bonds equity reserve represents the
value of the unexercised equity component of
convertible bonds issued by the Company. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with accounting
policies set out in note 2.4(w).

The share option reserve represents the portion of
the grant date fair value of unexercised share
options granted to eligible participants that has
been recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for share-based payments in note
2.4(s).
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The warrant reserve represents the aggregate
consideration for the issue of 1,376,551,640 First
Warrants and 688,275,820 Second Warrants, both
of which were issued at HK$0.01 each on 26 June
2015. The First Warrants and Second Warrants
entitled the holders to subscribe for 1,376,551,640
and 688,275,820 ordinary shares at subscription
prices of HK$0.43 (adjusted: HK$0.382) and
HK$0.55 (adjusted: HK$0.489) each, respectively
during the period of two years commencing from
the date of issue. During the year ended 31 March
2018, 1,376,551,460 warrants (2017: Nil) were
exercised and the remaining warrants expired.

In prior years, the Company repurchased its own
ordinary shares and those repurchased shares were
cancelled. The premium payable on repurchase was
charged against the share premium account and
transferred to the capital redemption reserve.

The distributable reserve arose from prior years
including:

(@) the Company effected a capital reorganisation
which involved (i) consolidation of shares; (ii)
capital reduction; and (iii) the application of
the credit arising from such reduction towards
the distributable reserve of the Company;

(b) deemed disposals of partial interests in
subsidiaries to non-controlling interests;

(c) acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries
from non-controlling interests;

(d) a transfer from distributable reserve towards
the retained profits of the Company; and

(e) share of reserve of an associate.
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The special reserve represents the difference
between the aggregate amount of the share capital
and share premium account of a company which
was the former holding company of the Group and
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued
pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1992.

In accordance with the PRC regulations, all of the
Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
transfer part of their profit after tax to the statutory
surplus reserve, which are non-distributable, before
profit distributions are made. The amounts of the
transfers are subject to the approval of the board of
directors of these companies in accordance with
their articles of association.

The available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve
comprises the cumulative net change in the fair
value of available-for-sale financial assets held at the
end of each reporting period and is dealt with the
accounting policies in 2.4(i).

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from
translating foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies set
out in note 2.4(v).
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On 13 December 2016, the Group entered into a
share purchase agreement (the “SPA") with the
sellers to acquire 67.1% equity interest in Wins
Finance. The shares of Wins Finance are listed on
The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC. Wins Finance and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Wins
Finance Group"”) are principally engaged in the
provision of financial guarantee and finance leasing
services in the PRC. The Group acquired Wins
Finance Group to extend its financial services
business in the PRC.

Pursuant to the SPA, the consideration amounted to
US$260 million would be settled by promissory
notes with different maturity dates. The first tranche
of promissory notes of US$58 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$452 million) would be issued
within six months after signing the SPA and will
mature within 12 months from the date of issue.
The second tranche of promissory notes of US$70
million (equivalent to approximately HK$546 million)
would be issued within five business days after the
closing of the acquisition and will mature within 12
months from the date of issue. The third tranche of
promissory notes of US$132 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,030 million) would be issued
within six months after the closing of the
acquisition and will mature within 36 months from
the date of issue. The acquisition of Wins Finance
was completed on 3 August 2017. During the year
ended 31 March 2018, the Group settled the first
and second tranches of promissory notes in
aggregate of US$128 million by cash. The Group
also partly settled the third tranche of promissory
notes of US$106 million by cash during the year
ended 31 March 2018 with an aggregate remaining
unsettled balance of US$26 million as at 31 March
2018.
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The following table summaries the consideration
paid for the acquisition of Wins Finance, the fair
value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
at the acquisition date.

HK$'000
BT T
Consideration: RAE:

Promissory notes A g 2,028,000
The fair values of the identifiable assets Pt & E M FTaEa ER

acquired and liabilities assumed at the HEIH A FERT:

acquisition date were as follows:

Property, plant and equipment ME - WE LR E 3,828

Available-for-sale investments AHERE 1,478,926

Finance lease receivables ERREMRE A 591,095

Accounts receivable & I BR X 11,832

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — FBf FUIE ~ 174 M E b B U FKIB 42,182

Deferred tax assets RIETRIB A E 1,660

Restricted bank deposits ZREBITER 191,083

Cash and bank balances He MIRTTH R 145,954

Interest-bearing borrowings EEE (294,290)

Other payables and accruals EMENAFOENERE B (107,945)

Tax payable JEAS R I8 (22,091)

Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBEAE (2,247)

2,039,987
Less: Non-controlling interests (note i) W e AR R (BT EED) (671,156)

1,368,831
Cash inflow arising on acquisition: WEELEZRERA:

Cash and cash equivalents acquired TR e RIS EED 145,954
Consideration KE 2,028,000
Less: fair value of identifiable net assets B TR B R FEE AT E

acquired (1,368,831)
Goodwill arising on the acquisition (note i) I UgBEE 4 892 (K sEii) 659,169
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Notes:

(i) The non-controlling interests (32.9%) in Wins
Finance Group was recognised at the date of
acquisition and was measured at its proportion of
the net assets of Wins Finance Group amounted to
approximately HK$2,039,987,000.

(i)  The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Wins
Finance is attributable to the future growth and
profitability in relation to the financial guarantee
and finance leasing services business in the PRC.
None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be
deductible for income tax purposes.

During the period from the date of acquisition to 31
March 2018, Wins Finance Group contributed
HK$47,591,000 to the revenue of the Group and a profit
of HK$100,694,000 to the profit of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2018. Had the acquisition occurred
on 1 April 2017, the revenue and profit of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2018 would have been
HK$514,414,000 and HK$352,074,000, respectively. The
pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and
is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of
operation of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April
2017, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

Acquisition related costs amounting to HK$4,794,000
have been excluded from the consideration and have
been recognised as administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The fair value and gross contractual amounts of finance
lease receivables, accounts receivable and other
receivables at the date of acquisition approximated their
carrying amounts and were expected to be fully recovered
in the future.
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On 1 September 2016, the Group entered into a
conditional agreement with an independent third
party pursuant to which the Group agreed to
purchase the entire issued share capital of People
Securities, a Hong Kong private limited company
which is a licensed corporation carrying out
businesses in Type 1 (dealing in securities), 4
(advising on securities) and 9 (asset management)
regulated activities under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO") and also a member of
Professional Insurance Brokers Association of Hong
Kong (the “Acquisition of People Securities”) at a
total consideration of HK$25 million aiming to
create a one-stop financial conglomerate to provide
a comprehensive range of financial services. The
acquisition of People Securities was completed on 1
November 2017.
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The following table summarises the consideration
paid for the Acquisition of People Securities, the fair
value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed

at the acquisition date.

TR A A Yo B R R 5 S
MRE FTREBEERAER
ERKEERNAFE

HK$'000
BT T

Consideration: RAE:
At acquisition date U EE B E

Cash and bank balances e RIRITHE & 25,000
The fair values of the identifiable assets Frii g & E MR ESERIE

acquired and liabilities assumed at the BHMAFEDT

acquisition date were as follows:

Property, plant and equipment M- BERERE 172

Intangible assets mEAE 15,409

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — FEHFRIE « 1% 4 K H ith B Yg 7R IE 901

Brokers commission receivables YL 2

Amount due from a shareholder JEW — %4 IR B IR 28

Cash and bank balances Re RIRITHER 9,594

Brokers commission payables e Ae (2)

Deferred tax liability BERIBBEE (2,542)

Other payables and accruals HMENKERESER (67)

23,495

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: W EERF EE A RO IR &7 I F RE -

Cash consideration paid ENRERE (25,000)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired Frik g e RIE 2 FEY 9,594

(15,406)

Consideration KRB 25,000
Less: fair value of identifiable net assets BT E R A FEEATE

acquired (23,495)
Goodwill arising on acquisition HWBELENEE 1,505
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During the period from the date of acquisition to 31
March 2018, People Securities contributed
HK$25,000 to the revenue of the Group and a loss
of HK$4,102,000 to the profit of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2018. Had the acquisition
occurred on 1 April 2017, the revenue and profit of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 would
have been HK$500,614,000 and HK$296,538,000,
respectively. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purpose only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operation of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had
the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2017, nor
is it intended to be a projection of future results.

Acquisition related costs amounted to HK$60,000
have been excluded from the consideration
transferred and have been recongised as
administrative expenses in the current year in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The fair value and gross contractual amounts of
other receivables, brokers commission receivables
and an amount due from a shareholder at the date
of acquisition approximated their carrying amounts
and were expected to be fully recovered in the
future.

In September 2016, the Group entered into a conditional
sale and purchase agreement with two independent third
parties (the “Vendors”), pursuant to which the Vendors
have agreed to sell and the Group has agreed to acquire
the entire issued share capital of Elffey Finance Limited
(“Elffey”, collectively with its subsidiaries referred to as
“Elffey Group”) at a consideration of HK$295 million (the
"Acquisition of Elffey”). The Acquisition of Elffey was
completed in October 2016.

The following table summarises the consideration paid for
the Acquisition of Elffey, the fair value of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date.
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HK$'000

BT T
Consideration: RAE:
At acquisition date KU B ER
Cash and bank balances Re RIBITHES 295,000
The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired FTURRE & & K P& & &N U EE B #1H
and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date ~ RXF{EMT :
were as follows:
Plant and equipment 7= K 5% 230
Cash and bank balances B e MIRTT4 5% 28,035
Factoring receivables B YR I8 3008 253,036
Finance lease receivables JE W L E & A 19,399
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERTFRIE -~ e R E A E K RIE 403
Amount due from a related party JE W — % B E 77 SRR 1,379
Tax payable FEf R IB (1,509)
Deferred income IR A (2,408)
Accruals and other payables Bt E B N EMES A (3,381)
295,184
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WHEEE RS RLFE:
Cash consideration paid ENRERE (295,000)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FIiER e RIS EEY 28,035
(266,965)
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During the period from the date of acquisition to 31 March
2017, Elffey Group contributed HK$6,644,000 to the
revenue of the Group and a profit of HK$1,311,000 to the
profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017. Had
the acquisition occurred on 1 April 2016, the revenue and
profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017
would have been HK$121,935,000 and HK$424,515,000
respectively. The pro forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue
and results of operation of the Group that actually would
have achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1
April 2016, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

Acquisition related costs amounting to HK$615,000 have
been excluded from the consideration transferred and have
been recognised as administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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The fair value and gross contractual amounts of factoring
receivables, finance lease receivables and amount due
from a related party at the date of acquisition
approximated their carrying amounts and were expected
to be fully recovered in the future.

In December 2016, the Group completed the disposal of (a)
the entire issued share capital in wholly-owned subsidiary

of the Group, Smart Jump Corporation, to an
independent third party, for a consideration of
HK$1,295,000,000. Smart Jump Corporation and its
subsidiaries (“Smart Jump Group”) was principally

engaged in trading of securities. The net assets of the

Smart Jump Group being disposed of are as follows:

FEU (RIZSRIE - FEWRRE THE A K
FEU — A BEE 7 SRR B B &
FERBEGHSERAKREERS

I T8 B AT 58 B 18 U e -

RZE—XRF+ZA AEETKA—
EBEUE=FHEREEZENER
A]Smart Jump CorporationZ 2 28 & 3
TR (B /278 #1,295,000,000
JT ° Smart Jump Corporation & £ fff &
AT ([Smart Jump£E ) TBHREFE
HEE P& #Smart Jump £E 2
BERENAT:

2017
—E—tF
HK$'000
BT T

Net assets disposed of: FTHE&EEFE:
Prepayments and other receivables T8~ 5K I8 B H b jE W kIR 34
Investments at fair value through profit or loss FBBEZIUAFEIEREZEKE 1,307,596
Cash and bank balances B e MIRTT4 % 87,065
Margin loans payable ENIFRER (253,614)
Accruals and other payables FE&H B A I H th & 1 FIE 2)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 5) HE—RHE ARz (M EES) 153,921
1,295,000

Satisfied by <A

Notes receivable (note) U =R (I 5E) 1,295,000

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
during the year ended 31 March 2017 in respect of the
disposal of a subsidiary is as follows:

HE_T—+H5=A=+—HIFE
FRLE—RNBARNEZ LIRS
FEMRAFEIFTWAT

2017

—E—tF

HK$'000

BT T

Cash consideration ReRE 95,000

Cash and bank balances disposed of ERERE RIRITER (87,065)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in FRERE—HWBLAANEeASSE

respect of the disposal of a subsidiary BEYRAFRE 7,935
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(@) (Continued) (@) (#&)
Note: B3
The amount of the consideration was settled by the purchaser by RESEHEFEBBTASERABY
issuing to the Group a promissory note with principal amount of 95,000,0007T B 7 5 B4R (AR —F —RF
HK$95,000,000 and repayable in December 2016, and three TZABBRBIR=MNASBESRAE
promissory notes with principal amount of HK$400,000,000 400,000,000 H & H 225k (IR T F5ERT 5.
each, bore interest at 5% per annum and were repayable in June DRERZZE—tF A 2T —tF+=
2017, December 2017 and June 2018, respectively (note 22). RARZZE—NFRAER) N (FF22)
(b) In July 2016, the Group completed the disposal of the by RZE—RFLA XEETKR—
entire issued share capital in a wholly-owned subsidiary of BEUE=RFRERAEBREENBA
the Group, First Call Limited, to an independent third BFirst Call Limitedz & 3882 3 17A%
party, for a consideration of HK$28,000,000. First Call KR 1{E A 7B%28,000,0007T ° First
Limited and its subsidiary (the “First Call Group”) were Call Limited & EKf /&~ &) ([First Call
principally engaged in the provision of finance. The net SEDFERERHME -FTHED
assets of First Call Group being disposed of are as First Calle B 2 BEEFEW T :
follows:
2017
—E—+tF
HK$'000
BT T
Net assets disposed of: FrHE&EESFE:
Prepayment and other receivables T~ K38 B H b jE W kIR 1
Loans receivable FEUE K 29,755
Cash and bank balances R RRITES 1,172
Accruals and other payables FERHE A & H th JE T 5B (12)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (note 5) thE—RHHBARZEER (Ms) (2,916)
28,000
Satisfied by cash AR e X 28,000

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
during the year ended 31 March 2017 in respect of the
disposal of a subsidiary is as follows:

BE-T—LF=A=+—ALFEEH
HE I EAANR SRR SENR
AFEH T

2017

—E—+tF

HK$'000

BT T

Cash consideration HERE 28,000

Cash and bank balances disposed of EHEHRS RIRTTHEES (1,172)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in ERHE—RWBARNERESERESE

respect of the disposal of a subsidiary RN NE- 26,828
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During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group
completed the acquisition of Wins Finance at a
consideration of US$260,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,028,000,000). The consideration was
settled by promissory notes with different maturity dates.
The details are set out in notes 22 and 35.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group’s
associate distributed a dividend in specie of its
investments of approximately HK$360,999,000 to the
Group. Such investment was classified as available-for-
sale investment at fair value until it was disposed in
February 2018.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group
disposed of an available-for-sale investment of the Group
at a consideration of HK$750,000,000. The consideration
was settled by cash of HK$150,000,000 and a promissory
note with principal amount of HK$600,000,000, which
was repayable in August 2018. The details are set out in
note 22.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with a non-wholly
owned subsidiary (the “Purchaser”) of Enerchina Holdings
Limited (“Enerchina”), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, pursuant to which the Group has conditionally
agreed to sell and the Purchaser has conditionally agreed
to purchase the entire interest in Smart Jump Corporation
(incorporated in the Republic of the Marshall Islands) at a
consideration of HK$1,295,000,000. The deposit of
HK$95,000,000 payable by the Purchaser was satisfied by
a non-interest bearing promissory note with maturity date
on 15 December 2016.

HE-_Z—N\F=ZA=+—HILE
E o AREETKUEEWIns Finance: £
& 4260,000,000E T (HHE R4 E
#2,028,000,0007T ) ° (X (B & BT [F
BB AMA R ZREE - FBEHIR
BMf5E22 %235 °

E-NF=ZA=+—H8HIF
EEBE N AAEEELR
B AR B 7k 4974 % 360,999,000
RN EATHIEEREERAT
AR BEER-_Z—N\F-AL

,
[

bl

p:

O ol Iy N B
it
3

o

BHE-_Z2—\F=A=Z+—HItHF
& A& B AR E 750,000,000
THEREBE —ZHEERE - R
B AR £ 75 ¥150,000,0007T &2 & &
%8 &7 #600,000,0007T B # 7 Z
(BRZZE—NFNAEE)FHE -F
BT FE22 -

HE-Z—tF=A=+—HLHF
B -AEEAREEZERBR AT
(IEEE] AR EmAR)B—
MIE2EMBAR ([BEH])RI—
DEEWE HBIt AEEBE A KT
AELEmMERECAKHREBE
Smart Jump Corporation (A5 485
RS HMBI ML) M2 EEE
R (& A7 ¥1,295,000,0007T ° B 75
JE ) 2 & 7 #95,000,0007T 235 18
—S$HEA-—T—R"F+-_A+H
BTt B AR EE S e
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As at 31 March 2018, bank borrowings of HK$157,000,000
(2017: HK$200,000,000) were secured by certain investments
at fair value through profit or loss held by the Group with an
aggregate carrying value of approximately HK$404,764,000
(2017: approximately HK$341,544,000) and personal
guarantee given by Mr. Zhang. Bank borrowings of
approximately RMB116,478,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$145,536,000) (2017: Nil) and HK$70,000,000 (2017: Nil)
were secured by bank deposits of RMB30,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$35,214,000) with a corporate guarantee
given by an independent third party and charges over client’s
pledged securities, respectively. US$90,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$702,000,000) (2017: US$90,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$702,000,000)) of other
borrowings were secured by the shares in the capital of certain
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, 10% equity
interest of Wins Finance held by the Group, and personal
guarantees given by Mr. Zhang and his spouse. Other
borrowings of approximately RMB40,015,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$49,996,000) (2017: Nil) were secured by
certain finance lease receivables with carrying amount of
approximately RMB27,169,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$33,947,000).

As at 31 March 2018, the First Convertible Bonds were secured
by 30% equity interest of Wins Finance held by the Group, the
Second Convertible Bonds were secured by 15% equity interest
of the Securities Company held by the Group, and the Notes
were secured by certain shares in the capital of a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, approximately 7.26% of Wins
Finance held by the Group, certain shares of the Company held
by Mr. Zhang, and personal guarantees given by Mr. Zhang and
his spouse.

The Group provides loan guarantee services to enterprises and
individuals in the PRC. As at 31 March 2018, the Group had
contracts in relation to loan guarantee business of
approximately HK$546,419,000 (2017: Nil) in which
approximately HK$5,464,000 (2017: Nil) was recognised as
guarantee compensation provision in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The Group leases staff quarters and office premises under
operating lease arrangements. The leases for the properties are
negotiated for terms of ranging from one to three years (2017:
one to three years).
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The Group had total future minimum lease payments under the REERE DA HEEAEHA 2 R KR

non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows: MENFEBZIHERAT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within one year —F R 35,274 29,116
In the second year to fifth year, inclusive =~ F -_FEFAF (BHEEERF) 43,574 28,234
78,848 57,350

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end REBRMEMREUNTERARE:

of the reporting period:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Contracted but not provided for: BRI #)1B R B -
Leasehold improvements MEMERE = 3,695
Furniture, fixtures and equipment B REREE - 505
Computer equipment BEE - 1,097
- 5,297
(@) Saved as the transactions and arrangements disclosed (a) BrZEVBREREMIBOAEEZR
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had no SREZHIN REBRBE_ZT—N
other material transactions with related parties during the FRZFE—+F=A=+—RHILFE
years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017. HEEFTEREMERRZS -
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: by AEEBFEEEABZHH:
2018 2017
—E-N\F e
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Short-term employee benefits RHEERH 6,415 6,387
Post-employment payments RIKET 74 134
Total compensation paid to key EMEZEEABZM 2 BN
management personnel 6,489 6,521
Further details of directors’ remuneration are included in EEHFN o E— BN ZENTE
note 8 to these financial statements. &R M8 o
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The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBERR SRz emIAZRER
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as R
follows:

Financial
assets at fair
Available- value through

for-sale profit or
financial loss-held Loans and
assets for trading receivables Total
ERBEREN
ATEIR
AftHE  2EmEE ERR
tREE -KHEE B IR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BRI BETT BETT BRI

Available-for-sale investments AHERE 2,500,680 - = 2,500,680
Accounts receivable e U BE X - - 546,305 546,305
Note receivable €S - - 600,000 600,000
Factoring receivables [ U (R 32 3008 - - 323,614 323,614
Loans receivable FEWE R - - 1,266,824 1,266,824
Finance lease receivables EUMRERETR = = 549,472 549,472
Financial assets included in prepayments, BERERFUE - & R E R
deposits and other receivables FEZEREE - - 58,848 58,848
Investments at fair value through BRERNATEIEZERE
profit or loss - 408,497 - 408,497
Restricted bank deposits RRHEATER - = 190,899 190,899
Cash and bank balances Be RfTHEH - - 1,302,157 1,302,157
2,500,680 408,497 4,838,119 7,747,296
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
BREERAANRZ
EWMmBes
HK$'000
BT T
Accounts payable &1~ BR 3K 97,220
Financial liabilities included in other payables and B ERHMEN RIE N ETE R 2
accruals SEBaE 329,046
Interest-bearing borrowings HEEE 2,080,823
Convertible bonds AT & 5 1,025,423
3,532,512
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Financial
assets at fair

Available-  value through
for-sale profit or
financial loss-held Loans and
assets for trading receivables Total
FRBEN
AFENER
RS LEBMEE R
PREE -HEEE FE R IR Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETL BT BT BB
Available-for-sale investments HERE 663,483 - - 663,483
Accounts receivable FEUER R - - 230,304 230,304
Notes receivable YRR - - 1,200,000 1,200,000
Factoring receivables JE WU IR 38 3R - - 268,671 268,671
Loans receivable JEW &R - - 226,899 226,899
Finance lease receivables R ERETE - - 13,149 13,149
Financial assets included in prepayments, B ERBENZIE & R EAM R
deposits and other receivables FESREE - - 39,919 39,919
Investments at fair value through BRBENATFEIRZRE
profit or loss - 362,100 - 362,100
Cash and bank balances Be LTS - - 614,918 614,918
663,483 362,100 2,593,860 3,619,443

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REHKARARZ

TRBE

HK$'000

BET T

Accounts payable B ER R 22,274
Financial liabilities included in other payables and BFEREMENKBEREFERZ

accruals TRAE 13,517

Interest-bearing borrowings e 932,000

967,791
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The following table presents the fair value of the Group's
financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to the observability and
significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs
for which market data are not available.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs.

The Group uses an independent valuer to perform valuations of
financial instruments which are categorised into Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy. Valuation reports with analysis of changes
in fair value measurement are prepared by the independent
valuer and are reviewed and approved by the management.
Discussion of the valuation process and results with the
management is held to coincide with the reporting dates.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED

TREBRREMR AN EBIRFFEEES
ENERTIAZAFE(DREBMBR
FEAF13% [ AFHENE] REN=ZFLR
FEER) A TFEFESBNERNHZE
HERMEANBABRZABERERSE
R BATHTAEE

F— A : G — E AR (DR
HEAMEERTS ARAERAEOR
ABAE) SHEHATME-

F_ERE ERERFE_EWAZE (BT
TARE B ENABRERARE) TE
RERTABERBARBSAENAFE.
THBRGABBEEDSHENE AR
e

o

F-ZEHE EAERTUEREEARE
FAFEHAFE.

AEEMNA-BBLAEMEIBRERTF
EBEERFE-ENcRIALETHE-ZF
NP EFEZHOMOBHERS BB LA
BfRE YAREEERM ML - BFR
BEAMEERENREEEREFRER -




Assets measured at fair value:

B FEGENEE -

Fair value measurement using

ERAUATEEZAVENE

Quoted
prices  Significant  Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EEME BEATHERE EATATHEERE
HE WABE PN ¢
(5—18) (=) (B=RE) Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT BETT BETT BETT
As at 31 March 2018: R-ZE-N\F=A=+—-H:
Available-for-sale investments At RERE 35,765 1,833,235 - 1,869,000
Investments at fair value through ~ BBBZUARFETIRZKE
profit or loss 408,497 - - 408,497
444,262 1,833,235 - 2,277,497
As at 31 March 2017: RZBE—+F=A=1+—A:
Available-for-sale investment EHERE 31,803 - - 31,803
Investments at fair value through ~ BEBBEURFETIEZKE
profit or loss 362,100 - - 362,100
393,903 - - 393,903
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair RZE-NFR_TE—tF=ZR=+—
value as at 31 March 2018 and 2017. B AEEWEEMEATFEFENESH
BfE-

During the year ended 31 March 2018, there were no transfers
of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and
no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and

liabilities (2017: Nil).

The fair values of the financial assets included in the Level 2
category above has been determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on a discounted cash
flow analysis, with the most significant inputs being the
discount rate that reflects the credit risk of counterparties.

BE_T-)/\F=ZA=1+—"RHLFE 2
MEENRBENFE EBHEF_EZEQF
ﬁ AAEYEER TYEEARBHE=
TELFE)

SFALAE—BEAINEMEEZ A FE
TERIRVEROITIZIB AR E BRE
BT ETPREZNGAREBEARBRR S
HFEERRMBREE-
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The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments RZE-—NFRZE—EF=A=+—

carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially different B RNEBZKASEEKEARNS R
from their values as at 31 March 2018 and 2017. TANREERHEEETEERER-

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities from TERFMKREEREEDMEENEBESE
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. g @?‘Eﬁ%&#fﬁ%% o B E R ENFTE
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for ERNBBEEAERGEReRERPRS
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified MERASEAIRRESRERSEAR
in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash BEFRSMEENEERNAE

flows from financing activities.

Interest-
Convertible bearing
bonds borrowings Total
R ES FEEE o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
At 1 April 2017 R-ZZE—EFMA—H - 932,000 932,000
Proceeds from issue BITAIRBRESRE
of convertible bonds A 1,215,760 - 1,215,760
Drawdown from of borrowings REEE - 1,153,290 1,153,290
Repayment of borrowings BEER - (316,315) (316,315)
Total charges from financing AEEHMEREREXH
cash flows for the year 4 =8 1,215,760 836,975 2,052,735
Other changes: H b :
Finance costs BB AR 124,207 - 124,207
Interest paid 2t A8 (24,445) - (24,445)
Classified as equity component "*EETE/\*B (283,439) - (283,439)
Conversion options exercised FRITFEREIRE
during the year (6,660) - (6,660)
Acquisition of subsidiaries U B B J&8 A &) - 294,290 294,290
Exchange adjustment PE 5 FE R - 17,558 17,558
At 31 March 2018 WZE-—NF=HA=+—H 1,025,423 2,080,823 3,106,246
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Wins Finance and certain of its executive officers were named
as defendants in two civil securities lawsuits recently filed in
two U.S. District Courts (the “Lawsuit A" and the “Lawsuit B”,
collectively referred to as the “Lawsuits”) in April 2017. Both
Lawsuits were putative class action lawsuits where plaintiffs’
counsels sought to represent the entire class of shareholders
who acquired Wins Finance’s securities between 29 October
2015 and 29 March 2017. Both Lawsuits asserted the same
statutory violations under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act,
alleging, in sum and substance, that the defendants made false
and misleading statements, or failed to disclose material facts,
in Wins Finance’s prospectuses, press releases, and filings with
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC") in
connection with its growth, business prospects and the
adequacy of its internal controls. The Lawsuits also alleged that
Wins Finance misrepresented the location of its principal
executive office in SEC filings. The Lawsuits further alleged that
Wins Finance's stock price fell when the alleged misstatements
or omissions became known to investors. The plaintiffs sought
unspecified monetary damages, including interest, costs and
attorney’s fees and other relief as the court deemed just.

In July 2017, the plaintiff of Lawsuit A filed a notice to the U.S.
District Court that Lawsuit A is voluntarily dismissed, without
prejudice and without costs to any party, and the court
subsequently terminated Lawsuit A. Accordingly, the directors
of Wins Finance considered no further contingent liabilities
would arise from Lawsuit A.

In June 2017, the court issued an order appointing lead
plaintiffs and lead counsel for Lawsuit B. In August 2017, lead
plaintiffs of Lawsuit B filed an amended class action complaint.
The amended complaint alleged claims against Wins Finance
for securities fraud purportedly arising from alleged
misrepresentations concerning its principal executive offices
(which alleged misrepresentations resulted in Wins Finance
being added to, and then removed from, the Russell 2000
index). In October 2017, Wins Finance moved to dismiss the
amended complaint for failure to state a claim as against it. In
March 2018, the court issued an order to deny Wins Finance's
motion to dismiss. Thus, Lawsuit B will proceed to the fact
gathering stage. In light of the preliminary procedure posture
of the action, the possible outcome of Lawsuit B was
uncertain.

MNZZ—+FMMA  Wins Finance X E& T
1T A B 75 BRI AR (E 2 B b [ SR B 12 1
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The directors of Wins Finance have sought advice from U.S.
litigation counsel in this respect and are of the view that the
Lawsuits are without merit. As at 31 March 2018, there was no
material progress on the Lawsuits and the Group believes that
the Lawsuits are without merit and Win Finance is vigorously
defending the Lawsuits. Given the preliminary stage of the
Lawsuits and the uncertainty of the size of the plaintiff class,
an estimate of the actual quantum of damages cannot be
made at this stage. Subsequently in June 2018, counsel for the
parties before the court for an initial scheduling conference
and the court will enter an appropriate schedule for discovery
and additional motions.

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing borrowings and cash and bank balances. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for
the Group's operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as available-for-sale investments,
accounts receivable, loans receivable, factoring receivables,
finance lease receivables, notes receivable, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
investments at fair value through profit or loss, accounts
payable and financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, which mainly arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, equity price risk
and currency risk. Management reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks which are summarised below.

The Group's exposure to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to its interest-bearing financial assets and
liabilities. Interest-bearing financial assets are mainly bank
deposits primarily at floating interest rates which are
mostly short-term in nature whereas financial liabilities
are certain other borrowings at floating interest rates. The
Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest
rate available.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED
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The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to loans receivable (note 18), finance lease
receivables (note 19), factoring receivables (note 20),
notes receivable (note 22), certain interest-bearing
borrowings (note 29) and convertible bonds (note 30).
Management considers the Group’s exposure to fair value
interest rate risk is not significant due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from cash
and bank balances, finance lease receivables and interest-
bearing borrowings.

The following table details the interest rate profile
of the Group's assets and liabilities at the end of the
reporting period:

AEEHERER (EE18) B
BEMENE (KE19) B IRE
R (M EE20) W E R (&
22) - ETEEEE (MiE29) kAT
P& (M EE30) mER A FEMNXE
R-BEEERR BRZFTLAZE
HIR LR AEEN A FEN X
[ B AN K o

AEENNXRREREERERE MR
THS EEREHEFRBANRE

TREMBEHRAEBEE
BB B EER

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Fixed interest rate & & R =
Financial assets EMEE
Loans receivable FE UL E 5K 1,266,824 226,899
Factoring receivables JFE U AR FE FR IR 323,614 268,671
Note receivable FEU = (FEBNHAER )
(non-current portion) - 400,000
Notes receivable (current portion) R ZE % (BIEAZES 9 ) 600,000 800,000
2,190,438 1,695,570
Financial liabilities EHMAE
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEEE 1,830,823 732,000
Convertible bonds AR ES 1,025,423 -
2,856,246 732,000
Net fixed interest rate financial BEfEem T A F5E
instruments (665,808) 963,570
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2018 2017
—ZE-N\#F —tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BET T
Variable interest rate ] 8 R =
Financial assets TREE
Finance lease receivables JE Y it & AH & FRIE
(non-current portion) (FEBNHEAEL ) 247,763 3,500
Finance lease receivables JEU B & A E A
(current portion) (BNHAEE 5 ) 301,709 9,649
Cash at bank RITHRE 1,302,157 614,918
Pledged bank deposits SR ITIER 190,899 -
2,042,528 628,067
Financial liabilities TRBE
Interest-bearing borrowings ATEEE 250,000 200,000
Net variable interest rate financial AEF RS T BFE
instruments 1,792,528 428,067
Fixed rate borrowings as a percentage [EFEFI R EEHAEE
of total borrowings AL 88% 79%
The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from AEEMNRREREZRA
interest-bearing borrowings. Interest-bearing BEBE- fﬁ"g%ﬁvﬁ%lﬂx
borrowings with variable rates expose the Group to BWERFERR

cash flow interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit
before tax (through the impact on floating rate
interest-bearing borrowings) and the Group’s equity.
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Increase/ Decrease/

(decrease) (increase) Increase/
in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
BEahm RR B A1 0% A =M,
CR2) ®WL /(&) ORA) *
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
2018 —E-)N\#F
Hong Kong dollar Vi 25 625 -
Hong Kong dollar B (25) (625) =
Increase/ Decrease/
(decrease) (increase) Increase/
in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
E2hgm, B B0 B8 =g m
Crd)  wmd,/ (#m) CR) *
HK$'000 HK$'000
ok aubiv BT T
2017 —T—+F
Hong Kong dollar ok 25 (225) -
Hong Kong dollar B (25) 225 -
*  Excluding retained profits * AEEREHEN
The Group does not have an interest rate hedging AN &R [ 0 M R R R o AR
policy. However, the management monitors interest i EEEERNERRE I
rate exposure and will consider hedging significant FEFERZ B PEAFE
interest rate exposure should the need arises. The FEbg - EEZRA NEEEEL
directors consider the Group's exposure to cash flow WITFRRS AN ERE R A
interest rate risk of bank deposits is not significant. Ko
The Group’s major exposure to credit risk relates to REBREHHEVNEEZ T EZEER
available-for-sale investments, accounts receivable, loans Prea o] £ E - EURERFR - BN
receivable, finance lease receivables, factoring receivables, ER EKREERENIE  ERIRE

RE ERURER BRERERNKE:
BRehEMREFIAET 2 EREE -
Re MRITHEBIREBBRARTE
JIfk 2 B AR HeARBRERZ

notes receivable, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, cash and bank balances
and investments at fair value through profit or loss arises

from default of the counterparties, with a maximum o

be =T A ZREME-
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments.
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AEE 2z BYWHRR  BUE K B
BMERERAMBKREREA (TE
REBDEREE —REFBEF
EE THEEEBRERTESR -

The Group's accounts receivable, loans receivable, finance
lease receivables and factoring receivables (“loan
business”) arise from the ordinary course of business of
the Group and are closely monitored by the management
on an ongoing basis.
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The Group has taken measures to identify credit
risks arising from loan business. The Group manages
credit risk at every stage of the risk management
system, including pre-approval, review and credit
approval and post-transaction monitoring processes.
The Group conducts customer acceptance and due
diligence by business department and risk
management department during the pre-approval
process. A transaction may be subject to the review
and approval officer and the executive directors
depending on the transaction size.

During the post-transaction monitoring process, the
Group performs credit evaluations on each and
every major customer periodically. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influences
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in
which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers.

At the end of reporting period, 52%, 63%, 56%
and 70% (2017: 78%, 100%, 100% and 68%) of
the total accounts receivable, loans receivable,
finance lease receivables and factoring receivables
were due from the Group's five largest debtors
respectively while 13%, 17%, 18% and 19% (2017:
46%, 100%, 100% and 19%) respectively were due
from the Group's largest debtor.

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED
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Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from loans business
are disclosed in notes 18, 19, 20 and 21
respectively, to these financial statements.

The Group adopts the same pre-approval, review
and credit approval risk management system for
credit risk arising from guarantee business. During
the post-transaction monitoring process, all
guarantees provided are backed by collateral (e.g.
property, etc.) as security. The Group focuses on
ascertaining legal ownership and the valuation of
the collateral. A guarantee provided by the Group is
based on the value of the collateral and generally
approximates 44% (2017: Nil) of the estimated
value of the collateral. The Group monitors the
value of the collateral throughout the guarantee
period.

The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of
these financial guarantees at the end of the
reporting period is disclosed in note 39.

In respect of available-for-sale investments, notes
receivable and other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all debtors requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the debtor’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the
debtors as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the debtor operates. Further
quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from available-for-sale
investments, notes receivable and other receivables
are set out in notes 17, 22 and 23 respectively.

The majority of the Group’s investments are liquid
securities listed on the recognised stock exchanges.
Given their high credit standing, management does
not expect any investment counterparty to fail to
meet is obligations.

FRAAKRBREREBELN
EERBREE - T ELBED
FRBERZFM B HEME
1819 -20K21 -
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[EfeERMERMTESE BE R
FEEMERREERG K51
ERREFd - REMMEERA
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Fro AEEFE IR EER T DD
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WERERERDHOEE —K
RER O EENML (=
E—LF ®) AEEREM
EREAMESEFARNEE-

RBEMRBEEZEREER
B & & 15 & B R 393
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LA ERE  BERERE
b FEWRIATN 5 - S EREBBR—
E2ENEENMBEEHAY
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The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents, time B4 RESEEY THEXR

deposits and pledged bank deposits paid is limited BEEEAEINEERKRE
because the counterparties are banks and other R BRI FES AERRITLE
financial institutions with high credit ratings MEE TR ESERASTHNIET
assigned by international credit-rating agencies. N H 4 B e o
The Group’s liquidity risk is minimal in the current year REBRNERNZ REELABER
and is managed by matching the raising of loans or WRAERKBAREENTERES
equity funding to cover expected cash demands. The BTSN EE Y B AT R
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and A RERASHELERRERFER
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with BHR4 ARG RIEEHIESEE
lending covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient ENEHEESR Y RS E S E K-

reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and long term.

The maturity profile of the financial liabilities as at the NEEHR SR B EIRA L ARE
end of the reporting period, based on the contractual 22 BIHB R

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

2018 —E-NF
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
BRAERRERE
Within one One Carrying
year or on to five Over amount
demand years five years Total  at 31 March
—FRm R=B=t+-8
REX —Zhf BENLE B WIREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BET T BETT BETT

Non-derivative ETESREE:
financial liabilities:
Accounts payable ERERR 97,220 - - 97,220 97,220
Financial liabilities BEEEMEMNFE
included in other LEGERTHNE
payables and accruals &
BfE 329,046 - - 329,046 329,046
Convertible bonds kR ES 55,166 1,233,388 - 1,288,554 1,025,423
Interest-bearing borrowings &t £ & & 750,037 1,508,525 - 2,258,562 2,080,823
1,231,469 2,741,913 - 3,973,382 3,532,512
Financial guarantees BEEREER:
issued:
Maximum amount AU TRBEEM
guaranteed arising from:  JEEREE:
- Loan guarantee - BERERER
business* 546,419 - - 546,419 5,464
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2017 —E—tF

Contractual undiscounted cash flow

BNAMARLRE
Within one One Carrying
year or on to five Over amount
demand years five years Total at 31 March
—FAH R=A=+—8
BEX —ZRF AENE LY HEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BEFT  A%Tn  BETR B%Tr BETR

Non-derivative FITESRERE:
financial liabilities:
Accounts payable R 22,274 - - 22,274 22,274
Financial liabilities BETEMENRER
included in other EAERTHERE
payables and accruals & 13,517 - - 13,517 13,517
Interest-bearing borrowings &t B & E 261,267 832,320 21,000 1,114,587 932,000
297,058 832,320 21,000 1,150,378 967,791
* The maximum amount guaranteed represents the total * BEeEREBEEMERFENREN
amount of liability should all customers default. Since a BEAT - BRNEHE KA D ER
significant portion of guarantees issued is expected to TEERE W - TEWERER  Alt&
expire without being called upon the maximum liabilities SEETREEHARKESRL -

do not represent expected future cash outflows.
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Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
and investment fund decrease as a result of changes in
the levels of equity indices and the value of individual
securities. The Group is exposed to equity price risk
arising from individual equity investment and investment
fund classified as held-for-trading investments (note 24)
and available-for-sale investments (note 17). The Group's
listed investments are listed on the Stock Exchange and
are valued at quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period. Decisions to buy or sell trading
securities are based on daily monitoring of the
performance of individual securities compared with the
relevant industry indicators, as well as the Group's
liquidity needs.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the
Group's results to every 5% change in the fair values of
the equity investments and investment fund to which the
Group has significant exposure at the end of the
reporting period, with all other variables held constant
and before any impact on tax. For the purpose of this
analysis, for the available-for-sale investments measured
at fair value, the impact was deemed to be on the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve and no

A& HE B & R I8 fh 7O B i 48 BUK I &
ERBHFEEEERR AT ER
SRAFERD AR - AEE I E
EBERREREREDEABEEERE
(MF#E24) AT ERE (MIEE17)
ZARIRERE - AEE 2 FTKRE
R P ET AR E B R AT ISR
BiE-BEERXRZEHFHATTIER
A % B 5 5l 3% 25 A L AR BT T R 4B 1R
MEFAERAEERBDESTEIED -

TRINRAEERENRERET
EXEBRZBERERREES AT
EEQEHEW@ﬁWT'*¢%

R AHMERERTTE TR R
Eﬂﬁ%wa AR ﬁﬁ? iz

RHEFENAIHEEREZFEW
BREAHEERBEEMRBZY
E WEFRAEZEFREGBRRERLZ
HMEFEE -

account was given for factors such as impairment which
might impact the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Carrying Change in
amount of profit Change
investments before tax in equity*
REREE KRHAGEFES RS
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
YT AT T BT
2018 —E-N\F
Investment listed in the Philippines: 32 & MK &
— available-for-sale investment —AEHERE 35,765 = 1,788
Investments listed in Hong Kong: &# FH#H&:
— held-for-trading —FEEE 408,497 20,425 -
2017 —T—+F
Investments listed in Hong Kong: &# L m#H & :
~ held-for-trading —#EEE 362,100 18,105 -
Unlisted but quoted investment ~ &#HIE LT
fund in Hong Kong: BEHREREES:
— available-for-sale investment —AEHERE 31,803 - 1,590
* Excluding retained profits * TEERB &
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The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

At 31 March 2018, the Group is exposed to currency risk,
primarily with respect to interest-bearing borrowings with
aggregate principal amount of US$190,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,485,291,000) and the
First Convertible Bonds with outstanding principal amount
of US$99,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$772,200,000) (2017: an interest-bearing borrowing
with a principal amount of US$90,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$702,000,000)) which are denominated in US$. As
HK$ is pegged to USS$, the foreign exchange risk
exposures are considered limited. The Group did not have
any financial instruments used for hedging purpose.

The primary objectives of the Group’'s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements except for certain subsidiaries engaged in
the securities and futures broking businesses and the
provision of corporate finance advisory services, which are
regulated entities under the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Commission (the “SFC") and a subsidiary, which
is registered under the Hong Kong Insurance Companies
Ordinance (the "ICQO"), are required to comply with the
respective minimum capital requirements of the SFC and
the 1CO. During the financial year, all the licensed
subsidiaries complied with the minimum capital
requirements of the SFC and the ICO respectively. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
March 2018 and 2017.

AEBEWEINEEAPER - AT &
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ZREHERINE R
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N4 48%8 /3190,000,000E ¢ (B E
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/99,000,000 7T (A& R L H K
772,200,000 ) 2 B # AJ MR & FH
— T —+F: X% % A90,000,000
Xt (FAE R ##702,000,0007T) )
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BEAMARE TR T A
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SEZHBRERNDERRITZE
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The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing borrowings and convertible bonds divided
by the equity attributable to owners of the Company. The
gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were

AEERABELXEEELN BE
Lo Rt BB E R AT R IRAE SR AR
REFEAANEIEEDAE - RBEH
K AEEZEELERMT :

as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Interest-bearing borrowings FEEE 2,080,823 932,000
Convertible bonds ] R & 1,025,423 -
Net debt (Ve 3,106,246 932,000

Equity attributable to owners of the ZAN/NSIE RS NS
Company 4,303,741 3,465,762
Gearing ratio BEL X 72.2% 26.9%
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The following tables represent details of financial instruments TREJATFEEZERITAFS:
subject to offsetting:

2018
“E-N\E
Gross
amount.s of Related amounts
recognised Net not set off in the
1I‘|na'r?c'|al am‘?””ts .Of consolidated statement
||ab|||t|.es financial of finandial position
set °f;']” e EERGANBRIARES
e presente e
Gross  consolidated in the fREE
amounts of statement  consolidated
recognised of statement Cash
Asset &E financial finalnFiaI ofﬁna.nsial ' Financial collateral
assets position position instruments pledged  Net amount
N S
BREHCCE NERHEMRR
ERRLH R BRETIzeR EEH
EELEY SREEAE BERE SRMIE  BEERY ik
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BB BRI BRI BT BT
Accounts receivable FEl iR 546,305 - 546,305 - - 546,305
Gross
amounts of Related amounts
recognised Net not set off in the
financial  amounts of consolidated statement
assets financial of financial position
set off in liabilities LERGAHBMRBREHE 2
the presented kL
Gross  consolidated in the
amounts of statement  consolidated
recognised of statement Cash
financial financial  of financial Financial collateral
Liability 8f liabilities position position  instruments pledged  Net amount
RERIBRR
HEBE2BE RESHEMRR
[k R BREIIzER CER
BEAE LREELE BEFE ERMIAE  HEEHED ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BETT BRI BT BT BRI
Accounts payable R RS 97,220 - 97,220 - - 97,220
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The following tables represent details of financial instruments

subject to offsetting: (Continued)

TRZJATFTEBEZERTAFS: (&)

2017
ZE—+F
Gross Net
amounts of amounts of Related amounts
recognised financial not set off n the
finandial assets consolidated statement
liabilities presented o financial position
Gross  set off in the in the NED LR VIR Tt v
amounts of  consolidated  consolidated BRLR
recognised  statement of statement Cash
) financial financial of financial Financial collateral
Asset AE assets position position instruments pledged Net amount
REFE BN
GREE R RNERUBMR
EHEASRE R BREFEH BER
REHE SRRELE AEFE PBIE  HEHEAD HE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETL BB BETT BB BETT BETL
Accounts receivable MR 230,304 - 230,304 - - 230,304
Gross Net
amounts of amounts of Related amounts
recognised financial not set off n the
finanial liabilities consolidated statement
assets presented of financial position
Gross  set off in the in the BRRGE R HRLBEEHZ
amounts of  consolidated  consolidated Lk
recognised  statement of statement Cash
financial financial of financial Financial collateral
Liability BE liabilities position position instruments pledged  Netamount
REFEBBMRR
GREHECERE RNEAUBMR
ERALH R BREFeH BEM
RESE SREELE RREFH ERIE  HaHEAD R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETL BB BETT BB BETT BETL
Accounts payable EfTBRST 22,274 - 22,274 - - 22,274
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Information about the statement of financial position of the R EMRBARR AP BERAREKCE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: RN
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR Z®/E - -
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 814 FUIA - & & & H b f& I FIA 2,442 2,858
Note receivable W E & 600,000 -
Due from subsidiaries JE L BT /BB N B FRIB 5,038,260 3,577,033
Cash and bank balances B & MIRTT & 6 798,055 352,286
Total current assets mEEELE 6,438,757 3,932,177
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Other payables and accruals HEtEAFIERETER 10,771 5,117
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEEE 456,987 200,000
Total current liabilities MENBEARE 467,758 205,117
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 5,970,999 3,727,060
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES B EER RSB ARG 5,970,999 3,727,060
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEEE 1,358,303 732,000
Convertible bonds AT (E 5 1,025,423 -
Total non-current liabilities ERBEERE 2,383,726 732,000
NET ASSETS EEFE 3,587,273 2,995,060
EQUITY &
Issued capital B BEITRA 15,663 14,324
Reserves G 3,571,610 2,980,736
Total equity EmEE 3,587,273 2,995,060
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of BEARBIEFENR_ZE—-N\FRAZTA
the Company on 29 June 2018 and were signed on its behalf Bt ERBEETE WHILTALTRER
by: NAEEEE
Ye Ye Yang Haoying
" L pES
Director Director
EZE EZE

REREEMMRERERA2T193




Note: B 5 -

A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows: RARGEERRET
Convertible Retained
Share Capital bonds profits/
premium  redemption  Contributed equity  Distributable ~ Shareholder's  Share option Warrant  (accumulated
account reserve surplus* reserve reserve  contribution** reserve reserve losses) Total
k& e g1 UERES THK D BRE AREE  REEN/
HEE L B BERE & LE e B (ZiHER) st

HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS 000
BETT  BBTR AWTn EETR BBTR AWTn ERTm BBTr ERTn BRI

At31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 H=F-AE=A=1-H

“Z-ERmF-H 2,222,353 485 39,521 - 874,114 15,000 23,082 20,648 (158,825) 3,036,378
Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ AFEBER2EFERE
for the year - - - - - - - - (55,642) (55,642)

At31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 B=F—+E=A=1-HE}

“E-tEME-A 2,222,353 485 39,521 - 874,114 15,000 23,082 20,648 (214,467) 2,980,736
Issue of convertible bonds BOTARES - - - 283,439 - - - - - 283,439
Lapse of warrants DREZLR - - - - - - - (6,883) 6,883 -
Issue of shares upon exercise of warants WTEAREERRITRE 538,232 = = o o = = (13,765) S 524,467
Shares repurchased and cancelled (26,359) - - - - - - - - (26,359)
Issue of shares upon conversion of
convertible bonds 8,484 - - (1,842) - - - - - 6,642
Share issue expenses (15,775) - - - - - - - - (15,775)

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - - - - - (181,540) (181,540)

At31 March 2018 Ro2-)\EZ=1-8 2726935 485 39,521 281,597 874,114 15,000 23,082 - (89124 3571610
* Contributed surplus * AR
The contributed surplus represented the difference between the BMABBRIBARRREITHRAEEREAR
nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company and AR— NN ZFREBEEESEA KBNS
the underlying net tangible assets value of subsidiaries which RAMEBENEEFECHNESR-

were acquired by the Company pursuant to the group
reorganisation in 1992.

**  Shareholder’s contribution o REHE
This reserve represented capital contribution from the then ZREEBEBRTFERENBAREERR
shareholders upon acquisition of subsidiaries in prior years. REHE -

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED




In April 2018, the Group entered into an agreement with a
target company (the “Target Company”), pursuant to which
the Target Company agreed to allot and issue its consideration
shares, representing approximately 23.94% of the total issued
share capital of the Target Company at a consideration of
HK$600,000,000 and the Group agreed to procure a
promissory note with principal amount of HK$600,000,000 to
be returned to the Target Company for cancellation. The
consideration shares were classified as an available-for-sale
investment of the Company. The Swap was completed in April
2018.

The Target Company is a company incorporated in the BVI with
limited liability and an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in trading of securities,
provision of finance and holding of investment in financial
services industry.

RZZ—N\FHA AEEE—FEEZDQ
RI([EEARDI M —Hha Kt B
ZR AR EAREAE600,000,0007T A 3%
METRERD (HERBEZAREHE
BATIRA4923.94% ) + A& B F B A F 1
N4 EEE 600,000,000 7T A K ZIERE
FEHERRGFH REBROIEALRDT
MAHEERE - JBR T —\FHA
FERK ©

BRARRNRBELESEMKIZA
RAF R —HREZERAR LK ERA
TERTRRBELZTEER S RHA
BRFBARE-

RESHRMREZERARAA
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the published audited financial statements and
restated/reclassified/re-presented as appropriate, is set out below.

2018

AEESOABEMRFECXKEUNREE AF
NIFfERER MR (BERAETELERYH
WMRIEEHBHHE/EF2IORERM
)BT o

Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=1T—HLEE
2017 2016 2015 2014

—E-N\FE ZE—tF ZT—RF ZT—HF —FTOF

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
AETIT BRI ABTRT ABETET

108,285 (143,952) (14,976) 227,678

HK$'000
BT T
REVENUE W= 500,469
Profit/(loss) before tax BERDER,(EBE) 324,384

Income tax credit/(expense) Frigfisle (%) (21,362)

408,195 (404,625) 462,387 480,082

10,013 27,159 (42,816) (2,746)

418,208 (377,466) 419,571 477,336

418,208 (620,996) 533,025 477,336
- 243,530 (113,454) -

418,208 (377,466) 419,571 477,336

As at 31 March
M=A=+—H
2017 2016 2015 2014

—E-N\F ZE—tF ZT—RF ZT—HF —_FT@OF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  BETRE  BMTR BETR

4,435,749 3,333,902 5,429,365 3,419,621

(969,987) (268,988) (368,289) (215,404)

- - (1,606,550) -

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FREA 7 (B1E) 303,022
Attributable to: THIALFE

Owners of the Company KAEER A 269,894

Non-controlling interests IS 33,128

303,022

2018

HK$'000

BT T

TOTAL ASSETS EEHAE 8,591,122

TOTAL LIABILITIES EEHEE (3,579,767)

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 3E3Z= R % (707,614)

4,303,741

3,465,762 3,064,914 3,454,526 3,204,217

FREEMAN FINTECH-CORPORATION LIMITED




FREEMAN FINTECH
RREMM R

www.freeman279.com




	Cover
	Contents
	Corporate Information
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Biographical Details of Directors
	Corporate Governance Report
	Environmental, Social and Governance Report
	Directors’ Report
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Financial Statements
	Five Year Financial Summary
	Back Cover

